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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE
MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile
and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more

suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is
a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the main board
of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will

be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this

report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”)
of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the issuer. The
directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report

misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBERE

RESULTS e
For the year ended 31st March
BZE=A=1+—HLEE
2010 2009 2008 2007
—T-TF  —TEhAE TTNF _BTLHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue A 2,666,341 3,167,965 2,229,529 1,269,676 559,327
Profit/(loss) before FT8 R ATEF
income tax (E518) 36,820 34,070 (159,499) (87,636) 69,736
Income tax credit/ FrisRifm
(expense) () (14,503) (17,834) 23,371 15,036 (2,989)
Profit/(loss) after Fr8 R & 1B FE42 w1
income tax but RESAEF
before non- (E8)
controlling interests 22,317 16,236 (136,128) (72,600) 66,747
Non-controlling FE4E I M 2
interests (425) 475 35 10 —
Profit/(loss) attributable  ZN A &A% B2 1S
to the shareholders wAL (&)
of the Company 21,892 16,711 (136,093) (72,590) 66,747

* The operating results of the discontinued operation has been incorporated

in the above table according to the nature.

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

BE  AERFEHMER

As at 31st March

R=A=+—H

Y BRI SR ERBC AT EBER LR -

2010 2009 2008 2007
—E-TF —ZTTHAEFE —TTNF —TTLF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET F&T FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&&E5)) (&&E5)
Total assets BERE 2,142,256 3,201,416 2,824,501 2,650,655 1,694,220
Total liabilites BERE (623,197) | (1,191,244) (893,986) (518,223) (462,880)
Non-controlling interests  FE42 il 14 1 25 (4,416) (3,237) (3,438) (1,676) —
Equity attributable to ViN/NCT LY
shareholders of the =
Company 1,514,643 2,006,935 1,927,077 2,130,756 1,231,340




CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITREHREE

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | hereby present
the audited consolidated results of North Asia Strategic Holdings
Limited (the “Company” or “NAS”), its subsidiaries and jointly-
controlled entities (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31st

March 2011 (the “year” or “current year”).

Coming out of the challenges of the global recession the previous
year, the focus for our team in 2010 was to strengthen the existing
businesses and execute strategic plans and operational activities
to grow revenue, earnings and shareholder value for the longer
term. During the year, the positive financial momentum continued
across our business divisions with increasing revenue and earnings
for American Tec Company Limited (“American Tec”), Coland
Group Limited (“Coland”) and TK Chemical Corporation (“TKC”).
We accomplished this by successfully adding new capabilities,
products, capacity and partners as well as continuing to monitor
and reduce costs. For Burger King, we continued to scrutinize
operations, resulting in reduced losses and increasing year-on-year
sales and traffic. During the year, with the successful execution of
the improvement plan in TKC in Korea, we sold our 33.74% stake in
July 2010, with a special dividend paid to our shareholders in the

third quarter of the year.

With management’s effective actions to improve sales and
control cost, the Group recorded an increase in net profit from
approximately HK$16,711,000 in the previous year to approximately
HK$21,892,000 in the current year, equating to a 31.0% growth.
Revenue was reduced from approximately HK$3,167,965,000 in
the last year to approximately HK$2,666,341,000 in the current
year mainly due to the disposal of the stake in TKC, a significant
contributor to the Group’s revenue over the years. Excluding TKC’s
contribution, the Group’s existing three business divisions recorded
an aggregate net profit of approximately HK$7,692,000 on revenue
of approximately HK$2,168,056,000, an increase of approximately
114% and 53% respectively from last year.

Our priority is to enhance shareholder value, and we will continue
to execute plans to grow our businesses internally as well as to
augment the value for NAS with investments in synergistic and other
attractive sectors. Without further turbulence in global financial
markets, we believe the coming year will provide good opportunities

for the Group to continue its positive momentum.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TREHREE

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our worldwide customers, business partners and stakeholders
for their trust and support of our products, services and businesses
throughout the year. | also wish to take this opportunity to offer my
appreciation to our shareholders for their confidence in our Group,
as well as our staff for their hard work, dedication and continuous

commitment to excellence.

Goran Sture Malm
Chairman
Hong Kong, 2nd June 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEHNWR D

OUR STRATEGY

Our Group is focused in identifying and investing in high potential,
mid-market companies in North Asia (Greater China, Korea and
Japan). Our aim is to work with our portfolio companies to grow
and build the next level of value in terms of size, cross-border
access, new products/technologies, management capabilities
and partnership/alliances. We believe in an active, close working
relationship with our investee companies, where we can assist with
experience, network and capital. We continuously look for good
companies with partnership minded owners and management
teams, especially synergistic companies where we can add value to

the business.

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

With improvement in the global economy during the year, our
businesses continued its positive momentum for growth and
earnings. As we continue to monitor costs and productivity, the
focus for the year was on reaccelerating the growth plans that
were temporarily affected by the downturn. Each of our businesses
executed plans to add new products, capabilities and skills to

increase new revenue streams and market position.

For the year under review, the Group recorded a consolidated net
profit of approximately HK$21,892,000 on revenue of approximately
HK$2,666,341,000, up 31.0% from the consolidated net profit
of approximately HK$16,711,000 on revenue of approximately
HK$3,167,965,000 in the last year. Coupled with management
actions taken to grow sales, streamline operations and improve
efficiency, three of the four business divisions were profitable in the

year.

Below is a summary of the financial and business highlights of each
major business division. The profit/loss figures, disclosed below, do
not include any intra-group charges, as they are eliminated upon

consolidation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W R D

HI-TECH DISTRIBUTION AND SERVICES DIVISION

Our hi-tech distribution and services division conducted business
through our wholly-owned subsidiary, American Tec. American Tec
is a leader in Asia in the distribution, sales and service of surface
mounted technology (SMT) equipment, with a history of more than
20 years serving its customers in the hi-technology sector. Our team
of more than 250 engineers and customer care staff are located in
more than 25 cities in China, Vietnam and India. Customers include
most of the major telecom and electronic equipment manufacturers
in the world. We are especially well positioned with the growing
base of Chinese manufacturers. Our suppliers include leading
equipment and solutions manufacturers from Asia, the United States

and Europe.

For the current year, with the rebound in the economy and new
product introductions such as smart phones and tablets, the
demand for SMT equipment in the first half of the year reached an
historical high, with sales returning to more normal levels in the
second half of the year. During this time, we have built an industry
leader position in China, Vietham and India by focusing on the

following:

o Continuing to strengthen and consolidate the Group’s leading
position in the SMT sector and adding new suppliers and

partners, including some world class suppliers for win-win

o Accelerating services/solutions, new products and

complementary segments
o Continuing to monitor and manage costs as businesses grow

o Investing in internal processes to enhance the Group’s service

and support to customers and suppliers

With the return of customer demand, strong market position
and additional capabilities, American Tec had a net profit of
approximately HK$39,635,000 on revenue of approximately
HK$1,565,247,000, increased by approximately 270% and 102%
respectively in the current year compared to last year’s net profit
of approximately HK$10,708,000 on revenue of approximately
HK$775,870,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEHNWR D

HI-TECH DISTRIBUTION AND SERVICES DIVISION

(continued)

American Tec is seen as a leader in this sector, servicing most of
the global and domestic telecom and electronics manufacturers.
We have invested in internal company capability and executive
skills to support the next stage of growth, including new Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) and Customer Relationship Management
(CRM) systems and new hires in executive management with global,

logistics and service experience.

We anticipate demand to be moderate in the telecom and
electronics sector, with orders led by domestic customers rather
than global players. The demand will be driven by the continued
proliferation of mobile phones and other new electronic products.
We expect price and margin pressures from the strong Japanese

yen and increasing bargains from domestic customers.

FISHMEAL AND SEAFOOD PRODUCT DIVISION

Our fishmeal and seafood product division conducted business
through our 40% jointly-controlled company, Coland. Coland
continues to focus on serving the growing need for its products
in the aquatic and pig farms and consumer sector in the Chinese,
American and European markets. Today, it is one of the leading
providers and processors of fishmeal, aquatic feed and fish oil in
Asia. Coland invested heavily in building new fish oil refinery and
storage facilities. With the added refining capacity and capabilities
in fish oil processing, Coland is a leader in product quality and has
one of the largest fish oil storage and processing capabilities in

Asia today.

During the year, the fishmeal market in China was affected by the
rain and cold weather, especially the heavy rains in Southern China,
which impacted fish and shrimp breeding farms. This led to price
volatility which affected our margins in this segment. For processed
fish oil products, there was a significant increase in demand,
particularly from the salmon farms around the world. The sales
of our high quality products were particularly strong in the fourth
quarter. With the addition of new feed and processed oil capacity,
we were able to take advantage of demand from the higher margin

segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W R D

FISHMEAL AND SEAFOOD PRODUCT DIVISION

(continued)

We continue to execute programs to serve the increasing demand
for processed and refined aquatic products and manage price

volatility in the global markets.

o Expand our fish oil processing capacity to take advantage
of the growing demand in overseas and domestic markets,

especially with high grade processing capacity

o Expand our feed processing capacity to take advantage of

the growing aquaculture industry in China

o Expand aquaculture farming to value chain, for example,

abalone aquaculture

. Monitor the global supply and demand for the fishmeal

business and closely manage inventory
o Evaluate strategic partners to increase our export business

During the year, we shared 40% net profit of approximately
HK$26,723,000 on revenue of approximately HK$465,187,000, up
10.6% from last year’s net profit of approximately HK$24,159,000 on
revenue of approximately HK$526,413,000.

Going forward, we anticipate a strong demand for our fish oil
products from both overseas and domestic markets and a rebound

in demand for fishmeal in the near term.

BRANDED FOOD DIVISION

Burger King is a leading global brand that provides one of the best
burgers and other quick service foods in the restaurant market.
The Group has the franchise rights to grow the business in Hong
Kong and Macau. Today, we operate 15 restaurants in renowned
retail locations, commercial districts and residential areas in Hong
Kong, including Tsim Sha Tsui, Wanchai, Mongkok, Fortress Hill,
Hunghom, Shatin, Causeway Bay, Admiralty, Tsuen Wan, Wong Tai
Sin, Sheung Shui, Tseung Kwan O and Tuen Mun. We have also
won a number of awards in Hong Kong as one of the best quick

service restaurants and best tasting burgers in the city.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEHNWR D

BRANDED FOOD DIVISION (continued)

The business is still working to reach breakeven, which will come
with increasing the scale and the number of stores, which will lead
to more brand awareness and reduced costs. The management

team has been focusing on a number of key areas:

o Increasing year-on-year sales with ticket count up more than
20%

o Innovative area and local store marketing

. New product introductions

. Cost reduction on supply chain

. Skill and staff enhancement

The division recorded a revenue of approximately HK$137,622,000
with a net loss of approximately HK$29,162,000 for the year, versus
a revenue of approximately HK$110,699,000 with a net loss of
approximately HK$28,513,000 in the last year. The increase in
net loss was mainly due to the one-time closure costs associated
with two restaurants. Without the one-time closure costs, net loss
would have been approximately HK$23,932,000 for the year, versus
HK$28,513,000 for the last year. With continuous improvement of
the business by the management team, net loss per restaurant was
significantly reduced by approximately 37.0% in the year over last

year.

In response to the rising cost pressure under the current inflationary
environment for food, the minimum wage law enacted this year and
the competitive response to our growth, we continue to prudently
build our Burger King brand presence and improve operating
efficiency. Burger King continues to provide superior products in the
market place with a great brand, and we will continue to execute

plans to achieve financial performance improvement.

CHEMICAL OPERATION DIVISION

Our chemical operation division conducted business through our
33.74% jointly-controlled company TKC. TKC is a manufacturer
of man-made fiber products based in Korea. With the successful
execution of the improvement plan, the Board agreed to the sale of
our 33.74% stake in July 2010.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W R D

CHEMICAL OPERATION DIVISION (continued)

On 8th July 2010, the Company’s shareholders approved the
disposal of the entire 33.74% stake in TKC held by the Company
through its indirect subsidiary, North Asia Strategic (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd., for a cash consideration of KRW77 billion, equivalent to
approximately HK$500.5 million as disclosed in the Company’s
circular dated 22nd June 2010. The Company acquired the stake in
TKC in June 2008 at a consideration of KRW50 billion, equivalent to
approximately HK$325.0 million as disclosed in the same circular.

With the disposal of TKC completed on 13th July 2010, the turnover
and earnings from TKC were no longer be consolidated into
the Group’s results. We shared TKC’s revenue of approximately
HK$498,285,000 and net profit of approximately HK$14,200,000
in the year, versus our share of TKC’s full year revenue of
approximately HK$1,754,983,000 and net profit of approximately
HK$71,892,000 in last year.

OUTLOOK

With a more stable global economy and improving business
environment, year 2011 will be a year with new opportunities and
greater development for the Group and its portfolio companies.
The Group has confidence that the portfolio companies are in a
strong position to take advantage of the growth of their respective
sectors and will continue to build up momentum to grow from
strength to strength. The Group itself will prudently leverage on its
core competence, strengths and expertise to tap the investment
opportunities in other attractive sectors in North Asia in a dynamic,
yet meticulous, manner to create values and maximize returns for

shareholders and the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEHNWR D

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND
CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31st March 2011, the Group had bank and cash balances
of approximately HK$1,079,965,000 (2010: HK$1,217,562,000),
of which approximately HK$96,416,000 (2010: HK$84,381,000)
was pledged to secure trade financing facilities of approximately
HK$857,899,000 (2010: HK$1,172,268,000) granted by banks to
its Group companies for trust receipts loans, mortgage loans and
bank borrowings. These banking facilities were also secured by
(a) bank deposits, (b) corporate guarantees provided by NAS,
(c) the Group’s inventories held under trust receipts bank loan
arrangement, (d) buildings, (e) investment property, (f) leasehold
land and prepaid land, (g) the Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, (h) personal guarantees provided by certain
directors of a jointly-controlled entity, (i) property and bank deposits
of certain directors of a jointly-controlled entity, (j) discounted bills
receivable with recourse, and (k) corporate guarantees provided by

independent third parties.

As at 31st March 2011, the Group had borrowings of approximately
HK$246,203,000 (2010: HK$387,475,000). The gearing ratio
(borrowings divided by equity attributable to shareholders of
the Company) of the Group was 0.16 as at 31st March 2011, as
compared to 0.19 as at 31st March 2010.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF INVESTMENTS
AND SUBSIDIARIES

On 30th April 2010, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose
of its entire shareholding in TKC (the “Transaction”). Details of the
Transaction are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
4th May 2010 and the Company’s circular dated 22nd June 2010.
The disposal of TKC was completed on 13th July 2010.

As at 31st March 2011, the Group had no significant investments.
Except for the Transaction, there were no material acquisitions or

disposals of investments and subsidiaries during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The business of the Group was primarily transacted in HK$, USS$,
Yen, KRW and Renminbi. The Group’s cash and bank deposits,
including pledged bank deposits, were mainly denominated in HK$.
The foreign currency exposure of the Group is mainly driven by
its business divisions. The Group attempts to minimise its foreign
currency exposure through (i) matching its payables for purchases
against its receivables on sales and (ii) maintain sufficient foreign
currency cash balances to settle the foreign currency payables. We
will continue to monitor closely the exchange rate between US$ and
Yen and will make necessary hedging arrangements to minimise its
foreign currency exposure arising from foreign currency fluctuation

in the future.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st March 2011, the Company had provided guarantees
of approximately HK$486,700,000 (2010: HK$518,068,000) with
respect to banking facilities made available to its subsidiaries and

jointly-controlled entities.

NET ASSET VALUE

Consolidated net asset value attributable to ordinary shareholders
of the Company per ordinary share was approximately HK$0.1114
as at 31st March 2011 which reflected an increase of HK$0.0038
from the corresponding adjusted figure as at 31st March 2010 of
HK$0.1076 (equal to HK$0.1476 as previously reported less the
distribution of a special dividend of HK4.0 cents per issued ordinary

share in December 2010).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEHNWR D

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31st March 2011, the Group employed 1,017 (2010: 1,299)
staff. Salaries and annual bonuses are determined according to
positions and performance of the employees. Remuneration policies
are reviewed annually by the management and remuneration
packages are structured to take into account the comparable
level of the market. The Group provides on-the-job training and
training subsidies to its employees in addition to pension schemes
and medical insurance. Total staff costs including contribution to
retirement benefit schemes incurred during the year amounted to
approximately HK$107,128,000 (2010: HK$211,342,000).

COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

There was no material change in capital commitments since 31st
March 2011.

Operating lease commitments

As at 31st March 2011, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 17.24 OF
THE GEM LISTING RULES

The following is a condensed consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st March 2011 of Coland Group Limited, a jointly-
controlled entity, of which the Group has an equity interest of 40%,

AIERETRAUE17.24 R 2 HERE

BRI X FTEIER ETARAIE 1724168 - A
ThrREEEEBRAR(NEEESR 40% % A%
mZ ERAEHEE) RN _E——F=A=1+—H

as required therein under rule 17.24 of the GEM Listing Rules: 2 R E g E
HK$'000
FET
Non-current assets EREEE 296,258
Inventories FE 595,876
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEEHR 79,148
Other current assets Htbme s E 434,398
Bank borrowings RITEE (542,531)
Other current liabilities HEtneaE (378,092)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (5,528)
Net assets BEFE 479,529




PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGEREEAEESN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Goran Sture Malm, Chairman

Mr. Goéran Sture Malm, aged 64, joined the Company in August
2005. Mr. Malm is the chairman of Boathouse Limited, an investment
company, and Children’s Medical Foundation, Hong Kong, a
charity originated in the United States. He also presently serves
as a director of various companies in China, Hong Kong, Japan,
Singapore, ltaly and Sweden, and was independent director
of Samsung Electronic Co. Ltd in Seoul, Korea. Prior to joining
Boathouse Limited in 2000, Mr. Malm was the president of Dell
Asia Pacific, senior vice president of Dell Computer Corporation,
senior vice president of General Electric (GE) Company, president
of General Electric Asia Pacific, president and chief executive
officer of GE Medical Systems Asia Ltd. and vice president of
General Electric (GE) Company. Mr. Malm holds a Bachelor degree
in Economics and Business Administration from the Gothenburg
School of Business, Economics and Law in Sweden. For 2005-
2006, Mr. Malm was assigned as visiting professor in Applied
Management at the same Business School. Mr. Malm is a member

of the nomination committee of the Company.

John Saliling, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. John Saliling, aged 47, joined the Company in August 2008
and leads the team to drive operational performance, strategic
growth and new investment for the portfolio. Mr. Saliling has over
23 years of business management, operations and execution
experience in China, India, Korea, Japan, Singapore, United States
and Europe. Prior to NAS, Mr. Saliling was the managing director
of Cisco Systems (“Cisco”) consulting group for Asia Pacific,
working with government ministries and leading companies across
industries. Before Cisco, Mr. Saliling held senior operating positions
in enterprise software and consumer/B2B internet companies in
Asia Pacific such as the chief executive officer of Similan.com Pte.
Ltd. and chief operating officer of Eutech Cybernetics Inc.. He also
worked as a principal, leading the hi-tech strategy practice in Asia
for Booz Allen & Hamilton, a global consulting firm. Mr. Saliling is
a Knight scholar and holds a Master of Business Administration
degree in finance, a Master of Engineering and a Bachelor of
Science degree from Cornell University. Mr. Saliling is a member
of the remuneration committee and the compliance officer of the

Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGEREEAEESN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Andrew Yao Cho Fai

Mr. Andrew Yao Cho Fai, J.P., aged 45, has been with the Company
since the formal establishment. He graduated from the University
of California, Berkeley and Harvard Graduate School of Business.
Mr. Yao is the chairman and chief executive officer of Van Shung
Chong Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive director
of Kader Holdings Company Limited which are companies listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr Yao serves as a
Standing Committee Member of the Shanghai China People’s
Political Consultative Conference and All-China Youth Federation,
Vice Chairman of Youth Federation of State-owned Enterprises and
Shanghai Youth Federation, Board Member of Fudan University in
Shanghai, Court Member of The University of Hong Kong, Member
of Harvard Business School International Alumni Board, Founder
of Young President Organization Shanghai Chapter, Member of
the Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. He was awarded “Young

Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong 2004”.

Takeshi Kadota

Mr. Takeshi Kadota, aged 64, joined the Company in September
2007. Mr. Kadota has been engaged for more than 20 years
in various capital market activities, including private equity
investments. Prior to his retirement from Mitsubishi Corporation,
Mr. Kadota acted as a senior vice president and division chief
operating officer of its financial services division which included
private equity, real estate, M&A and venture capital. Mr. Kadota
also served as president and chief executive officer of Mitsubishi
Corporation Capital Ltd. Prior to this post, he served as a managing
director of Mitsubishi Corporation Finance PLC, a Euro-based
financial subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation. Mr. Kadota was a
visiting professor and lecturer in the field of business administration
in the Interdisciplinary Graduate School of Science and Engineering,
Tokyo Institute of Technology. He received his Bachelor degree in
Laws from University of Tokyo and a Master degree in Business
Administration from Stanford Graduate School of Business. Mr.

Kadota is a member of the remuneration committee of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Jason Matthew Brown

Mr. Jason Matthew Brown, aged 43, joined the Company in
September 2010. Mr. Brown is the head of the Global Special
Situations Group of Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C. (“Goldman
Sachs”). Previously, he was head of the Asia Special Situations
Group (“ASSG”). Mr. Brown is a member of the Asia Management
Committee, the Asia Securities Division Operating Committee and
the Asia Risk Committee. Mr. Brown joined Goldman Sachs in
1999 as an executive director in the Specialized Credit Trading
Group and moved to the ASSG in 2000. He was named managing
director of Goldman Sachs in 2004 and partner in 2006. Prior to
joining Goldman Sachs, Mr. Brown worked as an emerging markets
credit analyst and distressed debt investor for Bear Stearns from
1994 to 1999, working in New York, London and Hong Kong. Mr.
Brown earned a Master of Public Administration degree at Princeton
University and a Bachelor of Arts degree (First Class) in History and

Economics from Oxford University.

James Tsiolis

Mr. James Tsiolis, aged 43, joined the Company in December 2010.
Mr. Tsiolis has 19 years of experience in equity funds and capital
markets. He is the chief executive officer and a founder of Strategic
Capital Management Ltd (“SCM”) since 2000. Prior to SCM, Mr.
Tsiolis served as the head of research, ipac Securities since 1997.
He also worked as a senior investment analyst of ASSIRT Investment
& Technology and a quantitative analyst of James Capel Australia
Ltd. He holds a Bachelor degree in Economics from Macquarie
University, Sydney and a Graduate Certificate Quantitative
Finance from University of Technology, Sydney. Mr. Tsiolis serves
as a chairman of Optimal Choice Pty Ltd (trading as Investment
Products). He is also a Governor of Australian Archaeological
Institute at Athens and a member of Australian Institute of
Management, The Association of Superannuation Funds of Australia

Limited and Financial Planning Association of Australia Limited.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Yu Wang Tak, Deputy Chairman

Mr. Yu Wang Tak, aged 55, joined the Company in November 2007
and appointed as the Company’s Deputy Chairman in November
2010. Mr. Yu is the chairman of AsiaSoft Company Limited
(*AsiaSoft”). Prior to AsiaSoft, Mr. Yu worked for Sun Microsystems,
Inc. (“Sun”) for 22 years, with the last executive position as the
president of Sun for Greater China. Mr. Yu had also worked in
various leadership positions of Sun, including the head of finance
of Worldwide Field Operations. Prior to joining Sun in 1985, Mr. Yu
held a variety of management positions for various companies, such
as Apple Computer and Ford Motor Company. For six years from
2000, Mr. Yu served as the board of directors of the Hong Kong
Applied Science & Technology Research Institute Company Limited.
He was both the founder and driver of Sun’s Sunshine Education
Charitable Fund. He was a certified internal auditor and received his
Bachelor of Science and Master of Business Administration degrees
from University of California, Berkeley. Mr. Yu is a member of the
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee

of the Company.

Philip Ma King Huen

Mr. Philip Ma King Huen, aged 54, joined the Company in March
2000. Mr. Ma is the group managing director of The Sincere
Company, Limited, a listed company on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Ma was the chairman of the Hong Kong
Retail Management Association from 1996 to 2000 and is very
active in community service. He holds a Master degree in Business
Administration from McMaster University in Canada. Mr. Ma is
a member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and

nomination committee of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGEREEAEESN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)
Kenny Tam King Ching

Mr. Kenny Tam King Ching, aged 62, joined the Company in
September 2004. He is a practicing Certified Public Accountant
in Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Ethics Committee and Practice Review Committee in
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a
past president of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors.
Mr. Tam serves as an independent non-executive director of six
other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
namely, CCT Telecom Holdings Limited, Kingmaker Footwear
Holdings Limited, Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited,
Starlite Holdings Limited, Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited and
West China Cement Limited. He was also an independent non-
executive director of King Stone Energy Group Limited (formerly
known as “Yun Sky Chemical (International) Holdings Limited”),
a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from
August 2005 to September 2008. Mr. Tam is a member of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of

the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Grace Luk Pui Yin, Chief Financial Officer

Ms. Grace Luk Pui Yin, aged 46, joined the Company in August
2005. Ms. Luk was the director and financial controller of Kleinwort
Benson China Management Limited, the investment manager of
the London-listed China Investment & Development Fund. This
Fund invested in 12 joint ventures with substantial manufacturing
operations in China and completed divestment of its portfolio
before 2003. She was also the vice president of Dresdner Kleinwort
Capital, the private equity arm of Dresdner Bank. She has over
10 years of private equity experience in the Greater China region.
Prior to Kleinwort Benson, Ms. Luk was the department head of the
category financial management department at Colgate-Palmolive
(H.K.) Limited and was an auditor at Arthur Andersen & Co in Hong
Kong. She received her Bachelor degree in Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. She is a Fellow of the
UK Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an Associate of
both the UK Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXER®/E

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company endeavours in maintaining high standard of corporate
governance in the interests of shareholders, and follows the
principles set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Code throughout the year ended 31st March 2011 except for the

following deviation.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should
be appointed for specific terms. However, Mr. Jason Matthew
Brown and Mr. James Tsiolis, Non-executive Directors, elected
by the shareholders at the annual general meeting and special
general meeting of the Company on 27th September 2010 and
1st December 2010 respectively, have not been appointed for a
specific terms but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws
of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealing set
out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required
Standard”) as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors of the Company. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors of the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the Required Standard during the year ended 31st
March 2011.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Roles and responsibilities

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company. They are collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s
affairs. The Board is accountable to shareholders for the strategic
development of the Group with the goal of maximising long-term

shareholder value, while balancing broader stakeholder interests.

The Board formulates overall Company strategy. Given the diversity
and volume of the Company’s business, responsibility for execution

and daily operations is delegated to management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH|E

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Roles and responsibilities (continued)

In furtherance of good corporate governance, the Board has
established three sub-committees: audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee. All of these committees have
terms of reference which accord with the principles set out in the
Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors: two Executive
Directors, four Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors that are one-third of the Board. Biographical
details of the Directors are set out in the section of “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 17 to 21.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of
expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal and
professional ethics and integrity. All the Directors give sufficient
time and attention to the Company’s affairs. The Board believes
that the ratio of Executive to Non-executive Directors is reasonable
and adequate to provide checks and balances that safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and the Company as a whole.

The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s operations. These Directors conduct
regular meetings with the senior management of the Company
and its subsidiaries, at which operational issue and financial
performance are evaluated.

The Non-executive Directors provide the Company with a wide
range of expertise and experience. They bring independent
judgment on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, performance,
risk and management process through their contribution at Board
and committee meetings.

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, newly appointed
Directors shall hold office until the next following general meeting
and shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Independence

The Company has three Independent Non-executive Directors, at
least one of whom has appropriate financial management expertise,
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. Each Independent Non-
executive Director gives the Company an annual confirmation of his
independence, and the Company considers these directors to be
independent under the guidelines set out in rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic
means of communication at least four times every year to determine
overall strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly,
interim and annual results, budgets and other significant matters.
At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meetings are given to all
Directors, who are all given an opportunity to attend and include
matters in the agenda for discussion. Apart from formal meetings,
matters requiring board approval are arranged by means of
circulation of written resolutions. Senior management from time
to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary
takes detailed minutes of the meetings and keeps records of

matters discussed and decisions resolved at the meetings.
Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

Nine full Board meetings were held during the year with an average
attendance rate of 88%. The attendance of each Director at Board

meetings is set out below:

Exg#)
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Number of
Meetings
Attended/Held
Notes FrE BT
Board Members EEEHE Mat ZEHBRE
Executive directors HITES
Goran Sture Malm (Chairman) Goran Sture Malm (F£ /) 9/9
Savio Chow Sing Nam BB (i) 4/4
John Saliling (Chief Executive Officer) John Saliling (T4 %) 9/9
Non-executive director FHTES
Andrew Yao Cho Fai Pk ¥E (viii) 8/9
Henry Kim Cho Henry Kim Cho (i) 2/2
James Tsiolis James Tsiolis (iii) 2/2
Jason Matthew Brown Jason Matthew Brown (iv) 4/5
Moses Tsang Kwok Tai B2 (v) 44
Takeshi Kadota Takeshi Kadota (viii) 7/9
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Yu Wang Tak (Deputy Chairman) REEEEE) (vi) 7/9
Edgar Kwan Chi Ping Ba ¥ (vii) 5/9
Kenny Tam King Ching i E 9/9
Philip Ma King Huen HRE (viii) 8/9



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH|E

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Notes:

(i) Former Deputy Chairman, retired on 27th September 2010
(i) Retired on 8th July 2010

(iii)  Elected on 1st December 2010

(iv)  Elected on 27th September 2010

(v) Resigned on 4th October 2010

(vi) Appointed as Deputy Chairman on 22nd November 2010
(vii)  Resigned on 1st April 2011

(viii)  Including the attendance by his alternate

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman and the Deputy Chairman of the Board are Mr.
Goran Sture Malm and Mr. Yu Wang Tak respectively. Mr. John
Saliling serves as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The roles
of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are distinct and
segregated with a clear division of responsibility. The Chairman
plays a leading role and is responsible for effective running of
the Board while the Chief Executive Officer is delegated with
the authority and responsibility of overall management, business
development and implementation of the Group’s strategy determined

by the Board in achieving its overall commercial objectives.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of office of each of the Non-executive Directors is for a
period of three years unless terminated by either party with one
month’s written notice, except for Mr. Jason Matthew Brown and
Mr. James Tsiolis who were not appointed for a specific terms
but elected by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
and special general meeting of the Company on 27th September
2010 and 1st December 2010 respectively. All the Non-executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting in accordance with the provisions of the

Company'’s Bye-laws.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

During the year, the nomination committee comprises five members,
a majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors, and
is chaired by Mr. Philip Ma King Huen. The terms of reference
of the nomination committee are aligned with the provisions set
out in the Code. The nomination committee is responsible for
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
directors, evaluation of board composition and the management
of board succession with reference to certain guidelines including
appropriate professional knowledge and industry experience,
personal ethics, integrity and personal skills, and time commitments
of members. During the year, the committee has reviewed the
board composition, the appointment of directors and made
recommendation to the Board. Three meetings were held during the

year ended 31st March 2011. Attendance of the members is set out
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below:
Number of
Meetings
Attended/Held
FrE BT
Nomination Committee Members REZSEHE ZEBRH
Philip Ma King Huen (Committee Chairman) EEE(ZE8EE) 3/3
Edgar Kwan Chi Ping * @aF 2/3
Goran Sture Malm Goran Sture Malm 3/3
Kenny Tam King Ching FEE 3/3
Yu Wang Tak RE 3/3

* Ceased as a committee member on 1st April 2011

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee comprises five members, a majority
of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors, and is chaired
by Mr. Edgar Kwan Chi Ping up to 31st March 2011. Following the
resignation of Mr. Edgar Kwan Chi Ping on 1st April 2011, Mr. Philip
Ma King Huen was appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Mr. Yu Wang Tak was appointed as the chairman of

the Remuneration Committee.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are aligned
with the provisions set out in the Code. The remuneration committee
has delegated responsibility to determine the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and senior management and
make recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of the Non-
executive Directors. A meeting was held for the year ended 31st

March 2011. Attendance of the members is set out below:

FMEES(#2)
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Number of

Meetings

Attended/Held

FrifE 81T

Remuneration Committee Members FMEESERE ZEERE
Edgar Kwan Chi Ping (Committee Chairman)* BeT(ZESEE)" 1/1
John Saliling John Saliling 11
Kenny Tam King Ching FEE 1/1
Takeshi Kadota Takeshi Kadota 11
Yu Wang Tak RE(E 1/1

* Ceased as the Committee Chairman and member on 1st April 2011

For the year ended 31st March 2011, total Directors’ remuneration
amounted to approximately HK$6,099,000 (2010: HK$6,645,000).

Remuneration of the Executive Directors is prudently designed
to attract, motivate and retain them to formulate strategies and to
oversee operational matters of the Group and to reward them for
enhancing value to the shareholders. Details of the remuneration of
the Directors for the year are set out in note 8 to the accompanying

financial statements.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year, the committee has reviewed the remuneration of the
Directors and made recommendation to the Board on the structure
of the remuneration of the Directors. To recognise the increased
workload and responsibility of the Directors, the committee made
the following recommendations by reference to the market practices

and surveys:

. Adjustment of director fee from HK$192,000 to HK$240,000

per annum for each Director

o Additional fee of HK$40,000 per annum for the Board Deputy
Chairman and the Audit Committee Chairman

o Additional fee of HK$20,000 per annum for the Chairmen of

the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee

The Board has endorsed and approved the recommendations and

these levels of fees have taken effect from 1st April 2011.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference that set out the authorities and duties of the committee
adopted by the Board. The committee currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Kenny
Tam King Ching who has appropriate professional qualifications and

experience in financial matters.

The terms of reference of the audit committee are aligned with the
provisions set out in the Code. The committee’s principal duties are
to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the accounting and
financial controls of the Group, oversee the performance of internal
control systems and financial reporting process, monitor the integrity
of the financial statements and compliance with statutory and listing
requirements and to oversee independence and qualifications of the

external auditors.

The audit committee meets the external auditors at least four times
a year to discuss any area of concern during the audits or reviews.
The audit committee reviews the quarterly, interim and annual
reports before submission to the Board. Senior representatives of
the external auditors, executive Directors and senior management

are invited to attend the meetings, if required.

FMESS (&)

FR - REERJEZFHEINESHIERERD
EEgRLES  EXNEFNTHEEREETTEH
B ZBE2RBRMBKERAEHEL T2

2 .
%o

. BNEFEFMNESHEE A 192,000 T
2 240,000 7T

. REIMEINGF 40,000 B L TEFREIEF
MEVEZEGLE

. FEIMEINEF 20,0008 L FIRBEZESE
ERFHEESEE

EXESCHERBRHER  WEBRCON-F
——FMA-RAER -

BERERS

ARREERIBEREZES WO EM@A ARE
HE HAEFERMIZBERIMBE -
BEmmB Y FNITESMAR - TREAEHE
TE - RARBEZEXERRUHER -

%% B &z B B By A TGRSR —
cZEGCTIERERBRAEE @5 KM
ERRARARAN - ERNMEESE LY
BEERF RS  BERMBHRREETBRN
BVETE R ETHRTE A R B RINEZBA 2 B
KB o

FEELORIINEZBENGEIIR - A
(EHREMNATIEZ®HE - BRE
REFE - PHERFERETESSA

E?% SHEITER - SNERBEMZEAK
BREBAEDERLFERS

10

X HEEP

Ny

%

B B B N

I A
&t%%}w
2l

=
By
¥l



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH|E

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year, the audit committee has approved the nature and
scope of the statutory audits, and reviewed the quarterly, interim
and annual financial statements of the Group, and was content
that the accounting policies and standards of the Group are in
accordance with the current best practices in Hong Kong. Four
meetings were held during the year and the attendance at meetings

is set out below:

BEREES(#)

FA - BREEGCHEEITERZIUERE
W ERMAEBZFE hHRFERBR
= BEMASEZ S BREERNTEES
BRBZRETR - FRBTTOAEZZESS
& HEEIBRAT

Number of

Meetings

Attended/Held

FrifE 81T

Audit Committee Members ERZEEENE ZEBERE
Kenny Tam King Ching (Committee Chairman) BB ZE8F/E) 4/4
Edgar Kwan Chi Ping* weT 3/4
Philip Ma King Huen 55E 2/4
Yu Wang Tak RERE 3/4

* Ceased as a committee member on 1st April 2011

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company reviews the appointment of external auditors on an
annual basis including a review of the audit scope and approval of
the audit fee. During the year, the fee payable to the Company’s
external auditors for the audit amounted to approximately
HK$2,624,000 (2010: 2,624,000) and fee for non-audit related
activities amounted to approximately HK$662,000 (2010:
HK$650,000).

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system to safeguard the Company’s assets and
shareholders’ interest. The internal control system is designed to
reduce, but not eliminate, risks of failure in operational systems. The
system helps to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The system aims to support

the achievement of the Group’s business objectives.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)

The system comprises a well-defined organisational structure
with clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority to ensure
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The
Board conducts regularly reviews of the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group through reviews performed by audit
committee, executive management, internal audit department and

external auditors.

During the year, the internal audit department conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the internal control system and procedures
of the Company and its operating subsidiaries covering all
material controls, including financial, operational, compliance
and risk management, and assessed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function, their training programs and budget. The
audit committee was well informed of the audit findings, emerging

trends and successful practices in internal auditing.

During the year, the audit committee reviewed the effectiveness of
the system of the internal control through the following processes

and subsequently reported the review results to the Board:

o discussions with the executive management on areas of risk
identified

. review of risks reported by the internal audit department

. review of the external audit plans

. review of issues reported by external auditors

. review of the reports from the internal audit department, the

executive management to ensure appropriate controls are in

place and any deficiencies or irregularities, if any, are rectified

Based on the result of the review for the year ended 31st March
2011, the Board considered that the internal control system and
procedures of the Group, including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programs and budget, are
adequate and effective and have complied with the provisions of

the Code during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH|E

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Company proactively promotes investor relations.
Communication with shareholders is always given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in the
annual report, interim report and quarterly report. The Company’s
website provides regularly updated information to shareholders.
Enquiries on matters relating to the business of the Group are
welcomed, and are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

The Company encourages all shareholders to attend the annual
general meetings to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and
goals. It provides an opportunity for direct communications between
the Board and its shareholders. Shareholders have statutory rights
to call for special general meetings by serving appropriate written
requests to the Company. The chairman of the meeting explains the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll and then answers any
questions from shareholders. The poll results are published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The chairman of the Board and the audit committee and external
auditors attended the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 27th September 2010 to answer questions from shareholders.
The financial advisers were available to answer questions at the
special general meetings of the Company held on 8th July 2010 and
1st December 2010.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are ultimately responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements for each financial year which gives a true
and fair view. In preparing the financial statements, appropriate
accounting policies and standard are selected and applied
consistently.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 44 and 45 of this annual
report.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is
significant in maintaining investor confidence and at attracting
investment. The management will devote considerate effort to
strengthen and improve the standards of the corporate governance
of the Group.
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) have the pleasure of presenting
their annual report together with the audited financial statements
of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company”), its
subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities (together the “Group”) for
the year ended 31st March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
principally are engaged in (i) trading of surface mount technology
(“SMT”) assembly equipment, machinery and spare parts and
provision of related installation, training, repair and maintenance
services for SMT assembly equipment; and (ii) developing and
operating Burger King restaurants in Hong Kong and Macau. Its
jointly-controlled entities are principally engaged in (i) processing
and sale of fishmeal, refining and sale of fish oil, manufacturing and
sale of aquatic feed products and trading of other raw materials
relating to aquatic feeds; and (ii) manufacturing and sale of
polyester fiber, PET resin and spandex (discontinued during the
year).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and segment results by
business segment and geographical segment for the year ended
31st March 2011 is set out in note 5 to the accompanying financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
shown in note 27 to the accompanying financial statements.

RESULTS

Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March 2011
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on page 47 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

During the year, a special dividend of HK4.0 cents per share was
paid by the Company (2010: Nil). The Directors do not recommend
the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31st March 2011.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in note 28 to the accompanying financial
statements. As at 31st March 2011, The reserves available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$1,206,281,000 (2010: Nil).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years
is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries and jointly-controlled
entities are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the accompanying financial
statements, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment property of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the accompanying financial
statements, respectively.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31st March 2011 are set out in
note 29 to the accompanying financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year.
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DONATIONS

During the year, no donations was made by the Group (2010:
HK$15,600).

PROVIDENT FUND SCHEME

Details of the pension schemes are set out in note 8 to the

accompanying financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year are:
Executive directors

Goran Sture Malm (Chairman)
Savio Chow Sing Nam

(Former Deputy Chairman, retired on 27th September 2010)
John Saliling (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive director

Andrew Yao Cho Fai
Henry Kim Cho (Retired on 8th July 2010)
James Tsiolis

(Elected at special general meeting on 1st December 2010)
Jason Matthew Brown

(Elected at annual general meeting on 27th September 2010)
Moses Tsang Kwok Tai (Resigned on 4th October 2010)
Takeshi Kadota

Independent non-executive directors

Yu Wang Tak
(Appointed as Deputy Chairman on 22nd November 2010)
Edgar Kwan Chi Ping (Resigned on 1st April 2011)
Kenny Tam King Ching
Philip Ma King Huen

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Messrs.
Goran Sture Malm, John Saliling and Andrew Yao Cho Fai shall
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general

meeting and be eligible for re-election.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent
Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out

on pages 17 to 21 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory

compensation.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 8 to the

accompanying financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2011, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company and their respective associates had the following interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”))
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules

relating to the securities transactions by Directors:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

Name of Director Capacity
EEpE 14
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Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
shares held shareholdings Nofe

FEEBERHE FRZEBNEIL M

Mr. Géran Sture Malm (Mr. Malm)
Goran Sture Malm %e 4 (Malm %£4) Sl NI 2
Note:

1. Mr. Malm was beneficially interested in these shares through his
controlling company Windswept Inc.

Interest of controlled corporation

94,127,499 0.69% 1
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2011, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any interests or short positions in the securities of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the rules 5.46 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by

Directors.

Save for the above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age
had any interests in, or had been granted or exercised, any rights to
subscribe for any securities of the Company or any of its associated

corporations during the year.

INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS

As at 31st March 2011, so far as is known to the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests
were disclosed above) had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the

register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:
Long positions in the shares of the Company

Substantial shareholders of the Company

Name Capacity
=L 37
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The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
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A

Military Superannuation and Benefits

Board of Trustees No 1
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INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS (continued)

Long positions in the shares of the Company (continued)

Other shareholders of the Company

Htt AT 2 EBZHAXR (2

RARBRBZHFR(E)
BthA R ARR

Number of Approximate

ordinary percentage % of

Name Capacity shares held shareholdings Nofe
B =37 FREERHE FRZBNEIL 7
C.L Davids Fond og Samling Beneficial owner 1,061,780,105 7.81%
Hip AR R AR BEmnEAA
Woori Bank Beneficial owner 792,848,020 5.83% 3
RMIRTT BanEBAA
Woori Finance Holdings Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled 792,848,020 5.83% 3
Corporation

SPRHlA Rz s
United Overseas Bank Limited Beneficial owner 743,295,019 5.47%
ARERTARRQA EmEAA
Notes: st :

1.

Save

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. was deemed to be interested in these
shares through its indirect subsidiary, Goldman Sachs (Asia) Finance.

These shares were held by Military Superannuation and Benefits Board
of Trustees No 1 as a trustee for an Australian pension scheme.

Woori Finance Holdings Co., Ltd. was deemed to be interested in these
shares through its controlling company, Woori Bank.

as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executive

of the Company were not aware of any person (other than the

Directors or chief executive of the Company the interests of which

were disclosed above) who has an interest or short position in the

securities of the Company that were required to be entered in the

register of the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at
31st March 2011.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 10th June 2002, the shareholders approved the adoption of a
share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”). Under the terms of the
2002 Scheme, the Board may at its discretion offer share options
to any employee, agent, consultant or representative, including any
executive or non-executive Director, of any member of the Group
or any other person who satisfies the selection criteria as set out
in the 2002 Scheme. The principal purpose of the 2002 Scheme
is to provide incentives to participants to contribute to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group. The 2002 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on the adoption date. As at 31st March 2011,
no share options have been granted by the Company pursuant to
the 2002 Scheme.

On 31st October 2006, the Company approved a share option
scheme (the “Best Creation Scheme”) adopted by Best Creation
Investments Limited (“Best Creation”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, allowing its board of directors to grant options to
subscribe for shares in Best Creation to the selected participants
under such scheme as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Best Creation group. The Best Creation Scheme has a life of ten
years commencing on the adoption date of 31st October 2006. As
at 31st March 2011, no share options have been granted pursuant

to the Best Creation Scheme.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are provided in note 40 to the accompanying
financial statements. Certain related party transactions also
constituted connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.
The following connected transactions (as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules) of the Group have been entered into and/or
ongoing during the year ended 31st March 2011 for which relevant
announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Services Agreement

The Company entered into a supplemental agreement dated
2nd March 2009 (the “Supplemental Services Agreement”), which
is supplemental to the services agreement dated 26th September
2005 (as amended and restated on 30th December 2005,
together with the Supplemental Services Agreement, the “Services
Agreement”) with North Asia Strategic Advisors (“NASA”) pursuant
to which NASA shall provide services to the Company covering fund
raising, market and industry research, investor sourcing, investment
sourcing, investment analysis and due diligence, and financial
advisory under the overall control and supervision of the Board of
the Company for a further three years commencing on 1st April 2009
and shall continue until the termination of the Services Agreement
in accordance with its terms. Pursuant to the Services Agreement,
the Company shall pay fees to NASA for the services rendered by
it. The annual cap amounts of the fees payable to NASA (including
annual service fee, incentive fee and placing fee) are set at HK$75
million, HK$75 million and HK$150 million respectively for each of
the three financial years ending 31st March 2010, 2011 and 2012.
Details of the Supplemental Services Agreement are set out in the
circular to shareholders dated 7th April 2009.

Sub-tenancy agreement

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, North Asia Strategic (HK)
Limited, entered into a sub-tenancy agreement dated 13th March
2009 (the “Sub-Tenancy Agreement”) with Ajia Partners (Hong Kong)
Limited (“APHK”) and The Center 78 (No. 2) Limited in relation
to the sub-leasing of a portion of the office on 78th Floor, The
Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong for a term of 3 years
commencing from 1st April 2008 to 31st March 2011 at a monthly
rental of approximately HK$190,000, inclusive of management fees
and air-conditioning charges. The annual cap for each of three
financial years ending 31st March 2009, 2010 and 2011 is expected
not to exceed HK$2.3 million. Details of the Sub-Tenancy Agreement
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 19th March
2009.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

NASA was the holding company of North Asia Strategic Acquisition
Corp. (“NASAC”), a substantial shareholder of the Company until
28th February 2010. APHK is wholly owned by Ajia Partners Inc.
(“AP1”) which in turn also was an indirect holding company of
NASAC until NASAC was stricken off from the Cayman Islands
Companies Register as of 30th September 2010. Mr. Moses Tsang
Kwok Tai (“Mr. Tsang”), who was formerly a non-executive director
of the Company from 2nd November 2009 to 3rd October 2010,
beneficially owned an equity interest of approximately 31.9% of API.
During the same period, APl was the parent company of NASA,
which in turn controlled 100% of the voting capital of NASAC until
the latter company was stricken. Mr. Tsang resigned as a director
of the Company on 4th October 2010. Since then, neither Mr.
Tsang, NASA nor APHK are considered to be connected persons
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company, and the
aforesaid transactions are no longer connected transactions of the

Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

The above continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company. The
Independent Non-executive Directors have confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions have been entered into (a) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (b) on normal
commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than
terms available to or from independent third parties; and (c) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders

of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have also confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions (a) have received the approval
of the Board; (b) are in accordance with the pricing policy of
the Group if those transactions involve the provision of goods or
services by the Group; (c) have been entered into in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and (d)
have not exceeded the respective caps as disclosed in the relevant

announcements of the Company.
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RNASAC z i # 2 IX A 8l E ENASACH =
T-ZFANA=THER=E#ERRTMER
BALE e BREFEE(GRE]D  RRAFFE
BITESE THE_ZTAEF+-AZBER
—E-ZEF+AZBL EaxfEBAPIRERE
5 #931.9% - Btk [/ B - APIANASAZ & &
Al v 125 BIEHINASAC B R ERR AR 100% &
ZNASACHKRE - BEER T —ZF+AM
HEEERRARIES - Bt Bh4E NASAK
APHKEI T IR R AR AIBEAL(EE RAIZE
REMARE) - PR 5 REIFER £ AR AR
BB ARRRBERS -
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RIEREZFTX S ZE@MEET  R(d)LE
BERNRRMERASAREZS LR -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgHRES

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Apart from the connected transactions referred to in this report, no
other contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the related party transactions provided in
note 40 to the accompanying financial statements, no contract
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into

or existed during the year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31st March 2011, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
has engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with

the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st March 2011, the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 78.8% of the Group’s total
purchases and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 70.8% of the Group’s total purchases. The aggregate
amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers

represented less than 30% of the Group’s total turnover.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the Group’s

five largest suppliers noted above.

EEC2EHNER
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRES

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st March 2011, the Company repurchased
a total of 18,360,000 ordinary shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange and these shares, together with 2,000,000 shares
repurchased by the Company subsequent to the end of the
reporting period in April 2011, were subsequently cancelled by the

Company on 29th April 2011. Details of which are set out below:

BA - EHIBEARQAF 2 LTRSS

REE_E——FZA=+—HLEFER AR
RN E 22 BT B8 (81 & $£ 18,360,000 A% A8 A 7] & i
IR ZERDERARBDRBRARER T
—— & A#ERZ 2,000,000 KRHEBER=-F
——FMAZTHABAEARRTH - BEAFER
PR

Number of

shares Price per share
repurchased SRER Aggregate
2iEmE Highest Lowest price paid*
Month of repurchases e A A BHEE B& BIE 2RAER*
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(Br) (#r) (&)
March 2011 —T——%=f 18,360,000 0.073 0.058 1,259,950
April 2011 —T——£NA 2,000,000 0.072 0.071 143,944
20,360,000 1,403,894

T EIER B

* Excluding transaction cost

The repurchases were effected by the directors pursuant to the
mandate from shareholders, with a view to benefits shareholders as
a whole in enhancing the net assets and earnings per share of the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities for the year ended 31st March 2011 and

up to the date of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information, the Company maintains
a sufficient public float of more than 25% of the issued ordinary

shares as at the date of this annual report.

EFEREEREEET LARED - EURES

AZBEEFEREBRAN  REBRRTES
@ o
B EXPBEEEN REE-_ZT——F=H

ST-AUEFERBEARERS  ARTRK
FEMHE R ABRAEA © 5 S B A2 AT
EmES

REHRAREFRE

BRIBARITEBER » ARFRANFIRE PR
EHMNBEREBBEEBEITLEBIR25% ©



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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INFORMATION OF COMPLIANCE OFFICER AND
COMPANY SECRETARY

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. John Saliling. Mr.
Saliling is an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. Biographical details of Mr. Saliling is set out on page

17 of this annual report.

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Lam Yee Fan. She
has over 15 years of company secretarial experience at listed
companies in Hong Kong. She is an associate member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of

Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted

by the Company is set out on pages 22 to 31 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Except for the change of the Company’s auditors from
PricewaterhouseCoopers to Ernst & Young during the year ended
31st March 2009, there was no other change in auditors of the

Company in any of the preceding three years.

The financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2011 have
been audited by Ernst & Young who will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for

reappointment.

On behalf of the Board
North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

John Saliling
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 2nd June 2011

EXTAERAAUWEZESR

N R A2 B2 EE RJohn Salilinge &
SaliingfE £ R AR BIITESHRITHAH -
Saliling 2 BREFHNAFHRE17TE -

ARBZARWERMFITLL - RHEAB5
FEBLTRARANARMELR - BRATBET
MERGRARFAMERITRAERAGZE

o

\

XE

BRARNBFIRMNESHLEE AR R Z2REHN
KEFERF22HEFEI1H °

B

BB

BR-ZZZAF=A=1T—HIFEHPH - AR
FAZ BN i AR BAGE SR BN ISP B A %K
BETENEEASN  ARRRBE=ZFHLEH M
EZHMEEEE -

(BT ——F A=+ HAIEFEZHB®RE
EARLTKEIMEEMEZ - EERRBFAE
IR B LK EETNRFEERR
IR ERAD 2R -

RREES
LERBIERAR LD

HITEFEFRTHAAR
John Saliling

BE —FT——FXAZH

| 8% 140434 IVNNNY

LL/0L0C



(27 E X 5 9F a3 LINIT SONIATOH J1931VHLS VISY HLHON

44

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
V% S AD R

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

x5 7k

18th Floor

Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2846 9888

Ernst & Young

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

ZKE RS AT
BEREHRE AR
B SR 2H 1848

B 5 - +852 2846 9888

Fax: +852 2868 4432 {85 : +852 2868 4432

www.ey.com

To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of North Asia
Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 46 to 176, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

B RBIERAR D RRR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B %A RS

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

2 June 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

mEBRER

Year ended 31st March 2011 B —ZE——F=A=+—HIFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E—TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FET
(Restated)
(#571))
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FELSEEK
Revenue A 5] 2,168,056 1,412,982
Cost of sales SHE A (1,852,361) (1,200,174)
Gross profit EF 315,695 212,808
Other income and gains, net E AU A R W zs i F 58 6 39,356 24,972
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEHR (199,694) (161,084)
General and administrative expenses —#&NM1THE B (135,400) (132,700)
Operating profit/(loss) R (EE) 19,957 (56,004)
Finance income ZUp TN 9 5,568 5,698
Finance costs W55 A 9 (10,576) (13,109)
Profit/(loss) before income tax from B RS ET Z BRET SR AT
continuing operations wm A (E1E) 7 14,949 (63,415)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frig®imE, () 10 (6,832) 7,759
Profit/(loss) for the year from BECEER 2 ENEF,
continuing operations (E18) 8,117 (55,656)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRIEREEK
Profit for the year from a BRI E AR TS 7 F s A
discontinued operation 12 14,200 71,892
Profit for the year FRH A 22,317 16,236
Profit for the year attributable to: FEIEF AR
— Shareholders of the Company — RNRAAEIRRER 11 21,892 16,711
— Non-controlling interests — FEPEI IR A 425 (475)
22,317 16,236
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable 7N 7] 38 A% I 3R & (G & 1%
to ordinary shareholders of ar/ (EE)
the Company 14
Basic and diluted BEARREE
— For profit for the year — FREMCENM)
(HK cents) 0.16 1.31
— For profit/(loss) for the year — FEREEBZFN
from continuing operations wm A (E51E)
(HK cents) &) 0.06 (4.31)

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are

disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements.

FREMNREZRBREZFBERMBEHRRMEA3

B -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEZHEWER

Year ended 31st March 2011 BE—Z——F=A=+—HIFE

2010
—E-TF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Hiat FET FET
Profit for the year FRm A 22,317 16,236
Other comprehensive income/(loss):  Ef 2 mEUKzS(EE) :
Available-for-sale financial assets: AHEESREE :
Changes in fair value AREES 21 244 1,575
Reclassification adjustments LERET AGEER
for gains included in the R W17 2 B
consolidated income statement DI
as a result of the disposal (676) —
Actuarial loss on retirement benefit RINEMNEEZEEEE
obligations — (653)
Currency translation differences: BT
Reclassification adjustment for S KR B AR 5T
exchange differences included AN BmR ZER
in the consolidated income ERENHFRAE
statement upon the disposal of
a jointly-controlled entity 50,420 —
Currency translation differences BINER 2 B E
of foreign operations =5 (18,664) 50,509
Other comprehensive income FREMEENE - RAE
for the year, net of income tax of nil HE&F5E 31,324 51,431
Total comprehensive income FREEB BT
for the year 53,641 67,667
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EiEFERZERE(EE)
for the year attributable to: 4T
— Shareholders of the Company — ARARE 52,843 68,142
— Non-controlling interests — FEER IR 798 (475)
53,641 67,667
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B %5 R &

—E——%=A=+—H

31st March 201

Group Company
PN b N
31st March 31st March 1st April 31st March 31st March
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010
—T——F ZT-TF ZEENE Z%-%
EE=E=E EE=E—=F nNA—H EfETr=E ERET=E
Notes HKS’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
hizE FET FAET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(EE5) (EE5))
ASSETS B
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ER G 15 148,364 709,641 565,694 - —
Investment property REME 16 2,172 2183 2257 - —
Leasehold land under operating BERAETCRELIHR
leases and land use rights Tt RE 17 17,721 15,568 16,264 - =
Intangible assets BREE 18 394,946 582,049 583,161 - =
Interests in subsidiaries NP2 19 - = - 596,361 971,430
Available-for-sale financial assets MEHESRAE 21 2,109 3,008 1,357 - —
Deferred tax assets BERBEE 32 27,089 28,550 18,810 — =
Other non-current assets EthIEREEE 2 11,316 12,416 20,972 - =
603,717 1,353,415 1,208,515 596,361 971,430
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 5E 23 248,138 252,426 279,986 - —
Biological assets EEE 24 8,499 = - - =
Trade and other receivables BHRMTEREMEYTE 2 201,937 378,013 194,431 2,447 112
Subscription receivables REEYZA - - 13,000 - =
Non-current assets BELEZERBEE
held for sale - — 6,264 - —
Amount due from a subsidiary EUHBARRE 40(c) - — — 4,050 3,565
Amount due from a jointly- W EREHIBETE
controlled entity 40(d) - — — 2,875 4,043
Income tax recoverable REMEH - = 170 - —
Pledged bank deposits BEERTER 2% 96,416 84,381 58,552 - =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEER 2% 983,549 1,133,181 1,063,583 827,347 942,077
1,538,539 1,848,001 1,615,986 836,719 949,797
Total assets BEHAE 2,142,256 3,201,416 2,824,501 1,433,080 1,921,227




STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B %5 R &

31st March 201

—E——%=A=+—H

Group Company
PN N
31st March 31st March 1st April 31st March 31st March
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010
I “EThE 2% -3-%
EEE= MA—A =R=1+-H ERET=
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
hizE FET FET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(E=5) (EE5))
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to shareholders &2 AR REE
of the Company s
Share capital s 27 135,968 135,968 134,691 135,968 135,968
Reserves [ 28 1,378,675 1,870,967 1,792,386 1,206,281 1,784,109
1,514,643 2,006,935 1,927,077 1,342,249 1,920,077
Non-controlling interests FEHEER 4,416 3,237 3,438 - -
Total equity ERast 1,519,059 2,010,172 1,930,515 1,342,249 1,920,077
LIABILITIES af
Current liabilities RBEE
Borrowings BE 29 234,300 351,370 361,357 - —
Trade and other payables BIENTEREMERZE 30 365,313 695,334 361,483 1,461 1,150
Amount due to a subsidiary NG 40(c) - — — 89,370 —
Derivative financial instruments fTESRBIA 31 1,089 189 — - —
Income tax liabilities FEHAaE 4,517 20,326 3,267 - =
605,279 1,067,219 726,107 90,831 1,150
Non-current liabilities FrBaE
Borrowings 8 29 11,903 36,105 75,939 - —
Convertible bonds mHkES - — 18,267 - —
Deferred tax liabilities BRERBAE 32 545 14,493 13,792 - =
Retirement benefit obligations BRIAEHRE 33 - 62,834 48,926 - =
Derivative financial instruments ITESBIA 31 - 6,900 9,069 - —
Deferred income EERA 1,666 = — - =
Other non-current liabilities EtEraE 34 3,804 3,693 1,886 - =
17,918 124,025 167,879 - —
Total liabilities SE4E 623,197 1,191,244 893,986 90,831 1,150
Total equity and liabilities el 2,142,256 3,201,416 2,824,501 1,433,080 1,921,227
Net current assets RBEETHE 933,260 780,782 889,879 745,888 948,647
Total assets less current liabilities ~EEZBEARDHEE 1,536,977 2,134,197 2,098,394 1,342,249 1,920,077

Approved by the Board of Directors on 2nd June 2011:

Goran Sture Malm
Chairman and Executive Director
FERHTEE

R-ZE——FRABESEIHAE :

John Saliling

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

BITEFERTTHAREL
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31st March 2011 B —ZE——F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

KAFARRES
Non-controlling
Share capital Reserves Sub-total interests Total
ffe et FEHtER L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET FET FAT
(Note 28)
(Hiit28)
Balances at 1st April 2009 RZZTNENA—-A &4 134,691 1,792,386 1,927,077 3,438 1,930,515
Comprehensive income/(loss)  2EU#E / (F8)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREfl/ (BB) = 16,711 16,711 (475) 16,236
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 2 EH#/ (&)
Changes in fair value of available- FEEHESREE Y
for-sale financial assets: AREE — 1,575 1,575 - 1,575
Actuarial loss on retirement BRRHREZREER
benefit obligations — (653) (653) — (653)
Currency translation differences of SN Kz EBHEEE
foreign operations — 50,509 50,509 = 50,509
Total other comprehensive FREMEANRAE
income — 51,431 51,431 — 51,431
Total comprehensive income/  ERZERE/(HE)LE
(loss) for the year — 68,142 68,142 (475) 67,667
Conversion of convertible bonds ~ HBE#RES 1,217 18,723 20,000 — 20,000
Receipt of treasury shares WBERR = (12,941) (12.941) — (12,941
Disposal of treasury shares HEBFR = 4,657 4,657 — 4,657
Capital contribution from FEHIER T E
non-controlling interests — — — 274 274
Balances at 31st March 2010 and  R=E—-F#=A=1+—-HEK
at 1st April 2010 “T-TEMA-H R 135,968 1,870,967 2,006,935 3,237 2,010,172
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit for the year FRET - 21,892 21,892 425 22,317
Other comprehensive A2 Ehas (BE)
income/(loss)
Available-for-sale financial assets: A/t HELREE :
Changes in fair value AnEEE) - 244 244 - 244
Reclassification adjustments AL EMFARABERL
for gains included in the WaENHRAE
consolidated income
statement as a result of the
disposal - (676) (676) - (676)
Currency translation differences: ~ EM#EZ%E
Reclassification adjustments WL ERLREHE BT A
for exchange differences GeBak ELER
included in the BN EAE
consolidated income
statement upon the
disposal of a jointly-
controlled entity - 50,420 50,420 - 50,420
Currency translation differences  ENEBz EBHEZE
of foreign operations - (19,037) (19,037) 373 (18,664)
Total other comprehensive income  E 2 iz 4% - 30,951 30,951 373 31,324
Total comprehensive income FREANEAE
for the year - 52,843 52,843 798 53,641
Shares repurchase BERH - (1,264) (1,264) - (1,264)
Special dividend (note 13) BRI S A7z 13) - (543,871) (543,871) - (543,871)
Capital contribution from FEBIMERTE
non-controlling interests - - - 381 381
Balances at 31st March 2011 R-E—%=f=+-Hz
& 135,968 1,378,675 1,514,643 4,416 1,519,059




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

Year ended 31st March 2011 & —T——F=A=+—HILFE

2010
—E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hiat FET FET
(Restated)
(% 5E51)
Cash flows from operating activities EEXKHERE
Net cash flows from operations BEXGEEZRERE
R 89} 55,629 283,879
Interest paid [EERpAIESS (13,681) (28,836)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEEFNER (477) (512)
Mainland China enterprise income B AR B A T 3PS B
tax paid (2,585) (1,912)
Overseas income tax paid EEINTERE (8,574) (11,170)
Net cash flows from operating KEEBIEEZRERE
activities FE 30,312 241,449
Cash flows from investing activities REFEZHRERE
Additions of property, NEVE - BEREE
plant and equipment (39,719) (66,889)
Additions of leasehold land under AECEHEE NHELH
operating leases and Ko -3t {55 FA 4
land use rights (1,961) —
Additions of intangible assets NEEREE (249) (1,941)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments  FAfEZEE B,/ (1E0)
of construction costs (7,530) 580
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE  BEKK
plant and equipment 538 35 806
Proceeds from disposal of ﬁﬁﬂﬁiﬂjgﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁé
available-for-sale financial assets FT1S T 1,618 —
Proceeds from disposal of other HE ,Jﬁ#miﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ
non-current assets KIE — 53
Proceeds from disposal of a jointly- Hj & HEEHE R 25
controlled entity KIE 36 352,396 —
Interest received B HF S 6,016 5,937
Decrease/(increase) in time RUREERF R 2 HA R B A
deposits with original maturity = @A ZEBRFER
of more than three months when A (32hn)
acquired 172 (72)
Increase in pledged bank deposits ERMIRITERZIE N (12,035) (25,829)
Net cash flows from/(used in) WEERBEL, (EH)2
investing activities BT 298,743 (87,355)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

Year ended 31st March 2011 B —ZE——F=A=+—HIFE

2010
—E-EF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Hiat FET FET
(Restated)
(% 5E51)
Cash flows from financing activities BEZBHHERE
Receipt of subscription receivables U B 52 B R M SR IR — 13,000
Sale/(purchase) of treasury shares HE(BE)EFR (1,264) 4,657
Special dividend paid [EERESF:ATEISN (543,871) —
Capital contribution from FE4E I MR T B
non-controlling interests 381 274
New bank loans FTBRITER 949,005 954,264
Repayment of bank loans and ERBITERREERL
capital elements of finance BRES
leases (897,094) (1,061,120)
Net cash flows used in financing BMEFDAEACHERE
activities peitci (492,843) (88,925)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and RERBELEEERZ
cash equivalents #wm, CEd) (163,788) 65,169
Cash and cash equivalents FRzRERELEEER
at beginning of year 1,133,009 1,063,483
Effect of foreign exchange rate HMEERSB2HEFHE
changes, net 13,482 4,357
Cash and cash equivalents FRzBEERALEEER
at end of year 982,703 1,133,009
Analysis of balances of cash and REeRRLESEBERES
cash equivalents D
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHERE 26 497,822 916,258
Non-pledged time deposits with REUSERETEIEAR &
original maturity of three months =REA AT 2 A
or less when acquired TEHIFR 485,727 216,751
Bank overdrafts RITEX (846) —
982,703 1,133,009




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 75 3 B &

31st March 2011 —&E——%=A=+—H

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities (collectively, the

“Group”) are principally engaged in the following businesses:

o hi-tech distribution and services: trading of surface
mount technology (“SMT”) assembly equipment,
machinery and spare parts and the provision of related

installation, training, repair and maintenance services

for SMT assembly equipment;

. fishmeal and seafood product: refining and sale of
fish oil, processing and sale of fishmeal, manufacturing

and sale of aquatic feed products, aquaculture and

processing and sale of seafood;

. branded food: developing and operating Burger King

restaurants in Hong Kong and Macau;

° chemical: manufacturing and sale of polyester fiber,

PET resin and spandex (discontinued during the year);

and

. investment holding.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company under the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
and of its principal place of business is 11th Floor, The

Centrium, 60 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on The Growth

Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong

dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand

except when otherwise indicated.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by

the Company’s Board of Directors on 2nd June 2011.

—REHR

I ERBZEBRERAA(ARREF L) - EH
BRARAIRAREZEHNER (GBI AKE]DE
RRBATER

e BHREmIHENRRE : REKE
B ([SMT ) AAEKRE  HERE
BUEES - AREHSMTAERE
ZHEBRE  FIl - #EREER
7%

e AVRBEER: AHMBRLHE
S ANMIKREE  KEREE
mEEREE  KESHE - KEM
TRIHE

e mERm:RNEBRRMERRK
& Burger King &2 :

o kB RERBEBEME PET
B RBM @S (FRERIE) R

o  REER-

ARRABBEBEERE-—NN\—FRRER
BREGMKIZEREBER AR - H
=T fif 9% =5 Bz 2 ik & Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda ' MEEZ A XM AT BFIR
ERE60RFRESZ 1142

RRBIZEBBRRBEBEZZMBERA
B ([ B3 FT 1) B ZAR £

BB AN W FE SRR IAB T
B FEBESAEEREE TR -

ERBRRENR-Z——F ALK
ARRIESSHAETE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 201

—E——%=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation

of these financial statements are set out below. These policies

have been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated.

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"),
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the

accounting principles generally accepted

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for available-for-sale financial assets, biological assets
and derivative financial instruments, which have been
measured at fair value or fair value less costs to sell,

where appropriate.

The preparation of financial statements in conforming
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements:

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment

— Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment

HKFRS 2 Amendments

Transactions

2.

ERETBRAE

B EVBHRRRAZ T ERABRS

RN > BB HAIN

I ERREMZ

IZFBEENERER -

2.1

2.2

HEABRERDREBLSAA
g([EBEFMAE DRMZE
BHBREEN(TEEH B RELE
Al (BRAETEMBEREER
FREHEN(ERGHEND R
28 BELRETRARBAER
AEAI 2 RBEREMMmE - LFR
BHRRTIBRBEELRAEGRS
HAHLEESREE  £EVWEER
TESRMTAZAREBERRAER
HERARZEM)E -

RETET BV B RELER 2 U
BRFECAE THRESAE -
ENHEEEEERAASE S
BRBEPTEEAE - FRFE
HER A M 2 88 - S RE B
BHRERBERZBR LG 2HE
KT 4 4% 5E -

B BRERREEEZED

AEBEERAFEZHMBRREKX
R T ET RRIEFT BB R

EESIE

BEMBHEER BARHEEHFHEER
E1R(8ET)
ERABAEEN FEMBHREENE A REARF

F1RBE]  ABEUBHEEN — BX

FHEZBIGE LR

FRAHAEE  FEMERE RS 2RUKS
F2% AT X — EEN R

BURGZ 1225287
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31st March 2011 —E——&=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 Amendment

HKAS 39 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HKFRS 5 Amendments

included in Improvements

to HKFRSs issued in
October 2008

Improvements to HKFRSs
2009
HK Interpretation 4

Amendment

HK Interpretation 5

Business Combinations

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Classification of Rights Issues

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement - Eligible
Hedged Items

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations — Plan

to Sell the Controlling Interest in a Subsidiary

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in
May 2009

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases -
Determination of the Length of Lease Term in
respect of Hong Kong Land Leases

Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan

that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

Other than as further explained below regarding the
impact of HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27 (Revised),
amendments to HKAS 7 and HKAS 17 included in
Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 and HK Interpretation 4

(Revised in December 2009), the adoption of the new

and revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial

effect on these financial statements.

EESTERBMESE)
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FBgatEn HEREFIFRZ
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F39F 2B A8 — BEBINE

A2
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REZE9)
—REE1TH
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F5% 2B EZHERBEEREHL
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TREMZ2EE  AAZfRER B
ABEEEAZ
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised

HKFRSs are as follows:

()

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number
of changes in the accounting for business
combinations that affect the initial measurement
of non-controlling interests, the accounting
for transaction costs, the initial recognition
and subsequent measurement of a contingent
consideration and business combinations
achieved in stages. These changes will impact
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported
results in the period that an acquisition occurs,

and future reported results.

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of
control is accounted for as an equity transaction.
Therefore, such a change will have no impact
on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss.
Furthermore, the revised standard changes the
accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary
as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary.
Consequential amendments were made to
various standards, including, but not limited to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 12
Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates, HKAS 28 Investments
in Associates and HKAS 31 Interests in Joint

Ventures.

2.

EESTERBEE)
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2.

—E——%=A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

()

(i)

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements (continued)

The changes introduced by these revised
standards are applied prospectively and affect
the accounting of acquisitions, loss of control and
transactions with non-controlling interests after
1st April 2010.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May
2009 sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs. There are separate transitional provisions
for each standard. While the adoption of some of
the amendments results in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments has had a
significant financial impact on the Group. Details
of the key amendments most applicable to the

Group are as follows:

o HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Requires
that only expenditures that result in a
recognised asset in the statement of
financial position can be classified as a

cash flow from investing activities.

° HKAS 17 Leases: Removes the specific
guidance on classifying land as a lease. As
a result, leases of land should be classified
as either operating or finance leases in
accordance with the general guidance in
HKAS 17.

2.

EESTERBMEE)

22 EHBERKRESHZSH(E)

()

(ii)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B =

31st March 2011 —E2——F=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(i)

(continued)

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases —
Determination of the Length of Lease Term in
respect of Hong Kong Land Leases is revised
as a consequence of the amendment to HKAS
17 Leases included in Improvements to HKFRSs
2009. Following this amendment, the scope of
HK' Interpretation 4 has been expanded to cover
all land leases, including those classified as
finance leases. As a result, this interpretation is
applicable to all leases of property accounted
for in accordance with HKAS 16, HKAS 17 and
HKAS 40.

The Group has reassessed its leases in Hong
Kong and Mainland China, previously classified
as operating leases, upon the adoption of the
amendments. The classification of leases in
Mainland China remained as operating leases. As
substantially all the risks and rewards associated
with the leases in Hong Kong have been
transferred to the Group, the leases in Hong Kong
have been reclassified from operating leases

under “leasehold land under operating leases and

2.

EESTERBEE)

22 EHBERKRESHZSH(Z)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 2011 ZZ——F=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

EZESTHRBER)

22 EHBRERKBBIEZISEH(E)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(%)

HE - HEREHETEEHHHE
RITE - N EEH) 2 2P
m

(ii)  (continued) (ii)

land use rights” to finance leases under “property,
plant and equipment”. The corresponding
amortisation has also been reclassified to
depreciation. The effects of the above changes

are summarised below:

Consolidated income statement for the year ended

BE=H="1—HIFEZH

31st March BEm &
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Decrease in amortisation of KEHEE T HE
leasehold land under operating b & b A
leases and land use rights SR (152) (153)
Increase in depreciation of property, ¥% - M= M RIBITE
plant and equipment )l 152 153

VS TN=E k=N O

Consolidated statement of financial position as at

31st March 31st March 1st April
2010 2009
—Z-TF ZTThF
=A=1+—H MA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Decrease in leasehold land under REMEE T HEL
operating leases and land use rights Hh J (5 AR (5,176) (5,328) (5,481)
Increase in property, plant and Y% - BB Rk
equipment 5,176 5,328 5,481
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

EESTERBEE)

22 EHBERKRESHZSH(Z)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

60

Demand Clause

The interpretation requires a term loan that
contains a clause that gives the lender the
unconditional right to call the loan at any time
shall be classified in total by the borrower as
current in the statement of financial position. This
is irrespective of whether a default event has
occurred and notwithstanding any other terms and
maturity stated in the loan agreement. Prior to the
adoption of this interpretation, the Group’s term
loans were classified in the statement of financial
position as non-current liabilities based on the
maturity date of repayment. The interpretation has
been applied by the Group retrospectively and

comparative amounts have been restated. The

(continued)

(iiij) HK Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial (iii) BEEREESHUBHRZZZE
Statements — Classification by the Borrower 5 — EHANHCEHELRE
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on IR 2 ERH B 75

ZRBHAE  mEHERPE
BH TERA BRI R ] BE
BERKERER G &E
RABERAERBEARRE T
EHOBRRBEAR - MW
EREBRLEEOEN - T TE
ERpET 2R AR EAE
RRREIBH - RERAZR
Ba > ARBEZBARERTIE
REEE - EFBRRKRF D
BRIERDAEE - AEEDE
PEAZZE  YEEIER
T BRRZREHLEMH
BRZFEGMNT

g effects of the application of the interpretation on

E these financial statements are summarised below:

o

> 31st March 31st March 1st April
4 2011 2010 2009
> SISl = -Tmaf
o =A=t-A |EEaaE mA—A
2 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
g FHT FHAT FHT
g Current liabilities REBEE

,‘f Increase in borrowings fEEE M 34,318 14,563 —
£

=

u Non-current liabilities FRBEE

ﬁ Decrease in borrowings EERD (34,318) (14,563) —
zfa-g There was no impact on the net assets of the NREBZEEFEINTZE -
E Group. Further details of the Group’s borrowings NEFEENE — S EREF
E‘r are disclosed in note 29 to the financial FEIRRMIzE 29 R

S statements.

all
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

Due to the retrospective application of the amendments
to HK Interpretation 4 and HK Interpretation 5
which have resulted in the restatement of items in
the consolidated statement of financial position, a
consolidated statement of financial position as at
1st April 2009, and the related notes affected by the
amendments have been presented in these financial
statements in accordance with HKAS 1 (Revised)

Presentation of Financial Statements.

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Limited exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters'

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed

Dates for First-time Adopters®

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets’
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendment to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets’

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures’

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

Amendments

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of a
Minimum Funding Requirement’

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity

Instruments'

2.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1st July 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st July 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2012

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2013

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 which sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording.
The amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July 2010,
whereas the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1,
HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1st January 2011 although
there are separate transitional provisions for each
standard.

Further information about those changes that are
expected to significantly affect the Group is as follows:

(i HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first
part of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to
entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. This phase
focuses on the classification and measurement of
financial assets. Instead of classifying financial
assets into four categories, an entity shall classify
financial assets as subsequently measured at
either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis
of both the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual cash
flow characteristics of the financial assets. This
aims to improve and simplify the approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets

compared with the requirements of HKAS 39.
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31st March 201
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

(i)

(continued)

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions
to HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the
“Additions”) and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the
current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions
were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39,
while changes were made to the measurement of
financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”).
For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change
in the fair value of a liability that is attributable to
changes in credit risk must be presented in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder
of the change in fair value is presented in the
income statement, unless presentation of the fair
value change in respect of the liability’s credit
risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in the income statement. All other
requirements in HKAS 39 in respect of liabilities
are carried forward into HKFRS 9. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts
which have been designated under the FVO are

scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9
in its entirety. Before this entire replacement,
the guidance in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting
and impairment of financial assets continues to
apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from
1st April 2013.
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31st March 2011 —E——&=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

(i)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in
May 2010 sets out amendments to a number
of HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1st April 2011. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments
may result in changes in accounting policies,
none of these amendments are expected to
have a significant financial impact on the Group.
Those amendments that are expected to have a
significant impact on the Group’s policies are as

follows:

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies
that the amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS 32
and HKAS 39 that eliminate the exemption
for contingent consideration do not apply
to contingent consideration that arose from
business combinations whose acquisition
dates precede the application of HKFRS 3
(as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendments limit the
measurement choice of non-controlling
interests at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets to components of non-controlling
interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation. Other components
of non-controlling interests are measured
at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by
another HKFRS.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

(if)

(Continued)

The amendments also added explicit
guidance to clarify the accounting treatment
for non-replaced and voluntarily replaced

share-based payment awards.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements: Clarifies that an analysis of
other comprehensive income for each
component of equity can be presented
either in the statement of changes in equity

or in the notes to the financial statements.

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements: Clarifies that the
consequential amendments from HKAS
27 (as revised in 2008) made to HKAS 21,
HKAS 28 and HKAS 31 shall be applied
prospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after 1st July 2009 or earlier if HKAS

27 is applied earlier.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment

of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon

initial application. So far, the Group considers that

except for the adoption of HKFRS 9 that may result in

changes in accounting policies, these new and revised

HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on the

Group'’s results of operations and financial position.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
and jointly-controlled entities for the year ended
31st March 2011.

subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities are prepared

The financial statements of the

for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar

accounting policies that may exist.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-
controlling interest even if that results in a deficit

balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity

transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in the income
statement. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to the income statement or retained profits,

as appropriate.
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31st March 201

2.

—E——%=A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have

been applied on a prospective basis. The following

differences, however, are carried forward in certain

instances from the previous basis of consolidation:

(a)

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests (formerly
known as minority interests), prior to 1st April
2010, were accounted for using the parent entity
extension method, whereby the differences
between the consideration and the book value
of the share of the net assets acquired were

recognised in goodwill.

Losses incurred by the Group were attributed
to the non-controlling interest until the balance
was reduced to nil. Any further excess losses
were attributable to the parent, unless the non-
controlling interest had a binding obligation to
cover these. Losses prior to 1st April 2010 were
not reallocated between non-controlling interest

and the parent shareholders.

Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the
investment retained at its proportionate share of
net asset value at the date control was lost. The
carrying amount of such investment at 1st April

2010 has not been restated.
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and
operating policies the Company controls, directly
or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its

activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s income statement to the extent
of dividends received and receivable. The
Company'’s interests in subsidiaries that are not
classified as held for sale in accordance with
HKFRS 5 are stated at cost less any impairment

losses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Basis of consolidation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Jointly-controlled entities

The Group’s investments in jointly-controlled
entities are accounted for by proportionate
consolidation. The Group combines its share of
the jointly-controlled entities’ individual income
and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash
flows on a line-by-line basis with similar items
in the Group’s financial statements. The Group
recognises the portion of gains or losses on
the sale of assets by the Group to the jointly-
controlled entities that it is attributable to the other
venturers. The Group does not recognise its share
of profits or losses from the jointly-controlled
entities that result from the Group’s purchase
of assets from the jointly-controlled entities until
it resells the assets to an independent party.
However, a loss on the transaction is recognised
immediately if the loss provides evidence of a
reduction in the net realisable value of current

assets, or an impairment loss.
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations from 1st April 2010

Business combinations are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date
fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the
acquirer measures the non-controlling interest
in the acquiree either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as

incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Basis of consolidation (continued)

(c)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations from 1st April 2010
(continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date
through the income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration which is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 39 either in the income
statement or as a change to other comprehensive
income. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured
until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the net identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in the income statement as a gain on bargain
purchase.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(c)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations from 1st April 2010

(continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31st March. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those

units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of
the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on
disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of
in this circumstance is measured based on the
relative values of the operation disposed of and

the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(c)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations prior to 1st April 2010

In comparison to the above-mentioned
requirements which were applied on a prospective
basis, the following differences applied to

business combinations prior to 1st April 2010:

Business combinations were accounted for using
the purchase method. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition formed part of the
acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest
was measured at the proportionate share of the

acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were
accounted for as separate steps. Any additional
acquired share of interest did not affect previously

recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded
derivatives separated from the host contract by
the acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition
unless the business combination resulted in
a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise

would have been required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and
only if, the Group had a present obligation, the
economic outflow was more likely than not and a
reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent
adjustments to the contingent consideration were

recognised as part of goodwill.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

25

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parities
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture
operates as a separate entity in which the Group and

the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits or losses from the joint venture’s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by
the venturers, either in proportion to their respective
capital contributions, or in accordance with the terms of

the joint venture agreement.
A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control,

directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not
have unilateral control, but has joint control,

directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral
control or joint control, but holds, directly or
indirectly, generally not less than 20% of the joint
venture’s registered capital and is in a position
to exercise significant influence over the joint

venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or
indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and has neither joint control of,
nor is in a position to exercise significant influence

over, the joint venture.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Related parties

2.7

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or

more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Group;
(ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has

joint control over the Group;

the party is an associate;
the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any

individual referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual

referred to in (d) or (e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any

entity that is a related party of the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent

with the internal reporting provided to the chief

operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-

maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and

assessing performance of the operating segments, has

been identified as the Executive Directors who makes

strategic decisions.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”),
which is the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income

statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated income statement
within “finance income or costs”. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
income statement within “other income and gains”
and “general and administrative expenses”,

respectively.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the
income statement as part of the fair value gain
or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets such as equities classified as
available for sale are included in the investment

revaluation reserve in equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(c) Group’s entities

The results and financial position of all the entities
within the Group (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation

currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities in the statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of the reporting

period;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of

the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are

recognised as a separate component of
equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is
partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that
were recorded in equity are recognised in the income

statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the

items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income statement during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to write off
their costs to their residual values over their estimated

useful lives, as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Leasehold land under finance  Over the lease terms
lease
Buildings 20 to 50 years
Leasehold improvements 3 to 25 years
Furniture and fixtures and 3 to 10 years

office equipment
Motor vehicles 3 to 6 years
Plant and machinery and 3 to 10 years

demonstration equipment

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. It is not depreciated
until completion of construction and the asset is
available for use. The cost of completed construction
works is transferred to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in

accordance with the policy as stated above.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are

recognised in the income statement.
Investment property

Property that is held for long term rental yields or for
capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by

the Group, is classified as investment property.

Investment property is carried at cost including related
transaction costs, less accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method
to write off the cost of the investment property over
its estimated useful life. Where the carrying amount of
an investment property is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its

recoverable amount.

Subsequent expenditure is included in the asset’'s
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed in the income statement during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it
is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and its
carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes

its deemed cost for accounting purposes.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11

Leasehold land under operating leases and land use
rights

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases
are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire
lease payments are included in the cost of the land
and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and

equipment.
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

The acquired trademarks and licences, non-compete
agreements, distribution agreements, customer
relationships, technology knowhow, and development
rights and franchises are shown at historical cost.
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value
as at the date of acquisition. The Group’s intangible
assets have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated

impairment losses.

Amortisation of trademarks and licences, non-compete
agreements, distribution agreements, customer
relationships, technology knowhow, development rights
and franchises and computer software licences is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the

cost over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Customer relationships 3 to 4 years

Trademarks and licences 9 to 15 years

Technology knowhow 6 to 10 years

Distribution agreements 3 years
Development rights and franchise fees 10 years
Computer software licences 3 to 6 years
Non-compete agreements, included 5 to 6 years

in others
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.14

2.15

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and non-

financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or have not yet
been available for use are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of impairment at each

reporting date.
Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for
sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is
considered highly probable. All assets and liabilities
of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the
Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale. They are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their
carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a

sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury
shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the income
statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation
of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference
between the carrying amount and the consideration is

recognised in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out method or weighted average method. The cost
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Biological assets

Biological assets are measured at their fair value less
costs to sell. The fair value of the biological assets
is determined with reference to the market prices for
similar assets. A gain or loss arising on initial recognition
of the biological assets at fair value less costs to sale
and from a change in fair value less costs to sell of the
biological assets is included in the income statement for
the period in which it arises.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less accumulated
impairment losses.

A provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
all the amounts due according to the original terms
of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency
in payments are considered as indicators that the
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. When
a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account for receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
to the income statement.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Financial assets

2.19.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the

following categories: at fair value through profit

or loss,

loans and receivables and available-for-

sale. The classification depends on the purpose

for which the financial assets were acquired.

Management determines the classification of its

financial assets at initial recognition.

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are financial assets held for trading.
A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this

category are classified as current assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise
“trade and other receivables” and “cash
and cash equivalents” in the statement of

financial position.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHEHBESE)
POLICIES (continued)
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2.19 Financial assets (continued)

2.19.1 Classification (continued)
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(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivative that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless management intends to
dispose of the investment within 12 months

of the end of the reporting period.

2.19.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the investments have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised

cost using the effective interest method.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency and classified
as available for sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes
in amortised cost of the securities and other
changes in the carrying amount of the securities.
The translation differences on monetary securities
are recognised in profit or loss, while translation
differences on non-monetary securities are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available for sale

are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Financial assets (continued)

2.19.2 Recognition and measurement (continued)

When securities classified as available for sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in

the income statement.

The fair values of quoted investments are based
on current bid prices. If the market for a financial
asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the
Group establishes fair value by using valuation
techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s
length transactions, reference to other instruments
that are substantially the same, a discounted cash
flow analysis, and option pricing models, making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little

as possible on entity-specific inputs.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that

a financial asset or a group of financial assets

s impaired. A significant or prolonged decline

n the fair value of the securities below its cost

s considered as an indicator that the securities

are impaired. If any such evidence exists for
available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative
losses — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss — is
removed from equity and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses recognised
in the income statement on equity instruments are

not reversed through the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Financial liabilities

2.20.1 Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39
are classified as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or
as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and in the case of loans and borrowings,
plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, derivative financial instruments
and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

2.20.2 Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends

on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the income statement. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in the income
statement does not include any interest charged
on these financial liabilities.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

EESTERBMEE)

220 SREEE)

2202 H#&8 (&)

2.20 Financial liabilities (continued)

2.20.2 Subsequent measurement (continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans
and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income
statement when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate method

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the

income statement.

2.20.3 Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or

cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the income

statement.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Financial liabilities (continued)

2.20.4 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the

liabilities simultaneously.

2.20.5 Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that
are traded in active markets is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price
quotations (bid price for long positions and ask
price for short positions), without any deduction
for transaction costs. For financial instruments
where there is no active market, the fair value
is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions; reference to the
current market value of another instrument which
is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow

analysis; and option pricing models.

2.21 Derivative financial instruments

The Group’s derivative financial instrument do not
qualify for hedge accounting. They are initially
recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their
fair value. Changes in the fair value of these derivative
financial instruments are recognised immediately in the

income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22

2.23

2.24

2.25

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or

less, and bank overdrafts.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits which are not
restricted as to use. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of

financial position.
Share capital

Ordinary shares and non-redeemable preference shares

are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Trade and other
payables are repayable upon the receipt of invoices and

credit terms granted by suppliers are up to 90 days.

Borrowings
Borrowings other than convertible bonds

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest

method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25

2.26

Borrowings (continued)
Borrowings other than convertible bonds (continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the

facilities to which they relate.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the

reporting period.
Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

The income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations
are subject to interpretation and establish provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to

be paid to the tax authorities.

2.

EESTERBEE)

2.25

2.26

BE (&)
RKEFUSZEE(E)

HEDREMERBERAIET R
%H'Wﬂiﬂé%iﬁZ%%ﬁ
RBRRZHMA - EIIBERT - % B

RARLERE BEEERERA
ko EBBRBAL DX RE
RATRERBIRER - RIZIBEREXR

Ttﬂzﬁjum@jéi%ﬁ,z%ﬁﬂ—f«ﬂ\
WA AR E AR 8N o

BRIEREEREGEHEMNSEEEZ
HERTEERBMBAREBERD12(E
A - TE'Hji%A*Ei%/ML@Jﬁ{E °

EfRIEEFEHEA

HAZRBAXHEEE B RRER
B RERIAN B RFER - MM
HEPRNEMEmRaBEEZRN a8
HRZEBEERRI - ELER
T BB B E b 2 E K
B BN ERER o

M HRBEAREZERER
EERRBBAZBERR B RIR
E%ﬁﬁf%%%Zﬁ%%%%

BB E R MR R
ﬁ@Z%ﬁm%ﬂﬁﬁM%Z#

o WHEERBR TREBEHAR
TRISHE RIS 2 B ARER T 48



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 75 3 B &

31st March 201

2.

—E——%=A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred

income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax

liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be

available against which the temporary differences can

be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable

that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.
2.27 Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlement to annual leave and long
service leave is recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as

a result of services rendered by employees up to

the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlement to sick leave and maternity

leave is not recognised until the time of leave.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in defined contribution
plans except for a jointly-controlled entity where it

operates a defined benefit plan.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays contributions to
state/trustee-administered funds on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised

as employment costs when they are due.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is
not a defined contribution plan. Typically, defined
benefit plans define an amount of pension benefits
that an employee will receive on retirement,
usually dependent on one or more factors such as

age, years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the statement of
financial position in respect of defined benefit
plans is the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period
less the fair value of plan assets, together with
adjustments for unrecognised past-service costs.
The defined benefit obligation is calculated
annually by independent actuaries using the
projected unit credit method. The present value
of the defined benefit obligation is determined
by discounting the estimated future cash outflow,
using interest rates of high-quality corporate
bonds that are denominated in the currency in
which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the

related pension liability.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

EESTERBMEE)

2.27 Employee benefits (continued) 2.27 EERF#E)

(b) Pension obligations (continued)

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are charged or credited to equity in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they

arise.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in
the income statement, unless the changes to the
pension plan are conditional on the employees
remaining in service for a specified period of time
(the vesting period). In this case, the past-service
costs are amortised on the straight-line basis over

the vesting period.
(c) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses. It recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a
past practice that has created a constructive

obligation.

2.28 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount

has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in

the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as

interest expense.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.29 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration

received or receivable for the sale of goods and

services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, rebates and

discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

Revenue is recognised on the following bases:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Sales revenue

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
when a group entity has delivered products to
the customer, and the customer has accepted
the products and collectability of the related
receivables is reasonably assured or when
significant risks and rewards of ownership of

goods have passed to the buyer.

Commission, service and management fee

income

Commission, service and management fee income
is recognised when the services are rendered, by
reference to completion of the specific transaction
assessed on the basis of the actual services
provided as a proportion of the total services to

be provided.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion

basis using the effective interest method.
Rental income

Rental income is recognised on the straight-line

basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Advance payments received from customers prior to

the delivery of goods and the provision of services are

recorded as receipts in advance.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.30

2.31

2.32

2.33

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to
the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the
grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant

asset by equal annual instalments.
Operating leases (as the lessee)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the income statement on the

straight-line basis over the period of the leases.
Operating leases (as the lessor)

Assets leased out under operating leases are included
in property, plant and equipment in the statement of
financial position. They are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on a basis consistent with
similar property, plant and equipment. Rental income
is recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease

term.
Finance leases (as the lessor)

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the
present value of the lease payments is recognised as a
receivable. The difference between the gross receivable
and the present value of the receivable is recognised as

unearned finance income.

Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease
using the net investment method, which reflects a

constant periodic rate of return.
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2.

—E——%=A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.34

2.35

Finance leases (as the lessee)

The Group leases certain property, plant and
equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment
where the Group has acquired substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the leases’
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased properties and the present value of the minimum

lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate
on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in other short term and other long term payables. The
interest element of the finance costs is charged to
the income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
Leased assets are depreciated using the straight-line

basis over their expected useful lives to residual values.
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part
of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are
charged to the income statement in the period in which

they are incurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.36

2.37

Financial guarantees

A financial guarantee (a kind of insurance contract) is
a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the original or modified
terms of a debt instrument. The Group does not
recognise liabilities for financial guarantees at inception,
but performs a liability adequacy test at the end of each
reporting period by comparing its net liability regarding
the financial guarantee with the amount that would be
required if the financial guarantee would result in a
If the liability
is less than its present legal or constructive obligation

present legal or constructive obligation.
amount, the entire difference is recognised in the

income statement immediately.
Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Group uses derivative

financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.
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2.36

2.37

PR

BBER(-ERREN) RTFESR
HAEREEMNRK - AERMIFEA
RS EEBARERBEFTLAZ
JR TE S AR A& AT 16 30 A2 B B B A SR AT
EEBRZAEN AKBETERY
BERFAEEEILEE  ESES
RHRARGEMBERBEFR
HAPKEREBERBERIHEE
BEERAAZSBELLE - OB

AABZRREE - HWABERR
BERRETEETSHE  RBREE
BN AERERAMER o

IR 25K
DIKFARBBRRZBERAR

AR SR AL A R B 2 B R A RS Zli‘il&

ARBZHBEHRENERREE -

B 76 L b IR

3.1 HEEBREZE
REBZEHAZEZRETBE
% minRR(EEESERR - AR
B 7 2= = b - fﬁ%iﬁiﬂﬁﬂﬁ“&
1ET%EL|§£AR) ;f)f //|u§)j§i

& o $%l%§‘&fﬂﬁfﬁgﬁﬁéwﬁ
HRBNBRZ BT W:J:,ﬁz
LR EE G BERBETF 7
g- $‘$I7F‘Jﬁﬁ?ﬁ$$mﬁ1ﬁ%#ﬁﬂ
ETEE -

| %% 140434 IVNNNY

LL/0L0C



(27 E X 5 9F a3 LINIT SONIATOH J1931VHLS VISY HLHON

96

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B =

31st March 201

3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

Risk management is carried out by the finance
department of the Company under policies approved
by the Board of Directors. The finance department
identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in
close co-operation with the Group’s operating units.
The Board of Directors provides written principles for
overall risk management, as well as written policies
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial
instruments and non-derivative financial instruments,

and investment of excess liquidity.
(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and other Asia Pacific regions and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to United States dollars (the
“US dollar”), Japanese Yen, and RMB.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities and net investments in foreign

operations.

Management has set up a policy to require
entities within the Group to manage
their foreign exchange risk against
their functional currency. To manage
their foreign exchange risk arising from
future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities, entities
within the Group use forward contracts.
Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised
assets or liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional

currency.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

()

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed
to foreign currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group’s foreign operations is managed
primarily through borrowings denominated

in the relevant foreign currencies.

The Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the
US dollar at a range of rates between 7.75
and 7.85, the foreign exchange exposure
between the US dollar and the Hong Kong
dollar is therefore limited.

At 31st March 2011, if Japanese Yen had
weakened/strengthened by 20% against the
Hong Kong dollar with all other variables
held constant, profit for the year would have
been HK$8,276,000 higher/lower (2010:
profit of HK$6,903,000 higher/lower), mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of Japanese Yen denominated
trade payables and trade receivables.
Equity would have been HK$422,000 lower/
higher (2010: HK$601,000 lower/higher),
arising mainly from foreign exchange
losses/gains on translation of Japanese Yen
denominated equity securities classified as

available for sale.
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31st March 201

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

()

(if)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

At 31st March 2011, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 20% against the Hong
Kong dollar with all other variables held
constant, gain for the year would have
been HK$900,000 higher/lower (2010: gain
of HK$2,035,000 higher/lower), mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of RMB denominated trade

receivables and trade payables.

At 31st March 2011, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 20% against the Hong
Kong dollar with all other variables
held constant, equity would have been
HK$15,110,000 higher/lower (2010:
HK$7,614,000 higher/lower), arising mainly
from foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of RMB denominated trade

receivables, trade payables and borrowings.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk arising from its available-for-sale
financial assets. The Group is not exposed

to commodity price risk.

The available-for-sale financial assets
are mainly listed equity instruments in
Japan and if the fair value of these equity
instruments increased or decreased by
5%, the Group’s equity would have been
increased or decreased by approximately
HK$105,000 (2010: HK$150,000).
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(if)

(i)

Price risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to financial risks
arising from changes in prices of fish and
abalone. The Group does not anticipate
that the fish and abalone prices will decline
significantly in the foreseeable future and,
therefore, has not entered into derivative
or other contracts to manage the risk of
a decline in fish and abalone prices. The
Group reviews its outlook for fish and
abalone prices regularly in considering the

need for active financial risk management.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets except for cash and cash
equivalents and pledged bank deposits,
the income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in

market interest rates.

The cash and cash equivalents and pledged
bank deposits are interest-bearing at
floating rate and expose the Group to the

cash flow interest rate risk.

The interest rate risk from financial liabilities
arises from borrowings. Borrowings that are
subject to variable rates expose the Group

to cash flow interest rate risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) ~ Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

At 31st March 2011, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, profit for the year would have
been HK$1,629,000 lower/higher (2010:
HK$2,607,000 lower/higher), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating rate borrowings.

3.
3.1
(a) Market risk (continued)
(continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
pledged bank deposits, trade receivables and
certain other receivables.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to customers with an appropriate
financial strength and appropriate percentage
of down payment. It also has other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
regularly reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual receivable to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk, with exposure spread

over a number of counterparties and customers.

The carrying amount of the receivables included
in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to these financial assets. The
credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances is
considered by the Group to be minimal as the bank
balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

No credit limits were exceeded during the
reporting period, and management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by
counterparties. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and
the ability to close out market positions. Due to
the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group maintains flexibility in funding by
maintaining availability under committed credit

lines.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s
business, the Group ensures that it maintains
sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity

requirements.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash
equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.

Specifically, for term loans which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be
exercised at the bank’s sole discretion, the
analysis shows the cash outflow based on
the earliest period in which the entity can be
required to pay, that is if the lenders were to
invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans
with immediate effect. The maturity analysis for
other bank borrowings is prepared based on the

scheduled repayment dates.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.

3.1

—E——%=A=+—H

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

MBEEREREE)
3.1 BIBEBERE)

Liquidity risk (continued) (c) FEELEREE)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TRIUABRBHEARESLREAE
liabilities and net-settled derivative financial ZHEISGEHE AEE  BALEEH
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based SRBERFEAETESRE
on the remaining period at the end of the reporting BHETHEBE ZEH2 B o
period to the contractual maturity date. The KO ERETIAEES LK
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual BHIRIEmE
undiscounted cash flows.
On
demand or Between Between
less than 1and 2 2and5 Over 5
1 year years years years Total
1EHUR 122% 2255 BB5F ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
At 31st March 2011 RZZ-——-F
=A=1-H
Borrowings EE 239,007 3,101 10,239 — 252,347
Derivative financial instruments fTESBMIA 1,089 - - - 1,089
Trade and other payables BHRNTIER
HiENTIA 365,313 - - - 365,313
605,409 3,101 10,239 - 618,749
At 31st March 2010 RZZ-FF
=RA=+-H
Borrowings (restated) BE(EE3]) 362,195 3,620 37,272 = 403,087
Derivative financial instruments IS IA 189 6,900 - - 7,089
Trade and other payables BHEMNFER
HiENTIR 695,334 — — — 695,334
1,057,718 10,520 37,272 = 1,105,510
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net cash divided by total capital.
Net cash comprises of total borrowings (including
“current and non-current borrowings” as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position), and
convertible bonds less pledged bank deposits, and
cash and cash equivalents. Total capital represents
“equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of

financial position plus net cash.

During the year ended 31st March 2011, the Group’s
strategy, which was unchanged from last year, was to
maintain net cash position. The net cash positions at

31st March 2011 and 2010 were analysed as follows:

3.

BRRBEER %)

3.2

EXEpER

AEBEREAZ AR ARER
SEENERRERBELEEEL
& DARIE IR R B 3R R E b B R A
#? UREREE ZERNRBER D
BARKA ©
REFRFARBREARRE  AKHEA
HAERMNERZEE  BRRZER
El#k - BTHROIA/RSBEM
HEEBEFHA
MEMRAE % AEENEES
BHEERERER BEAFGL
KIRFRSBIAREARGTE - FH
TERABE(BREAMBNARE
ez IREBEIERBER]) - AT
BEFREERRITEIARR S
EEEEEER - REXEEAY
BN RAE 2 [ s I EFRE

BE_T——F=HA=+—HIF
B AEBRAEFZRE  #F

EEHERA —E——FN_F—
TE=ZF=1+—HZFRERRD
MR :

2010

—E-EF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Borrowings (note 29) BB (HE29) 246,203 387,475

Less: Cash and cash equivalents and & BRe kR EMEEE

pledged bank deposits AR B IR ERIT R

(note 26) (Bt 26) 1,079,965 1,217,562

Net cash eisizhey 833,762 830,087
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3.3

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. UHEMERE®

Fair value estimation 3.3 2AREME

Effective 1st April 2009, the Group adopted the H-_ZZNFONA—BiE A5&H

amendment to HKFRS 7 for financial instruments that REAAEBRVBRAKRTEZ S

are measured in the statement of financial position B T BB SIS R E 7 95

at fair value, this requires disclosure of fair value ZAEE] - BRI BRI T ARE

measurements by level of the following fair value AEER - DBBBEARBELE
measurement hierarchy:

0 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for . FRiEEENABEEETRMS L
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). ZRECREHAE) (FRl—) °

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within J BEEAMERER) S H D
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, EBREEHB)FEAGRRR —
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that FRENIINZAIBREERA
is, derived from prices) (level 2). BEE(RAI=) -

. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based o ERIFFERATBRRMISEER 2
on observable market data (that is, unobservable EEXBBEHEGEITAIEHER
inputs) (level 3). HIR) (ARHI=) -

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets TRERTEER-_ZE——F=H

and liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31st =S+ —HRAABEFEZCEREE

March 2011: REE :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
WAI— A= HEI= @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Assets {3
Available-for-sale financial assets ATt HESREE
— Equity securities — RAEH 2,109 - - 2,109

Total assets EEAR 2,109 — - 2,109

Liabilities 8

Financial liabilities at fair value BARESIRITAE

through profit or loss nEREZSREE
— Derivative financial —TESRBIA
instruments — 1,089 — 1,089
Total liabilities SEH8E - 1,089 - 1,089
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MBERRERE®)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 2AREMEFE)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FR - BB —RER =2 HEE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2. fAIARBEFE 28R -
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets TRINHBZE -E—ZTF=ZA=1+—
and liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31st BeAREfEZAEBRcHEE
March 2010: kafE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
WA= 0 mAl= st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FAT FAT
Assets BE
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ A/t ELRERE
— Equity securities — RAESH 3,006 — 2 3,008
Total assets EENAE 3,006 — 2 3,008
Liabilities af
Financial liabilities at fair value BARESIRITAE
through profit or loss mREs AR
— Derivative financial —TEERIA
instruments — 189 6,900 7,089
Total liabilities =Rt — 189 6,900 7,089

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the end
of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group,
pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. These instruments are included
in level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise
primarily listed equity investments classified as trading

securities or available for sale.

ERBERMENEBEZERTA
ZARE RERRBARBRZ TS
WESHE - WRE ATRER K EHA
R 5B B FHE
B EERGREEERBNG - Mm
ZEBERREZIFRUIEREE
HMBLEZMERS > AZMEER
BREE AEBERAZEREE
RAZTSRE/RITITHE
A ZETERMAER— - A
ZA—2ITEAFZZREIERRS
BEHRHAHEEZ ETRAKRE -

| %% 140434 IVNNNY

LL/0L0C

105



278 B X =2 T 9F dILINIT SONIATOH JI1931VHLS VISV HLHON

106

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% R MY EE

31st March 201

3.

—E——%=A=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. If
one or more of the significant inputs are not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in

level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial

instruments include:

o Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments.
o The fair value of forward foreign exchange

contracts is determined using forward exchange
rates at the end of the reporting period, with the

resulting value discounted back to present value.

° Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow
analysis, are used to determine fair value for the

remaining financial instruments.

The movement in fair value measurements in level 3

during the year is as follows:

3.

BERREREE)
3.3 AREMHHE)

WHERKRERMBENEBE Z S @
TAMBWMBIINMTIETR) Z AR
B REABEERDLEE %5 H
BT 2 F A A 8753 45 #UE (40
) BOERBEEZEEMGEE o W
FTEeRmIAARBEMHEZAMEE
AEBEAAEREE - ZITER
ABBIZ o i —IBIA EBREBIE
WIERAT BRI EHE - AIZT
BEMALRI= °

AASERTAETHEZREM

ERTERE

e HBUTAZMEHREXXRHE

o EBHINESHZARERER
HRZEHEXREE  EE
EERRMBIE -

o  HMEIT MERREARED
i AABEESRESBITAZ

AV

FARRN =22 nEFEZSHNT

2010
—E-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Derivative equity instrument: fTEEMIA:

At the beginning of the reporting period R ERFRHI 6,900 9,069
Gain recognised in the income statement NEzEXRFER 2 W (6,900) (3,816)

Exchange realignment loss recognised MBI ERMER 2 [E 5 %
in the income statement 518 — 1,647
At the end of the reporting period REFRERR — 6,900
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are

based on historical experience and other factors, including

expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the

future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,

seldom reflect the related actual results. The estimates that

have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year are discussed below.

4.1

4.2

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of
similar nature and functions. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, where it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives; and actual
residual values may differ from estimated residual
values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and therefore
depreciation expense in the future periods.

Goodwill impairment assessment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in note 2.13 to the financial statements. For
the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
has been allocated to individual cash-generating units
which are reviewed for impairment based on forecast
operating performance and cash flows. The recoverable
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value in use calculations. Cash
flow projections are prepared on the basis of reasonable
assumptions reflective of prevailing and future market

conditions, and are discounted appropriately.

BT R A

AEEREBERRLAMAR(BEESR
AREGEBATHESLRZEMH)FHE
BFTIE 2 fhat R AT ETTRIE

AEBHRRELGEFRBR - AB2E
AHEFTIEER  ROGRBEEREG
R RARBEZAH T —EHRFEZ
BEMBBZREAEFLERRBEZ
AIFRIAT e

41 ME -BERRBUREREEZ
AfERFEHRRERERE

AEBEEEBEEEYE  BENM
REARBLEEZ AT AIEREF
- FerEERARTERS - 1t
A IRBEEUEE R 2D
X BEMREAREVEEZE
BRI e AFEH 2B ERREL o i
AERFHRRERMGHFHRAE
AlEEEERMTERS - Lal
HERMBR D ERIHE 2 RINER
KRB EE - EREEFHA 6
BAF A ERFEHTR : mEERER
HREENEE[FRBEERTR -
TE B R AT S BOR] 4 AR H N R g
EEFE  HmRERKAR T
B -

4.2 BHEREFME

AEBERBEMERKRMT213MHE
ZEFHBE BFAABNEAL L
WAEMRE - SUREREANS - f
WEBEDDEEEFIREELSE
iz - MABEMDREBERNLEER
RAEREREETRER - BE
FHEELBM 2 IRESETIIZ
FEREEAEZET RERER
AT RRBITRARRT I ZE
BERLAELFEETRRERER o
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4.

—F——%=A=t+—H

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.3

4.4

4.5

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
variable selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer demand and competitor actions. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting

period.

Estimated recoverability of trade and other

receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on
an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables.
This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors as well as the current
market condition, and requires the use of judgements
and estimates. Management reassesses the provision at

the end of each reporting period.
Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes mainly in Hong
Kong, Mainland China and the Republic of Korea.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of the provision for income taxes. There
are certain transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period

in which such determination is made.

Recognition of deferred tax assets, which principally
relate to tax losses, depends on management’s
expectation of future taxable profit that will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised. The

outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.

4.

BARet s kA E )

4.3

4.4

4.5

FEZUSEFE
FEZAESRFE/EBEXRKB
RPZEFEE RAUZHEER

B o & F b TIRIRIRITHOR R IE
UHEEEMZBEHRELRED
AREPHERNE RBEFH FAIE
HZ2TBmHREREE - BEE
NE BRIERE A Bz HhaT

BESRWHREREMERRERZME
AT W E

AR BB I E YR B e W R IR AT R
B2 FHEEEE S RBRERE
i & U TR TR (B 2 Bk o L IRAT
TIREEEPREMEBAZEE
BELRBITMRMEL  AFEER
HEF e 5 ERER S RRAR
EXAHEA R -

FR8H

AEBTIEZAEETE RN KRE
BSAREH - EEEMESHEE
SRR FRELREXRHE - £BE
EBBREY  ETXBEFEMY
RZBREBRFETEH R THEEN
HWEEFFHZHZERBRERERY
RSB IR - AEFEERT
EEHNEFET R MEHRIE
FEFLTRRLS

BRELEHBEE(ZTERRARR
BH)RTEEERPTHIAEREE
ARARKERBGENME - BERE
RERATBENR -
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5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. EXE -WARIEESR
INFORMATION
5.1 Turnover and revenue 51 BEERWKA
Turnover represents sales of goods, revenue from EEBRERLEER EmERE®
branded food operation, commission and other service EBEEZRA > e REAMRE
income. The amounts of each category of revenue WA o FRE QS 2T S R A L RIR
recognised during the year from continuing operations FARAERZWASEHAT ¢
are as follows:
2010
—E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
(Restated)
€ <=2
Sales of goods HEEM 2,009,223 1,287,294
Revenue from branded food operation BmERMEBELZWA 137,622 110,699
Commission and other service income  {H& M EMARFGIA 21,211 14,989
2,168,056 1,412,982
5.2 Operating segment information 52 REHB|ER

For management purpose, the Group, including its
jointly-controlled entities, is organised into four major
reportable operating segments — hi-tech distribution
and services, fishmeal and seafood product, branded
food, and chemical operations (discontinued during the
year). The hi-tech distribution and services, fishmeal
and seafood product, and chemical operating segments
derive revenue from the sale of goods. Branded
food operation segment derives revenue through the
operation of quick food hamburger restaurants in Hong

Kong under the Burger King brand.

HREBMS  AEE(REEERE
FIEE)DBEOEES I ARER
D — SREERDHEERERR
BEMREEER  MERMRIEE
¥B(FNBERIE) e EERD
HERT - B RESEEMREE
X¥BoEALEERMELERA -
MRREREBDELABRARB BN
Burger King fnh2 48 & RE ARG E B2
K Burger King & B2 % 7% M = £ U
Ao
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5

—E——%=A=+—H

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

5.2

Operating segment information (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss),
which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before
tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax
except that finance income, finance costs as well as
head office and corporate expenses are excluded from

such measurement.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, investment property, leasehold land under
operating leases and land use rights, intangible assets,
non-current deposits, inventories, biological assets,
trade and other receivables, and non-current assets
held for sale. Unallocated assets comprise deferred tax
assets, income tax recoverable, pledged bank deposits,
available-for-sale financial assets, cash and cash

equivalents, and corporate and others.

Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other
payables, retirement benefit obligations, provision for
reinstatement costs, and other non-current liabilities.
Unallocated liabilities comprise deferred tax liabilities,
income tax liabilities, borrowings, and corporate and

others.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property,
plant and equipment, leasehold land under operating

leases and land use rights, and intangible assets.

5.

EEE WARIEER @)

5.2

REDBWEN(E)

EEEIRERASBEZEENE
ZEE NBELERERSKER
REAFEZIRK - DBRATIRA
B s, (BE)  AERE
BRETSTANGER, (BE) c EEHE
1Ta1Mh - MBBRASHANERN,
(BB) 2t 8N ANEREERME
Bangd (BrE)zt&n = —
B MEMBRA - MBEERURE
MREEBERAEAERTBEEA

DTREETZERYE BHEAR
B REVE KEHERTHE
TR EAE - BEEE - F
RBEE - FE EMEE-EH
REMEYFBRFIELEFRY
BE - AODEEEREEEHREAE
E - AREFREY  BERMRITE
FoAHLESREE Be kR
TEFEEEE  AREELEAMD -

THBEEIRERESREMERN
RIE - RARENEE - EREAR
B REMIFRDEE - ROER
BEREEHREAG MEHEA
& BEAREEREM -
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5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5.
INFORMATION (continued)

EEE - WARSEER®)

RESWEN(E)

5.2 Operating segment information (continued) 5.2

FR ZSELENRBMEEZH
E(CT-—ZTF E) FEZEE
ES N

Year ended 31st March 2011
BE-3--E-B=T-ALEE

There are no significant sales between the operating
segments during the year (2010: Nil). The operating

results for the year are as follows:

Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
HERERR BALLREEE
Hi-tech Fishmeal
distribution  and seafood Branded
and services product food
operation operation operation Chemical
ENRER ABREE RERH Subtotal operation
RRH % EREH % Nt t8%%
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FEn FiEr FiEr FiEr
Revenue WA
— Sales to external customers — HHREHE 1,565,247 465,187 137,622 2,168,056 498,285 2,666,341
Segment results before amortisation of ~ EFAERHH N EEE
infangible assets 50,715 38,340 (35,314) 53,741 39,727 93,468
Amortisation of intangible assets BhHEVEE - (2,115) (498) (2613) (2,794) (5,407)
Segment results Lk 50,715 36,225 (35,812) 51,128 36,933 8,061
Finance income BHBA 5,568 27 5,815
Finance costs BHER (10,576) (3,109) (13,685)
Provision for remeasurement to fair value ~ EH:tEAL EHEERA
less costs to sell V2] - (12,200) (12,200)
Corporate and other unallocated SERAMRARER
€Xpenses (31,171) - (31,171)
Profit before income tax il 14,949 21,871 36,820
Income tax expense FEHH (6,832) (7,671) (14,503)
Profit for the year iyl 8,117 14,200 22,317
Capital expenditure BRER 3,141 24,839 8,972 36,952 5,752 42,704
Corporate and other unallocated capital ~ AEREMKARERER
expenditure 822 - 822
31,774 5,752 43,526
Depreciation il 9,449 4,691 11,660 25,800 11,209 37,009
Corporate and other unallocated CEREMASENE
depreciation 149 - 149
25,949 11,209 37,158
Amortisation 4] - 2,467 498 2,965 2,794 5,759
Write-down/(write-back) of inventories to 7 &#ig,/ (BE) ZA%EH
net realisable value, net 658 - 1,296 - 1,296 (700) 596
Provision for impairment/(write-back ERERE/ (RERE)
of impairment) of receivables, net it 83 (1,084) - (1,001) 910 (91)
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5.

TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

5.2 Operating segment information (continued)

5

EEE S WARDTEER®)

52 RESEER(E)
Year ended 31st March 2010

BET-RECA=T-ALER

Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
FREERE BEHEERTE
Hi-tech Fishmeal
distribution ~ and seafood Branded
and services product food
operation operation operation Chemical
AHRERIH ANREE RERR Subtotal operation Total
RiHES EREH % Nt Ex% 28
HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
AT AT A1 A1 A1 AT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(mE5) (8E5) )
Revenue WA
— Sales to external customers — HHRPHE 775,870 526,413 110,699 1,412,982 1,754,983 3,167,965
Seqment results before amortisation of  EFAES 2D EEE
intangible assets 16,281 35,262 (34,537) 17,006 135,697 152,703
Amortisation of intangible assets BiEvEE (6,993) (2,648) (430) (10,031) (10,720) (20,751)
Segment results ELE 9,328 32614 (34.967) 6,975 124977 131,952
Finance income BHBMA 5,698 318 6,016
Finance costs BHER (18,109) (27,810) (40,919)
Corporate and other unallocated expenses  REREMAAEER (62,979) - (62,979)
Profit/(loss) before income tax IRATERAIER /(B (63415) 97,485 34,070
Income tax credit/{expense) FfiERER/ (%) 7759 (25,593) (17,834)
Proft/(loss) for the year ERgRl/ (B8) (55,656) 71,802 16,236
Capital expenditure BRRY 514 31,564 37,068 69,146 7451 76,597
Corporate and other unallocated capital ~ AEREMANEERRK
expenditure 317 — 317
69,463 7451 76,914
Depreciation il 9,568 3665 10,209 23442 41,343 64,785
Corporate and other unallocated CEREMRARNE
depreciation 130 — 130
23,572 41,343 64,915
Amortisation B 6,953 3,026 430 10,409 10,720 21129
Write-down/(write-back) of inventories to &,/ (BE)ZA 5
net realisable value, net BB 58 5,794 7,715 - 13,509 (559) 12,950
Provision for impairment of receivables, net ENGUERER EFE 2,089 3,340 — 5,429 463 5,892
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5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

5.2 Operating segment information (continued)

The segment assets and liabilities at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

EEE - WARSEER®)

52 RKESEERE)
REHFHRIBEERABLT

Continuing operations
RFRCERY

At 31st March 2011

ASSETS

Segment assets

Unallocated assets:
Deferred tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Pledged bank deposits
Available-for-sale financial

assets

Corporate and others

Total assets per the
consolidated statement of

financial position

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities

Unallocated liabilities:
Deferred tax liabilities
Income tax liabilities
Borrowings

Corporate and others

Total liabilities per the
consolidated statement of

financial position

Hi-tech
distribution

and services

operation
BNEERD#
REBES
HK$°000
FET

R-B-——§=A=t+-H

AE

NEREE

RPEEFE :
BEHEEAE
ReRkHeSEER
BEMRITER
A ESHEE

512,851

EREML

SRMTHIRRRTZ

af

NRAE

ADEEE :
ELHERR
FrisH AR
fEE
EREL

202,707

SRMBHIRERTZ
SEEEE

Fishmeal

and seafood

product Branded
operation food
RBRBE operation
EREE RERRER

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FEz FH7z FAz

449,393 65,173 1,027,417

27,089

983,549

96,416

2,109

5,676

2,142,256

146,001 19,648 368,356

545

4,577

246,203

3,516

623,197
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5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

5.2 Operating segment information (continued)

5. EBE@ - WARIEER#E)

52 RKESEERE)

Discontinued
operation
Continuing operations BRI
HELEER Bazk
Hi-tech Fishmeal
distribution ~ and seafood
and services product Branded
operation operation food Chemical
EHEERAE  ARREE operafion Subtotal operation
RARHBEH ERsh  GRRREE Gt 2%k
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
AT AT A1 A1 A1
(Restated)
(&5
At 31st March 2010 R=R-B£=A=1-8
ASSETS EE
Segment assets PHREE 608,938 335,545 70,382 1,014,865 934,891
Unallocated assets: APREE
Deferred tax assets EitfRaE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRLEERER
Pledged bank deposits BEARAER
Available-for-sale financial AfHESRAER
assets
Corporate and others EREL
Total assets per the consolidated ~ EABBMRE D BELE
statement of financial position
LIABILITIES Af
Segment liabilities PRAR 262,792 112,285 20,442 397,519 369,396
Unallocated liabilites: AOEEE:
Deferred tax liabilities EiiiRaE
Income tax liabilities FfiEHakE
Borrowings &8
Corporate and others BERAM

EREBIARST LA REE

Total liabilities per the consolidated
statement of financial position

Total

e
HK$'000
AT
(Restated)
(&)

1,949,756
28,550
1,133,181
84,381
3,008
2,540

3,201,416

766,915

14,493
20,326
387,475
2,035

1,191,244
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5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. EXE - WARIEER @)
INFORMATION (continued)
5.2 Operating segment information (continued) 52 RESEER(E)
Geographical information HEEH
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEHIIEFZHA
The Group’s activities are conducted AEFBEBERFRES - AR
predominantly in Hong Kong, Mainland China Wi R BB HETT o i@ 5 fE
and the Republic of Korea. Revenue by 2D 2 WA TR IR = BHR E M
geographical location is determined on the basis NIRRT - AR REEED
of the destination of shipment of goods for hi- RItBERMNEZ BB - )
tech distribution, fishmeal and seafood product, KB RMATEIT Z R FTB
and chemicals, as well as the location of service [ A E ©

performed for branded food.

The following table provides an analysis of the TRIBEREZMEEDL ZAEE
Group’s revenue by geographical location: AR -
2011 2010
= -5-%F
Continuing  Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operation operations operation Total
SESEXE BRLEEEY REBERE DRIHEERE %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
FET Fén Fén &L TEr FAL
Hong Kong &k 156,671 - 156,671 110,699 - 110,699
Mainland China mEm 1,931,259 10,807 1,942,066 1,225,510 53,332 1,278,842
Republic of Korea i - 366,750 366,750 — 1,338,210 1338210
Asia — Others Tl —£fp 80,126 58,689 138,815 40913 190,455 231,368
Others -4 - 62,039 62,039 35,860 172,986 208,846
Total revenue WAEE 2,168,056 498,285 2,666,341 1,412,982 1,754,983 3,167,965
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5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

5.2 Operating segment information (continue d)
Geographical information (continued)
(b)  Non-current assets

The non-current assets information is based on
the location of assets and excludes financial

instruments and deferred tax assets.

The following table provides an analysis of the
Group’s non-current assets as at the end of the

reporting period by geographical location:

5

EEE S WAREER®)

52 RESWERE)
HEEH(E)
(b) FEBEE

FRBEEZERDRIEEE
FERETE A TEEEMT
ANBEBRIREE -

TRERRZHBHMRIZIBEF
M2 AREIERBEES

2010

—ZT—TF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAET

(Restated)

(&LE3)

Hong Kong BB 437,726 449 397
Mainland China o B At 136,256 128,089
Republic of Korea =AE — 743,758
Asia — Others N — HAb 537 613
574,519 1,321,857

Information about major customers

During each of the years ended 31st March 2011 and
2010, there was no single customer that contributed

10% or more of the Group’s revenue for these years.

FHETEEFZEH

BHE_T——FR-_FT—ZTF=A=1+—
AEFERF MEE—RFRZEFE
BAEBIRATER10% kA EEEf ©
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. HtARWKE — FH
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains, net from NEEREFELEER 2 E A R
continuing operations is as follows: mEREAOMAT :

2010
—TFF
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
(Restated)
(#&85E51)
Net changes in fair value of biological A¥WEEAAEES)FE
assets 2,127 —
Gross rental income HEWALEE 204 156
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) SNEW S (B518 ) R 78 35,249 (328)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale  HER{#HES @ E EWER
financial assets 876 =
Government grants* AT B 761 660
Others Hh 139 24,484
39,356 24,972
* The Group received government grants for subsidies for * AEBRMBERENRAEKERREE
finance costs and for subsidies for addition of machinery and BRI T #Bh - BB IS B R BB 2 K
equipment. The government grants in respect of subsidies for FF 40 Bh R 5% 5 BT 46 Bh 2 IR PR S TSR 5
finance costs were recognised as other income when conditions HAab A o SRS a8 R ETKRERZ
of these government grants were fulfilled. The government BT ERRELERA TR BEREEZ
grants received in respect of addition to machinery and TEETAM{EAFHAANEREEMPA - R=F
equipment were recognised as deferred income and released ——F=RA=+—H WEFMZEMHHZ
to other income over the expected useful lives of the relevant RIERK G AEE -

assets. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to these grants as at 31st March 2011.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 A B =

31st March 2011 —E2——F=A=+—H

7.

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 7.

The Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax from continuing

operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold

Write-down of inventories to net
realisable value, net

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of investment property

Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of leasehold land under
operating leases and land use rights

Employment costs (note 8)

Operating lease rental of rented
premises

Impairment/(write-back of impairment)
of trade receivables, net

Impairment of other receivables

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets

Research and development costs

Auditors’ remuneration

Fair value losses on derivative financial

instruments

BEEFERA

Tr S MO E R 230 )5E
ek

BE SR (Meak ) F 8

ME - BERRERTE

REMESE
BT A E
KEHER T 2HELHR
I R B O
BRAKAE(HES)
HEYMFZEEHERS

B 5 RUGRIERE, (B EHE)
R

E At WK IR R (B

W% -~ BB RRERE

HEWE - BERREZEE
HERAHEESREE 2 K
A

SR EN B
TEEMIAZAREERE

BRETEBANRR,(B18)

AEBEREFELEEB 2BAEHATR

A/ (BR)EMER/GIA) THIRE :

2010

—Z-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)

(#&=7))

1,837,315 1,173,903
1,296 13,509
(36,421) 3,391
25,872 23,496
77 76
2,613 10,031
352 378
107,128 99,833
47,611 38,558
(1,001) 5,380
- 49

— 419
3,927 519
(876) ==

92 80
2,624 2,494
1,184 189
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8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS

An analysis of employment costs including directors’

emoluments and remunerations of the top five highest paid

individuals, from continuing operations is as follows:

18 A A A
REFBLEEBZRAKA(BEESMH
ERABRERHFALZHM) DT

2010

—E-FF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

(Restated)

(&&E7)

Directors’ fees E-=iok 1,838 1,886
Salaries, wages, allowances and e TERER

bonuses 100,904 94,184

Consultancy fee = 228 —

Retirement benefits — defined RIKEF
contribution scheme — RERKTE 4,158 3,763
107,128 99,833

(a)

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed
by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
the Group (the employer) and each of its employees
make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income as defined under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The monthly contribution of each of the employer
and employees is subject to a cap of HK$1,000 per

employee and any further contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland
China, the Group contributes to state-operated
retirement plans for its employees in Mainland China.
The employees contribute approximately 4% to 22%
of their basic salaries, while the Group contributes
approximately 10% to 22% of such salaries and has no
further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or
post-retirement benefits beyond these contributions. The
state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the

entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

(a)

AEECRHEBRERESE R
HBUYSIATEZBHMEAES
SrEI(TR S E ) KT8l A
—EREMHKEE - RIFBEDE
2 rEB(RXREREEEE
Rz BB WA CER R EE58
W RBEEEENES) 2 5% Mt &
Bt - BuEEIREEBZEAH
R ER71,000787T - M ERRIMER
TIBEkE -

RPBEALZ R RRD - NEE
RETFBEANMERRBEREZE
REHEIHK - BERERFHEHN 4%
E22% M MAKRBRZEF
M10% E22% 3K - Bf % T H &K
Sh - ES N ERMERRAS IR
REBHZEE - ZEFEREHR
R EIABAEMRKES N2
RIRE -
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8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued) 8. ERRA&E)
(b) Directors’ emoluments (b) EE=#E
The remuneration of each director for the year ended BE_T——F=A=1t—HL#F
31st March 2011 is set out below: EEEEZHMBIIMT -

Employer’s

contribution

to retirement

(T EN scheme
Salaries fee*  EifFEIZ
E2 ERE* EEHX
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Géran Sture Malm Géran Sture Malm %4 192 1,212 — 12 1,416
Mr. Savio Chow Sing Nam Eliek e 94 481 - 6 581
Mr. John Saliling * John Saliling %4 * 192 2,310 228 12 2,742
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Takeshi Kadota Takeshi Kadota 7t 192 - - - 192
Mr. Moses Tsang Kwok Tai " BEREE Y 46 - - - 46
- Mr. Henry Kim Cho " Henry Kim Cho 5¢4 - - - - -
g Mr. Andrew Yao Cho Fai B & 192 - - - 192
;_:' Mr. Jason Matthew Brown " Jason Matthew Brown
& v % - - - %
; Mr. James Tsiolis " James Tsiolis 554 64 - - - 64
—
>
= Independent non-executive BUKHTES
g directors
T Mr. Philip Ma King Huen BRERE 192 - - - 192
o
= Mr. Kenny Tam King Ching ERELE 192 — - - 192
;;E> Mr. Edgar Kwan Chi Ping maTEE " 192 - - - 192
» Mr. Yu Wang Tak REEEE 192 - - - 192
-
=
H 1,838 4,003 228 30 6,099
o
&
]
Vi
s
(057
=5
a
i
5
1l
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8.

EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued) 8.

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended
31st March 2010 is set out below:

EARZE#)

(b)

EEME(E)

BE-T-FF=A=t+-AL#F
EREZZHMETIMT
Employer’s

contribution
to retirement

scheme
Fees Salaries RIKETEIZ Total
ik i EXHR k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FET FHET FBT
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Goran Sture Malm Goran Sture Malm 7t 4 192 1,212 12 1,416
Mr. Savio Chow Sing Nam B L& 192 978 12 1,182
Mr. John Saliling John Saliling %t 4 192 2,538 7 2,737
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Takeshi Kadota Takeshi Kadota %t 4 192 — — 192
Mr. Henry Kim Cho Henry Kim Cho %% 79 — — 79
Mr. Moses Tsang Kwok Tai SERLE 79 — — 79
Mr. Andrew Yao Cho Fai B Rk & 192 — — 192
Independent non-executive BYkHTES
directors
Mr. Philip Ma King Huen BRERAE 192 — — 192
Mr. Kenny Tam King Ching EHELE 192 — — 192
Mr. Edgar Kwan Chi Ping WaTEAE 192 — — 192
Mr. Yu Wang Tak RABEE 192 — = 192
1,886 4,728 31 6,645

Except for the year ended 31st March 2011, where
each of Mr. Henry Kim Cho and Mr. Moses Tsang Kwok
Tai, non-executive directors of the Company, waived
director’'s fees amounting to HK$52,000, there was no
other arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the years
ended 31st March 2010 and 2011.

*

Pursuant to a consultancy agreement entered into
between the Group and Pharos Partners, a company
owned by Mr. John Saliling, a consultancy fee of
HK$228,000 was paid to Pharos Partners during the year
ended 31st March 2011.

& Retired on 27th September 2010
w Resigned on 4th October 2010
0y Retired on 8th July 2010

0 Elected on 27th September 2010
&2 Elected on 1st December 2010
6 Resigned on 1st April 2011

BEHZ=Z—_Z——F=A=+—H81
FEI KRR ZIEHITEE Henry
Kim Cho st 4 & 8 B2 5E 4 & B W
E520008 TZ2EEFHEBIN R
HE-ZZTFR=-ZT——F=HA
=+—HALEEE MESEREH
P EXREREEAME -

* RIBEAREBE John Saliling L £ A
Z A \)Pharos Partners 28 7] 2 E& [
3% + 228,000 B T Z EMBREE
—E——HZA=+—ALFENTF

Pharos Partners °

U RZT—ZFNAA=-++LAET
fw T T+ A A BT
—ET-—ZTFLAN\BERE
T-TENA T AERE
—ZE+-A-RKE
—— & A—BEE

il

Al

&%

A

(ii)

(iv)

Ao

(vi)
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8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued) 8. EARA#E)
(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EBEBREHFAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest AEERAFEAMNE RS 20 H
in the Group for the year include 2 (2010: 2) directors ALTBEME(ZE—FF: WE)
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis E5 HMSER EXERZOM
presented above. The emoluments payable to the PREL BN THB-RIFEF Y
remaining 3 (2010: 3) non-director, highest paid ERFAT(ZE—ZTF: =)z
individuals during the year are as follows: 2T -

2011 2010

—E——F —T—TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Salaries, allowances and bonuses e RBNRIEA 4,016 5,217
Employer’s contribution to retirement RIRGETEZ B EHR

scheme 36 37

4,052 5,254

The emoluments of the non-director, highest paid

3F§$%%%%ﬁ/\i@ﬂ%&?ﬁ%ﬁ

individuals fell within the following bands: SEE
2011 2010
=2——F —E—TF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A# A&
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 77T 2 —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000 77T 1 2
g HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T = 2,500,000,8 7T —
2
e 3 3
>
()
>
n
= 9. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 9. HMEWAREHR
> e o IS
= An analysis of finance income and costs from continuing REFBREER 2 MBWARER ST
0] operations is as follows: R
(9]
o=
o 2011 2010
o —2——% —F-FF
g HK$’000 HK$'000
n FET FET
r (Restated)
% (#&55E51)
S Finance income: MBWA -
o Interest income from bank deposits RITFERZFBUA 5,568 5,698
g}lﬁ Finance costs: MBER :
= Interest on bank loans RITERAE 11,744 8,155
i Interest on convertible bonds wholly ARAFAZHBEEREZ
5}? repayable within five years ARRES 2 F & - 1,733
= Interest on finance lease obligations mEREREZFE 4 158
B Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) BB INERIR ()
Il on financing activities it (1,172) 3,063
10,576 13,109
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10.

—E——%=A=+—H

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 10. FIBHIEE (ZH)
The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until RARIERRPHMNERENBEE_ZE
2016. Hong Kong profits tax has been calculated at the rate — N o BEBFEHRE RGBSR R
of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for FIZFEA16.5% (ZZF—ZF : 16.5%) 7"
the year. Ho
Subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities established in 7 R B At B 32 2 BT B A R R 2 R AR
Mainland China are subject to the Mainland China enterprise ERERDW IBERE(ZT —FF
income tax at the standard rate of 25% (2010: 25%). Certain 25% ) WMHP B N EESH - FER
of these entities in Mainland China have been granted a five- M B THZERARAERAFRESR  HX
year transitional period with a progressive tax rate from 15% BE-ZZENGF—A —HBEHIREELS
to 25% from 1st January 2008. 25% °
Taxation on overseas (other than Hong Kong and Mainland EINCE A R B R LASN ) i ) 2 B IE T
China) profits has been calculated on the estimated BLEE A2 5T FE AR Bt v A IR AN 55 [ 48 & P
assessable profit for the year at the applicable rates of HEER/RIAEER 2HITHEBRRANE -
taxation prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.
The amounts of income tax credit/(expense) recorded in the BRI E BRI ZIFERCEEB 2
consolidated income statement from continuing operations BRRR () &EEE
represent:
2010
===
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH#T
(Restated)
(5&&E%1))
Current taxation B HETIE
Hong Kong profits tax ARG
— current year — REFE (632) (371)
— overprovision in prior years — BEEFE CBEREE 3 —
Mainland China enterprise B A 1 S P AS AR
income tax
— current year — REE (3,252) (1,445)
— underprovision in prior years — BAEHEFREZEBERIR (879) —
Overseas taxation NI 23 (139)
Deferred taxation ERERG IR (2,095) 9,714
(6,832) 7,759
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10.

11.

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax from
continuing operations differs from the theoretical amount that
would arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable to

profit/(loss) of the consolidated entities as follows:

10.

FrE® (X ) /#E )

AEERBEEEEB ZRAEHADERN,
(BR)ZRAERZRERNGEERET
S (BR)ZNETFOREAEZIEREH
ZERWT

2011 2010
=E2——F —E-ZF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(Fk&75)
Profit/(loss) before income tax from KB AR ETL 2 BRPSHA
continuing operations A (ER) 14,949 (63,415)
Tax credit/(charge) calculated at REBANE B R BEREF
the average domestic tax rates (E18) 2 FEBERAR 2
applicable to profits/(losses) in the BiIEAE ()
respective countries/ jurisdictions (4,377) 9,389
Tax effect of: MR
— income not subject to tax — AR ZIBA 8,464 5.449
— expenses not deductible for tax — TRz 2 (8,904) (12,121)
— lower tax rate for specific — HER NI KA B
provinces or enacted by local BAEHLE
authority 2,399 —
— underprovision in prior years — BEHFE2BETR (876) —
— tax losses not recognised — RER 2 TIAEE (2,753) (245)
— others — Hfth (785) 5,287
Tax credit/(charge) BEEE, (ZH) (6,832) 7,759

For the year ended 31st March 2011, the weighted average
applicable tax rate was 29.3% (2010: 14.8%).

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31st March 2011 includes a loss
of HK$32,693,000 (2010: HK$29,516,000) which has been
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

11.

REBEE-T——F=ZA=+—HLEFE"
BANMBEFARELN /293% (ZE—F
F:14.8%) °

ARAEEAREER

HE-_ZT— —F=ZA=+—HLEFE
ZARNARREELGES BN BIEER
32,693,000/ (=ZF —Z 4 : 29,516,000
BIL) ' BERAR R BEHRERARE
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12.

—E——%=A=+—H

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 30th April 2010, the Group entered into an agreement
to dispose of its entire 33.74% shareholding in TK Chemical
Corporation (“TKC”), which is incorporated in the Republic of
Korea (the “Transaction”). TKC is principally engaged in the
business of manufacturing and sale of (i) polyester fiber; (ii)
spandex; and (iii) PET resin, which are materials widely used
in the manufacturing of synthetic fabrics, yarns and plastic
bottles. The Transaction provided a good opportunity for
the Group to realise the value that had been created at TKC
since the Group acquired it in June 2008. The Transaction
also provided certainty and acceleration with respect to the
Group’s exit and return, as compared to the other alternatives
such as an initial public offering of TKC. The disposal of TKC
was completed on 13th July 2010.

After the disposal of TKC,

operation, a reportable operating segment,

the Group ceased its chemical
and thus the
chemical operation undertaken by TKC was classified as a
discontinued operation upon signing of the agreement for the

Transaction.

The results of TKC’s operation for the year (up to the date of

disposal) are presented below:

12.

RIS

%_?*?Eﬂﬂ:JrEl C NEBET
A EERFA R BB MK Z TK
Chemical Corporation([TKC]) Z & &
33.74% = ([RH 1) - TKCEERZE (i)
BRRMAE ¢ (i) B K (i) PETHIRE
BUERHEFET - WEMH ARERSH
#®WRBEZERYE - RHREHE
MTKCRlEz BERMHAERNEE —ER T
2 MAKRER_ZZNFRNAERE
HEME - AL EMF KU TKC YR A FRE
7 RENEAEE ZHAREBFREL S
ERINRETT - HETKCRZZE—ZF+
B+=H%K °

RIEETKCE  AKRBEKIEHE{CEXRR
(ATERHEENTR) - S&TKC&E%ZH:&%

BRXBWMHILED R RERIEREE
% o

FR(EEEBH)TKCEEXEHTI LA
™

2010
—ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Revenue A 498,285 1,754,983
Expenses ogant (461,105) (1,629,688)
Finance costs B 75 & A (3,109) (27,810)
Profit from the discontinued operation B4 IFEL %7 2% F 34,071 97,485
Provision for remeasurement to fair BN EARERBEE
value less costs to sell B 2 Bt (12,200) —
Profit before income tax from the B AR I E AR SRS BR
discontinued operation Fr 5% Al 42 1) 21,871 97,485
Income tax expense FriS i 2 (7,671) (25,593)
Profit for the year from the FRERIEEER
discontinued operation 2l 14,200 71,892
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% R MY EE

31st March 2011 ZZ——F=A=+—H

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 12. BRIEREXEK W)
The net cash flows generated by TKC (up to the date of TKC(ELEBHEEZFREREW
disposal) are as follows: I 2
2011 2010
—g——% —z-24
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Operating activities KBTS 22,138 210,224
Investing activities HEES (5,593) (2,549)
Financing activities mMEEE (2,982) (128,471)
Net cash inflow FERERA 13,563 79,204
2010
=Tl
Earnings per share, from the BRAER - KEBKIE
discontinued operation: EEHET
Basic and diluted EARREE 0.10 HK cents #{ll |5.62 HK cents /il
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share from AHEERIECEERSRERNREERT
the discontinued operation are based on: TR
2011 2010
—B—-F —Z-%F
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the ~ AARI L BREREEELLE
Company from the discontinued operation e iy HK$14,200,000 % 7T HK$71,892,0007 ¢
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in ~ sTEEREKRREZRH 2
issue during the year, used in the basic and ERNBBETERRZME
diluted earnings per share calculation T8 14)
(note 14) 13,596,349,295 1,279,441,293
DIVIDENDS 13. RE

13.

Special — HK4 cents (2010: Nil)
per ordinary share

FrBl — Sl AR 481l

(ZT—FF : &)

=

HK$°000
FET

543,871

2010
—E-FF
HK$'000
FHET
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13.

14.

DIVIDENDS (continued)

On 28th October 2010, the Board of Directors proposed a
special dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share. This
special dividend became effective after it was approved by
the Company’s shareholders at a special general meeting held
on 1st December 2010. As at 31st March 2011,
dividend of HK$543,871,000 (2010: Nil) in total had been fully
paid.

the special

The directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31st March 2011 (2010: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing
the Group’s profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue during the year.

13.

14.

RE &)

i% —ZEFE+AZ TN NAEEF
il é%ﬁﬁztl&ﬂ B 4.07810 - 1t
%%IJHX,%E'AE?HX?{ RZE—TF+=
—E%"Zﬁﬁ%%%m@ﬁt)ﬁéi
e R=ZT——F=A=+—8"
543,871,ooo;%mz%ﬂuﬁx,%a%aﬁszﬁ
(Z2—FF: §) -

I:l/\

EXEWTEBARBBE_T——F= H
=Et+t—BIEFEZAEMRARE(ZE—
FE) o

BRER,(HR)
SREXBF (HR)

FRERERN(EE) I HARRKRE
fEKE @Ziﬁ?’iﬂ/()@ﬂé)[ﬂ?tﬁiirﬁﬁﬂﬂ
il ordyllil: Bal 6

BTEE

2010
Z3-%F
Continuing  Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operation operations operation Total
FEOEEY CRLEEER FELERR BRLHEERE k]
Profit(loss) attributable to shareholders ~ AARIREEM &R/
of the Company (HK$1000) (B8)(F41) 7,692 14,200 21,892 (55,181) 71,892 16,711
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ BR{TERR 2 MEFHH
shares in issue 13,596,349,295 13,596,349,295 13,596,349,295 | 1279441293 1279441293  1,279,441,293
Basic eamings/(loss) per share ARARREESREARH/
attributable to shareholders of (Bsi8) %1l
the Company (HK cents) 0.06 0.10 0.16 (4.31) 5.62 1.31
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share SERE#EERAN(FHE)

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss)

per share amounts presented for the years ended 31st March

2011 and 2010 as the Group did not have any potential

diluted ordinary shares during the years ended 31st March

2011 and 2010.

ARAEERBE-T——FR-T—=
FZA-T - RLFEYREMETTE
TR REEHBE_FT——FR=
Z-RF-A=Z+-BLFEERNZEK
BERRHN,(BR)EHAE -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% BERZE
Group
458
Furniture, Plant and
fixtures machinery and
Leasehold and office demonstration
Freehold [and and Leasehold equipment Motor machinery  Construction
[and buildings  improvements 5 £EJ1 vehicles ~ HER#E  inprogress Total
KAgEIH HAETHRET  RENERE  RELERE hE  RTERA ERIR 45
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAT FAT FAT 7AT FAT 7AT FAT 7AT
(Restated) (Restated)
(#51) (#55))
At st Apri 2008 R-BENEMA-B
Oost resate) RRR(EEH) 106631 166562 B 9% 5,569 286510 2128 647286
Accumulated depreciafion (restated) ~ ZiFE(E5) - (8,604) (5815) (13,042) (3474) (50,657) - (8159)
Net book amaunt retaed) ERA(8E) 106631 167958 0782 11,953 205 25853 2120 565,604
Year ended 315t March 2010 HEZE-BE-A-T-ALER
Opening net book amount (restated) ~ EIHEHE(EEF) 106,631 167958 29,762 11983 2,095 235,853 21,242 565,694
Additions AE - 113 2,176 11,100 1,196 18,163 2123 4973
Disposels it - (1) (254) (&) (%) (239) - (130
Depreciation (restated) EED) = (4864 (7.945) (4,585) (398) (47.047) = (64,839)
Impaiment W - - - (419) - - - (419)
Transfer from inventories ERoRk = - = = = 28561 = 28561
Transfer from non-current assets BRanknEEnaEE
eld for sale - - - - - 128 - 1,285
Other transfers g = = 5,580 = = 2,131 (1.711) =
Exchange reaignment Ejige 241 221 2000 0 5 848 1,19 99686
Closing net book amount (restated) ~ EREAFE(RET) 129322 182,137 53,309 17904 2,035 288,129 35905 700641
At 31t March 2010 and N-F-5E=A=1-BR
at st Apri 2010; Z3-REMA-A:
Cost resteted) HAG(EES) 129322 196687 66,368 355 5508 04745 %906 52068
Accumulated depreciation and ZiERAE(EES)
imociment resteted) - (14550) (13,059) (15,629 (2573) (96,616 - (w)
Net book amount (restated) EEFE(EE) 129,322 182,137 53,309 17,904 2,93 268,129 35,905 709,641
Year ended 31st March 2011 BE-F-FA=T-RILER
Opening net book amount EfFEFE 129,322 182,137 53,309 17,904 2,935 268,129 35,905 709,641
Additions TE - - 8,387 5,497 504 1,669 25,259 41,316
Disposal i - 0) (3.465) (199 1] (3,608) - (1576)
Disposal of a oinly-contolled entlty ~ HEHFEHER
(rote 8 (W3%) (Mogst) () (1528) (1279 () Q%) (o) (510500)
Depreciaion i - (213) (8690) (4.284) (150) (21,484 - (37,081)
Transfer to inventories ERnRE - - - - - (13.857) - (13,857)
Other transfers Afreg - U510 - - - - (24,610) -
Exchange ealgnment Eig 6 (10%0s) (1161) 199 o (126) 0 (33569)
Closing net book amount EREmTE - 4,17 33,09 17,538 2,883 27,847 25,829 148,364
At 315t March 2011; RE——£=R=1-R:
Cost AR - 47416 49,703 36,203 5,067 46,263 25,829 211,381
Accumulated depreciafion and ZHfERAE
impaiment - 628 (660 (16669) B8 (1848) - (63,017)
Net book amount FOSE - 4,17 33,09 17,538 2,883 2,847 25,829 148,364
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 15. Y15 - BRERRE @)
Group (continued) REE(E)
The Group’s plant and machinery and demonstration AEBEREREREERE ZRE R
machinery held under finance leases as at 31st March 2011 FRERER_E——F=A=1+—H%E
were fully depreciated (2010: net book amount of HK$12,000). ZEFAE(ZZT—FF : RHEFE 12,000
EIT) °
The Group’s leasehold land included in property, plant and AEEFAVE BEAZEREES
equipment with a net book amount of HK$5,176,000 (2010: 5,176,000 Jt(= & — Z 4 : 5,328,000
HK$5,328,000) is situated in Hong Kong and is held under BT 2 ME T RES - WRKHAHEL
a long term lease. The Group’s freehold land included in BE AEER _ZT—ZFTF=A=+—H
property, plant and equipment as at 31st March 2010 was FTAMIZE - BB KRR 2 KA SERE T AL
located in Korea. REEE o
Certain property, plant and equipment are pledged as security HETYE  BELAREDCERIEREREEH
for the Group’s banking facilities. Details are set out in note 38 RITEE 2R o SHIBE R B 15 R it 2
to the financial statements. 38 °
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 16. REWHE
Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E——F —T—TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F&T
At beginning of year: F4 -
Cost A E 2,650 2,647
Accumulated depreciation 25T E (467) (390)
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 2,183 2,257
Depreciation e (77) (76)
Exchange realignment R 66 2 Z
b=
Closing net book amount FREEFE 2,172 2,183 S
=
At end of year: FHR %
Cost R ANME 2,734 2,650 %
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (562) (467) _F;r
H
Net book amount REEE 2,172 2,183 E
N
The Group’s investment property is situated in Mainland China NEBFZIEEYMEMP PR AN - HKH S
o
and is held under a long term lease. GEFOESYEIE S

129
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16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

The gross rental income received and receivable by the
Group and the direct expenses in respect of this investment

property are summarised as follows:

16.

REM=E @)

AEBERZEREMECWER R EY 2
SRABBAREEHHRIT

Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gross rental income HEWABE 168 153
Direct expenses HELE (60) (77)
108 76

The Group’s investment property is held for rental purposes

under an operating lease.

The investment property is pledged as security for the Group’s
banking facilities. Details are set out in note 38 to the financial

statements.

NEBZIREYEYURKLHAERH - U
B S -

BRENMECEMERAEBERITREZE
R o FHIEHN IS HRMFEIS
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17. LEASEHOLD LAND UNDER OPERATING 17. KREFEE T 2HE LR L b6
LEASES AND LAND USE RIGHTS ik
Group
REE
2011 2010
—E——fF —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
(Restated)
(& E3))
Opening net book amount FHERMEFE 15,846 16,542
Additions NE 1,961 —
Amortisation 3o (352) (378)
Exchange realignment FE 5, 38 B 643 (318)
Closing net book amount FERRMFE 18,098 15,846
Less: current portion B mENE S (377) (278)
Non-current portion JEmENES D 17,721 15,568
The Group’s interests in leasehold land under operating RZE—F=ZA=+—08 AEBERE
leases and land use rights as at 31st March 2011 are held LHEET 2 HE &+ b {E AE 2 #
under the following lease terms: wmiR NHIEEEA
HK$'000
FEIT
In Mainland China, held under: R B A T ELNEF
Leases of over 50 years HBiE50F 2L 15,307
Leases of between 10 and 50 years 10E50F 24 2,791
18,098
Certain leasehold land under operating leases and land ETFREHEBR TN 2HEL R LA .
use rights are pledged as security for the Group’s banking EEERHEAREREFETRE ZER - 5 %
facilities. Details are set out in note 38 to the financial IEE PSRRI FE38 © ;C>
>
statements. 5
i
o
O
By
_'
_FH‘
S
N
R
S
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BILEE
Group
A5E
Development
rights and
Customer Technology Distribution  franchise fees
Goodwill relationships  Trademarks  knowhow agreements BEER  Software Others Total
fig EFRK i EET MR GTEER g 0 a3
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK8000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK8000 HK$ 000
7AT AT FAT 7AT TAT AT FAT 7AT AT
At 1t Al 2009 R-EETAEME-R:
Cost REE 470,033 15,678 29,789 28,330 16,750 2921 2,164 "M 625,782
Accumulated amortisainand 2t EHRAE
imoaiment s pse BT (34 (42) (296) @ (e
Net book amount BESE 470,033 54,030 26,243 2513 3,258 2,485 1868 3 583,161
Year ended 31t March 2010 EE 3-5E-f=1-H
IH5R
Opening net book amount EfEESE 470,033 54,030 26,243 2,213 3,258 2,485 1,868 31 583,161
Additions HE - - - - - 1941 - - 194
Amortisation By = (9.204) [2724) (4,684) (3.258) (430) (443) 8 (20.751)
Exchange realignment Ei#E - 9747 2821 4,963 - - 31 - 17,698
Closing net book amount EXEERE 470,033 54573 26,146 2,492 - 3,996 1,786 23 582,049
At 31t March 2010 and RZE-ZE-R=1-AR
at 15t Apri 2010; Z5-%EmA-R:
Cost AR 470,033 86,261 32,176 34,295 16,750 4868 2619 I 647,113
Accumulated amortisation ZiEERAE
and impaiment e 680 (B8 (1670 @) (639) 0 (668
Net book amount T 470,033 54573 26,146 2,492 - 3,996 1,786 23 582,049
Year ended 31t March 2011 BE-3——£=f=1-H
IH5R
Opening net book amount EfERSE 470,033 54,573 26,146 25,492 - 3,996 1,786 PA] 582,049
Additions HE - - - - - 2149 - - 69
Amortisaion B - w4y (2 - (1) (116 O G
Witen off i - - - - - (170) - - (170)
Disposal of ajointy-controlled ~ HEHFHSER
enty (102 ) (Wi36) B0 (e (5 (2am) - - (1546) - (e
Exchange realignment kS - (3,839) (997) (1,793) - - (124) - (6,747)
Closing net book amount EREESE 380,263 - 11,092 - - 357 - 14 304,046
At 315t March 2011: W-E-—-FZf=1-R:
Cost BAE 380,263 25,40 15,600 - 16,750 4947 - 111 443,081
Accumulated amortisafinand.~~ ZxtEHRAE
impeiment - M) ) - om0 (am) - o )
Net book amount BESE 380,263 - 11,092 - - 357 - 14 394,046

Amortisation of approximately HK$5,407,000 (2010:
HK$20,751,000) is classified as general and administrative

expenses.

# §5 495,407,0007%8 m(= T — &= F ¢
20,751,000 8 L) E DA — R EITHE

==
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units
identified according to operating segments. A segment-level

summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below:

18.

BEEE@®)
BERERNR

T

AEBRTE
2 2510

2010
—E-ZF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FE&T

Hi-tech distribution and services BEHRE @D R RIS ST
operation 373,692 373,692

Fishmeal and seafood product B RBEEmER

operation 6,571 6,571
Chemical operation (A=—E3 — 89,770
380,263 470,033

Hi-tech distribution and services operation cash-

generating unit

The recoverable amount of the hi-tech distribution and
services operation cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to cash flow projections is 11% (2010: 11%). Due to
the uncertainty, no growth rate was used to extrapolate the
cash flows of the hi-tech distribution and services operation

cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period.

Fishmeal and seafood product operation cash-generating

unit

The recoverable amount of the fishmeal and seafood product
operation cash-generating unit is determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections is 11% (2010: 10% to 11%). Similar to the
hi-tech distribution and services operation, no growth rate
was used to extrapolate the cash flows of the fishmeal and
seafood product operation cash-generating unit beyond the

five-year period.

BRBERTHRREFEBREELEN

SNRERDHEARBERRSELEM
Z AW E R REE B EEFEEE
T REAET e RAESRERREM
Bt BORE T 5 BfE 2 A IS TR E PRl E 2
RenERA - BeRnEEAFERA 2R
ERNMR(ZF—FTF 1 11%) - ARFE
TR ZE - R B EREREEH SR
FRE fn o 88 B R 375 B A0 4 BAfE 12
ZBRERE °

REREEEREBRLELEN

BN REBEEMEBEeELESBM 2K
Bl BIRBEREBEETESEEE © %
EER e RAREAEEEMER
MERFREZHBREMFEZRSR
*%E‘HIJ © fﬁi»m%%ﬁiﬁu%% B ER
1% (ZZ2—ZF 1 10% £ 11%) - EHeF
&éuﬂuﬁ%&ﬁ&i‘%%%iﬁiw © 7 4 AR 3G
EREHAMRABESEBECELS
MR RFHREBZRAETE -

| %% 140434 IVNNNY
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

Chemical operation cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the chemical operation cash-
generating unit as at 31st March 2010 was determined based
on the estimate of its fair value less costs to sell with reference
to the agreement for the disposal of this cash-generating

unit on 30th April 2010. Further details of the transaction are

included in note 12 to the financial statements.

Key assumptions

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculations of
hi-tech distribution and services operation and fishmeal and
seafood product operation cash-generating units for the years
ended 31st March 2011 and 2010. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its

cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of

goodwill:

Distribution rights — The continuance of the distribution
rights for the hi-tech distribution and services operation in the

foreseeable future without any additional costs or investment.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins based on

past performance and management’'s expectations for market

development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are pre-tax and

reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

18.

BEE#)
AERENEGE)
CEBERRE L ELEN

RZZB—ZF=F=+—HZLBXKR
CEEBEMZANESBEIRESZEARE
ER—_Z-—ZFMNA=+THETZHEZ
B ARERHERAETE - RH2HE—
FHBHNPBERRMEE12

FERER

HEZZ——FR-FT-ZTF=A=1+—
BIEFEZ R ERD R RBES &
BOREBEEREBREEEEM 2 ER
BEFAEFEATERE -UTAEEREAR
ETEEREARMEL 2RER=TEA
Fifkig 2 STHEZRR ¢

SR — ETRRKEHRER S BE
BEB2 5 RS LRETEIN
AREE -

BEEMNX — AUBEREENXEE
ZEERBERRREEEMSERRE

RRIRE — PTERA 2 RAR R BB AR
BRAEAL 2 RS ERR
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, details of

interests in subsidiaries are as follows:

o) PN $

RARRZHBRREA - NHBAF 2
a2 BT

2010

—E—FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Unlisted shares, at cost JELEMRRG - RAAE - =
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS B B8 & Rk IE (K1 7% 40(c))

(note 40(c)) 850,411 1,224,995

850,411 1,224,995

Impairment VEAIE] (250,000) (250,000)

600,411 974,995

Less: Current portion B mBIE S (4,050) (3,565)

Non-current portion SEmENES 596,361 971,430

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at
31st March 2011:

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity/
place of operation

Name MR/ LB R Principal activities

£ AERRERLEnY TEEK

American Tec Company Hong Kong, Trading of SMT equipment
Limited limited liability company/ ~ SMTH&EE 5

ELEFRBARAH Hong Kong

Bk BRDR/ BB

American Tec Electronic India, Provision of machinery

India Private Limited *

KTFAR=BE——%=A=+—ATEHN
BAAZEE :

Percentage of

Particulars of equity interest

issued share capital/ held by
registered capital the Group
BRIRE/ AEEREF
HMEARFE REEZEAL
60,000,000 ordinary shares 100%
of HK$1 each
60,000,000 #&
BREEB1 AT EBR
1,879,000 ordinary shares 100%

of INR10 each

limited liability company/
India

H0E - BRAR/HE

installation, training,
1,879,000 fi%
SREEI0EL 2 EBR

business promotion, repairs

and maintenance services
RAgERE - 5

288« #ERRERS

| %% 140434 IVNNNY
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19.

Name

L

NAS American Tec
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd (ii)

JbE R (BRM)
ABAT (i)

North Asia Strategic (HK)
Limited (i)

IEHRIE(BA)BRAT (i

Perfect Combo Limited
RIREBRAR

Tianjin American Tec
Trading Company
Limited (ii) *

RERBEXTERES
BEBEAR (i)

FYMRAEESE TR
BEAT (i) *

)

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity/
place of operation
BRI BHR
EEREERCERY

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - BRAR/HEH

Hong Kong,
limited liability company/
Hong Kong

B BRAR/FBE

Hong Kong,
limited liability company/
Hong Kong

B BRAR/ BB

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - BRAR/HE

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HRE - BRAR/FEH

Principal activities

TEEH

Trading of electronic products,
machinery and spare parts
and provision of repair and
installation services

EfER #
REEERZERD

Provision of management
service

RUEE RS

Operation of quick food
restaurants in Hong Kong
under Burger King brand

EABNEET (Burger King)
ML REEE

Trading of electronic products
and spare parts
ETERREHHAS

Trading of electronic products,
machinery and spare parts
and provision of repair and
installation services

BEfEM WA RTHHEIUR

RRH B R R KR

FREHHEZAR

19. MEARERZ)

Particulars of

issued share capital/
registered capital
BRITRE/
HMEAFE

US$300,000
300,000 7T

1 ordinary share of HK$1
1REE BTz Rk

145,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

145,000,000 R HEE

1B ERR

US$200,000

200,000 7T

RMB3,000,000
AK# 3,000,000

Percentage of
equity interest
held by

the Group
AEBERE
BRABZEEAH

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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20.

—E——%=A=+—H

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Notes:

(i) Shares of this company are held directly by the Company.
Shares of the other companies are held indirectly.

(i) These are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established in the
PRC to operate for up to 30 years until 2023 to 2039.

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

The Group subscribed for 100,000,000 non-redeemable
convertible preferred shares of Coland Group Limited
(“Coland”).

ordinary shares, the Group will have a 40% equity interest

Upon full conversion of the preferred shares to

in Coland. In accordance with an agreement between the
Group and the other joint venturer, all matters relating to
Coland require joint approval by both parties. Therefore,
Coland has been accounted for as a jointly-controlled entity.
Coland is principally engaged in the refining and sale of fish
oil, processing and sale of fishmeal, manufacture and sale of
aquatic feed products, aquaculture, and processing and sale

of seafood.

In addition, the Group acquired 2,699,347 preference shares
of TKC in the year ended 31st March 2009. The preferred
shares were participating, cumulative and voting shares,
which were entitled to receive a minimum cash dividend
at 15% of par value annually. In accordance with the
shareholders’ agreement, all major financial and operational
matters should be jointly approved by the Group and other
venture parties. Therefore, the Group’s 33.74% equity interest
in TKC had been accounted for as an investment in a jointly-
controlled entity. TKC was principally engaged in the business
of manufacturing polyester fiber, spandex and PET resin. TKC

has been disposed of during the year (note 12).

19.

20.

BB D RS (2)

EREINEFTARIBZREREBAFE
XEIBRAKBEEFEEIZHD A
REMBRA - BEERA  BEMHER
AlZ B HEBRITE

Kt

(i) ZARZBRHAARAREERES - HAA
2R TIEERS -

(i)  EEDRPERZZINEEERE 48
A-TERAE T _=—FEH_-_T=h%fF-

* WIS BB LK E R BTk 2K g5t
RS 75 T 2 Bk A8 4% 2 HL Ak B A RIRX ©

HEEHER

AEEEREREEEERAR(=E])
-2100,000,000 & 1~ 7] H& [E] 7] #2 i% 12 5% A%
Mo RNEELAREBERREBRE K&
EiS5HEE SR 40% R AR - RIEAEEH
HE-—SECEIT L2 h#  AlaREL
— ) EEAKLFIHNET LR E - Bt -
SREEA—HERESER 2REE
MERHBEREEE - ADMIREE -
K E BB EE R YA R 8RR AR R TE DA Rk
EMIREE -

bEoh » REEREE_TTNFE=A="1—
BIEFEWETKC 2,699,347 % & A% -
ZEBEBRR2E  ZEREREZER
- BERSFEREEZ15% KM FER
TIRE - REBERRGZE - —DERMBE R
HEEFHALKERREMS &7 LEHR
o B - ANEE R TKC 2 33.74% & 2
ERES AR —EEXRIZEHEE2EE -
TKCEERER M4 - FIE 4 K PET
BiMR RIE X - B F A H & TKC (R
E12) o
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20.

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued) 20. HEEFIERZ)
The following amounts represent the Group’s 40% share and AT EEEAERDFIEEEREZ 40% A
33.74% share of the assets and liabilities, and revenue and N TKC 2 33.74% B E H A & A KUk A &
expenses of Coland and TKC, respectively. They are included Yo WESBEE T AREPBMRAR KX
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the REEZERK
consolidated income statement:
TKC Coland
=)
2010 2010
“ZT-TF —Z-%F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FE7 FHET
ASSETS AiE
Non-current assets FRBEE — 743,760 135,540 110,006
Current assets RBEE — 278,151 443,769 340,821
- 1,021,911 579,309 450,827
LIABILITIES B
Non-current liabilities FRBER — (100,654) (14,108) (16,913)
Current liabilities mBEE — (500,179) (356,353) (255,864)
- (600,833) (370,461) (272,777)
Net assets BEFA - 421,078 208,848 178,050
TKC Coland
=3
2010 2010
—T-2F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FE7T FET
Revenue LN 498,285 1,754,983 465,187 526,413
Expenses i (464,214) (1,659,669) (435,017) (499,839)
Profit before income tax BRPTEH A& 7 34,071 95,314 30,170 26,574
Income tax expense BRI (7,671) (25,593) (5,862) (5,691)
Profit for the year FERRF 26,400 69,721 24,308 20,883




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 75 3 B &

31st March 2011 —E——&=A=+—H

20.

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

As at 31st March 2011, the Group’s share of capital
commitments relating to the jointly-controlled entities at the

end of the reporting period but not yet incurred are as follows:

20.

HREEZEFER®)

RIE——F=A=+—H AEEEMH
RERPREEARENEE O RELEL
BARALEMT ¢

2010
—ZE-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

Property, plant and equipment: VI - RE R
Contracted but not provided for EHEIEER 3 10,772 10,730
Authorised but not contracted for EHLEERETA — 2,450
10,772 13,180

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the jointly-

controlled entities as at 31st March 2011.

The following is a list of the principal jointly-controlled entities,
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group as at 31st March 2011. To give details
of other jointly-controlled entities would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity/
place of operation

Name EMAL BRI BHR Principal activities
£ AERBERLEhY TEEK
Coland Group Limited Bermuda, Investment holding
BREEERAR limited liability company/ ~ R&#RMK

Hong Kong

BRE  BRAR/EA

RZT——F=A=+—H  HEaHHL
FEHIER 2 HREE -

ATAR-_ZFE——F=A=+t—HzxE
ARAEHERZEZE  EFTRRAFHAR
?%‘Jﬁﬁaig%%ﬁﬁgﬁiriﬁ CIgr
RAKEEEFEEE cEBERA
H%Ei\ﬁﬂ#\ﬁ?@%ﬂamzuﬁ SIHEEHRE
fEARITE

Percentage of

Particulars of equity interest
issued share capital/ indirectly held
registered capital by the Group
BRARE/  AEEBEMER
HMEARFE AEZEDL

150,000,000 ordinary 40%
shares of HK$0.1 each and
100,000,000 non-redeemable
convertible preferred shares
of HK$0.1 each
150,000,000 % &%
HE0ABT L RRK
100,000,000 A% &A%
B0 BT MR
A BERR
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20.

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Name

1

Coland Holdings Company
Limited
BREERNHERAR

Coland Shipping Limited
BEMEERAR

Fujian Coland Bioscience
and Technology
Co., Ltd. (ii)* (Formerly
known as Fujian Coland
Bioengineering Co., Ltd.)

BEERENMRBRRF
(i (AImEREREENT
RERRA)

Fujian Coland Enterprises
Co., Ltd. (i)*
BEBEEZXERAF ()

Fujian Coland Logistics
Co., Ltd. (i)*
BESEMRERAR ()

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity/
place of operation
SR R R
EEEBRERLEhY

Hong Kong,
limited liability company/
Hong Kong

Bk BRDR/ BB

Hong Kong,
limited liability company/
Hong Kong

B BRAR/EBA

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - BRAR/HE

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - ERAR/HE

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - ERAR/HE

20.

Principal activities
TEXH

Sourcing of fishmeal and
fish oil, and property and
investment holding

BB R AR AR
NERERREER

Provision of shipping agency
services

REMBRERY

Refining of fish oil
TRhRsh

Processing of fishmeal,
refining of fish oil, trading
of processed fishmeal and

refined fish oil, property and

investment holding
BIMINT - BRSEH  MIA

NEBERERES  NER

BRBEAER

Sale and supply of fishmeal,
and property and
investment holding

BNHE REEARDERE
RREER

HREEZEFER®)

Particulars of

issued share capital/
registered capital
BRITRE/

AME RS

5,000,000 shares
of HK$1 each
5,000,000 i &A%
EE1 BT ERk

10 shares of HK$1 each
10 EREE BT
2

US$7,500,000
7,500,000 7T

RMB52,000,000
AR 52,000,0007%

RMB42,000,000
ARH 42,000,000 7

Percentage of
equity interest
indirectly held

by the Group
AEEBERFR
AEZEIM
40%

40%

40%

40%

40%
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20. JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Name

1

Fujian Coland Marine
Bioengineering
Co., Ltd. (i)*

BERESTENIRE
BRAE ()

Fujian Coland-Nosan Feed
Co., Ltd. (i)*
BEREANARAR ()

Fuzhou China Seafoods
Company Limited*
BMNERKERRRR"

Fuzhou Coland Aquatic
Products Trading
Co., Ltd.*

BNTREKEES
BARRA"

Fuzhou Economic
Technical Development
Zone Coland Feeds
Co., Ltd. (ii)*

RINFE R SRR
BEBEAR (ii)*

BMEKEFRAR"

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity/
place of operation
S BRI
EEEBRERLEY

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE  BRAR/HE

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - FRAR/HE

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - BRAR/HE

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - HRAR/HE

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - BRAR/HE

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - FRAR/HE

20. HEZEHEER@®

Particulars of
issued share capital/
registered capital

Principal activities BRITRAE/
TEXH AMEARFE
Manufacturing and sale of fish RMB20,000,000
oil AR #20,000,0007T
RMEERHEE
Production and distribution of RMB20,000,000
feeds AR 20,000,000 7T
SRR BE D
Fish farming and sale RMB3,000,000
EERHERR AR 3,000,0007C
Sale of seafood RMB500,000
HERE AR 500,0007T
Manufacturing and sale of US$2,500,000
aquatic feeds 2,500,000% 7T
KEFRSHERHE
Abalone farming and sale RMB3,000,000
BERRHENRA AR 3,000,0007C

Percentage of
equity interest
indirectly held
by the Group
AEEBERER
AERAEDL

40%

24%

32%

40%

40%

24%

| %% 140434 IVNNNY

LL/0L0C

141



278 B X =2 T 9F dILINIT SONIATOH JI1931VHLS VISV HLHON

142

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% R MY EE

31st March 2011 —E2——F=A=+—H

20.

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Name

1

Ocean Resource Macao
Commercial Offshore
Limited*

TR PR 7 5 PR
BRAR"

Wuhan Coland Aquatic
Products and Food
Co., Ltd. (i)*

RESEKERM
BRAR ()

Wuhan Coland Feed Co.,

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity/
place of operation
SR R R
EEEBRERLEhY

Macau,
liability company/
Macau

AP - BIRAR, R

PRC,
limited liability company/
PRC

HE - FRAR/HE

PRC,

20.

Principal activities
TEXH

Sourcing of fishmeal and
crude fish oil, and property
holding

BN RERMRBU L
A

Purchase, processing,
sale and export of seafood
KERMEE ML HER
O ¥

Processing and distribution of

Ltd. (i)* limited liability company/ aquatic feeds
RESEAHBRAR () PRC TKESRHINT K2 86
HE - BRAR/HE

Notes:
(i) These companies are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under
PRC law.

(ii) These companies are Sino-foreign equity joint ventures.

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member

firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

HREEZEFER®)

Bt

(i)

(if)

*

Particulars of

issued share capital/
registered capital
BRITRE/

AME RS

MOP500,000
500,0002P3#%

US$5,100,000
5,100,000 7T

US$3,800,000
3,800,000 T

ZERNBPIEEDRE -

Percentage of
equity interest
indirectly held
by the Group
AEEBERER
TERAEDL

40%

40%

40%

FZERNRHEERBAT ZIBERE

W E M BB KGR BB AT K E =
EEB T EHAM LMK E RAEX -
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21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 21, AtHESREE
Group
TEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ET—TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of year F4) 3,008 1,357
Changes in fair value recognised in REMEEKZERZARE

other comprehensive income g 244 1,575
Disposals e (1,618) —
Disposal of a jointly-controlled entity 2R R B8 (2L 36)

(note 36) (2) —
Exchange realignment FE 5, B 477 76
At end of year FXR 2,109 3,008
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESEERE T

include the following: HH :

Listed equity securities — overseas EHRAES — B 2,109 3,006

Unlisted equity securities — overseas EEMBRAES — I — 2

2,109 3,008

Available-for-sale financial assets as at 31st March 2011 were

RZZE——F=A=+—B " fIfHES

denominated in Japanese Yen. FEEA B ITEHE ©
22. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 22. BE#IEREEE
Group
AEH
2011 2010
=E——F —E—TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Rental and other deposits HeREMZES 5,761 11,836
Deposits for acquisition of equipment WEERR S 2 RS 5,555 580
11,316 12,416

| % 150434 TVNNNY
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23.

24,

INVENTORIES 23. 78
Group
rEE
31st March 31st March 1st April
2011 2010 2009
= —TFF —ETNF
=HA=+-—8 —A=+—8 MA—H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(4 =51) (& E351)
Raw materials R 170,466 179,998 133,694
Finished goods SURK o 75,446 70,662 143,579
Consumables SHFEM 2,226 1,766 2,713
248,138 252,426 279,986

Certain inventories are pledged as security for the Group’s
banking facilities. Details are set out in note 38 to the financial

statements.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

(a)

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of biological (a)

assets is as follows:

24, EYEE

ETHEETUEREARKSBERITREZ
AR - HBEHNPBRRMESS -

EMEEZREELHRNT

Group
rEH
2011 2010
—2——F —ZE-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of year F4) - —
Increases due to purchases PREBEA 235N 7,904 —
Gain arising from changes in fair value 2 # 18 % B 5 # & B 4N B2
less costs to sell Az W 2,127 —
Decreases due to sales HEEE 2D (1,774) —
Exchange realignment ME 4, 3 B 242 —
At end of year FR 8,499 =
Represented by: 5 :
Fishes j=-L| 2,864 —
Abalones ey 5,635 —
8,499 —
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24. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 24. £YEEH)

(b) Certain of the Group’s jointly-controlled entities are (b) AEBETHRZEHEEBRBER
engaged in the fish and abalone farming in Mainland Mt ERBENERAERE -
China.

(c) Biological assets are measured on initial recognition (c) EMEBEERVXRERTE  WHRHH
and at the end of the reporting period at their fair value HAEARIRE A v B 8 S K ARG
less costs to sell. The fair value less costs to sell of the 2-4EMEEZARBERBEERAN
biological assets were valued on 31st March 2011 by HEVEXGHEMEESZRAEGRA
VAL Consulting Limited, an independent professional ARZE——F=A=+—H#T
valuer, by reference to recent market transaction prices HE C2ERGAB MBS
and quotations from fish dealers, with adjustments made RPEREHRE  LHMEELA
to market prices to reflect the condition of the appraised B URMEEMGEZER
assets.

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. B5BWFHIEAREMERREA
Group Company
i KRR

31st March 31st March 1st April 31st March 31st March
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010
SE-—F e —2--f —2-TF
ZA=1-0 =i MA—H [EEEaaal=Il =A=1—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET AT FET AT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&=5) (EE31)

Trade and bills receivables B S RYGFA R EREE 164,679 355,415 184,485 - =
Less: Impairment of trade B HRWTERE
receivables (7,454) (20,775) (15,306) - —

Trade and bills receivables, net BoRIGERENEE -

(note (a)) (W () 157,225 334,640 169,179 - —

Prepayments and deposits to BRFERAGLER S e
suppliers 19,775 21,549 6,547 - —
Rental deposits Heke 7,412 3,012 1,896 - =
Interest receivables I & 737 938 743 107 112
Finance lease receivables (note (b)) B EMEEUGA(H 2 (b)) - 1,014 2,535 - —
Other receivables Hh g 16,788 16,860 13,531 2,340 =
201,937 378,013 194,431 2,447 112

| % 150434 TVNNNY
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

Trade and bills receivables

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on letters of credit or documents against payment, in
some cases granting a credit period of 30 to 90 days,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. An ageing analysis of trade and bills
receivables, based on invoice date, as at the end of the

reporting period is as follows:

25. B5BWREREMERREA )

(a)

HEERWHREARERRE

AEFREFHETEE ZBR—K
RERAEXNRRE BB, E
EENTI0BZE0ATEEES
WHEF —RBEZBENARBRI -
REHRPR BEZEZEAH BH
FE U SR T8 I B R R I 2 BR Bk 93 AT 40
™~:

Group

AEH
2010
—ZE-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
90 days or less 90 HE AT 132,844 301,703
91 to 180 days 91 H=180H 18,925 27,737
181 to 270 days 181 H=270H 2,774 2,502
271 to 365 days 271 H&E365H 1,136 914
Over 365 days 3B 365 H 1,546 1,784
157,225 334,640

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
Since the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant

concentration of credit risk.

ARG =K H AR B B WRR
HEEBRBESINEEREEFEER
B BMEEESE R BN
He HRNANKEZE S RKFIAY
ERETRARF MAUBERET
ZIEERR -
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Trade receivables which are less than six months past
due are normally not considered as impaired except
for a balance of HK$496,000 (2010: HK$950,000). As
at 31st March 2011, trade receivables of HK$5,456,000
(2010: HK$5,199,000) were past due but not impaired,
as they related to a number of independent customers
for whom there is no recent history of default. The
ageing analysis of these trade receivables, based on
invoice date, is as follows:

25. ESEWREREMEWRFIEE)

(a)

EZRWHREAREBRRE(A)

TRAMAZE S EKRKRIE RS
BEYN AR RLHRRE - B0eR
B 1£496,0008 m(= & — T F:
950,000 7T ) Bl Bl sh o R =&
——F=A=+—H " 5,456,0008
TT(=ZZF—ZF :5199,000/87T) 2
E SRR FKBE BB ERE
TEREBE S EWRRIES KD
AW EHRBHEZBIRSE - 1B
BEZEHH ZEEHERRIEZ
BRERDITAOT -

Group
REE
2011 2010
=E——F —E—TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Over 6 months and up to 9 months 61EA=91@A 2,774 2,502
Over 9 months HBiE9 @A 2,682 2,697
5,456 5,199

As at 31st March 2011, trade receivables of
HK$7,454,000 (2010: HK$20,775,000) were impaired
and fully provided for. The individually impaired
receivables mainly relate to certain fish farmers, which
are in unexpected difficult economic situations. The
ageing of these receivables, based on invoice date, is
as follows:

R—_ZT——F=ZA=Z+—8"
7,454,000%8 (= T — T F:
20,775,000 70 ) 2 B 5 E WS IE H
IR BN 2 30 1E B o (BRI 3R
BWEZERFEEESRETEA
FAALERNE AR - BIEEEAR
B ZERWGRIBEZ KRR ¢

Group

REE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Less than 6 months 61& A A 496 950
Over 6 months and up to 9 months 61EAZ9MEA 886 239
Over 9 months HiE91E A 6,072 19,586
7,454 20,775

| %% 140434 IVNNNY
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 25. ESEWREREMEWRFIEE)

(a) Trade and bills receivables (continued) (a) BEZERWRERBRRERE(E)

8BS RWFRREZZEMT

Movements of the impairment of trade receivables are
as follows:

Group

rEE
2010
—ZE—FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of year F4) 20,775 15,306
Impairment losses reversed A EEE (1,084) —
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W EERE 993 5,843

Receivables written off as uncollectible  #i#4A T ATULE 2

[ R IE (7,803) (1,226)
Disposal of a jointly-controlled entity & R B S (5,523) —
Exchange realignment HE 54, 8 B 96 852
At end of year FR 7,454 20,775

The creation or release of provision for impaired = R B FE Wt TR I8 2 1B TR B Bt B I
BEIABGERA - EEH T EE—
U E SRR - AR B BR 0 BR 2 3R

TE— T LA -

receivables has been included in the income statement.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off when there is no expectation of
recovering the amounts any further.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills

AEEE HREFIARLERERE
EEN TSR REN

receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

148

=

o

oy

-

I

>

@

>

7

-

s

>

-

O

= Group

3 =

(o) REE

2

o 2010

s T T4

7

% HK$°000 HK$'000

rﬁ FET FEIT

o e

e Hong Kong dollar BT — 888

;3; US dollar ET 50,687 132,742

=R Japanese Yen BT 71,914 84,504

& Korean Won % - 81,083

%f Renminbi AR# 34,387 32,596

E” Other currencies H g 237 2,827
157,225 334,640
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 25. ESRWHERHMEVREE)
(a) Trade and bills receivables (continued) (a) EBESERREREBREREZE)
Certain bills receivable are pledged as security for the ETREREBEEERIERANEE R
Group’s banking facilities. Details are set out in note 38 TREZER - FHIARITBHRE
to the financial statements. Ff5E 38 °
(b) Finance lease receivables (b) BMEAEEWRIE
Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finance lease receivables are analysed @t &0 & EWHRIBED T
as follows: mE
Finance leases — gross amount BMERE —1FURZ
receivable within 1 year FEUGRIE B KR — 1,027
Unearned finance income RERER B TS A - (13)
— 1,014
(c) The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the (c) REFHER SZeZERRAEEZES
reporting period is the carrying amount of the trade and FEWRIE R EMEWRIB 2 BREE -
other receivables.
26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 26. HELHESZEEHRCDEBIET
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS T
Group Company
PN | NG|
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E2—-f “T-TF —E-—f —ZT-%F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET FET
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFER S 497,822 916,258 341,907 725,425
Time deposits EHER 582,143 301,304 485,440 216,652
Cash and bank balances Re kRIS 1,079,965 1,217,562 827,347 942,077
Less: Pledged bank deposits A BERRITER (96,416) (84,381) - —
Cash and cash equivalents RekFeZEER 983,549 1,133,181 827,347 942,077

| % 150434 TVNNNY
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26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 26. RERBREESEHEBRCEFRT
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (continued) E&E)
At 31st March 2011, the effective interest rate on short-term R-_E——F=ZA=+—8 ' EHHET
bank deposits was approximately 0.42% (2010: 0.13%) per FRZEBEFENENR042% (ZF—F
annum. These deposits have an average maturity of 43 days F:013%) - WETFRZFHEBAEAE
(2010: 14 days). A3B(=ZZF—FF : 14H) °
At 31st March 2011, the pledged deposits were pledged as R-TE——F=ZA=+—8 BEHEXK
collateral for the Group’s banking facilities and the effective HIFEAREERITREZERR - ME
interest rate on pledged bank deposits was 2.37% (2010: EHBITERZERFENER2.37% (=
1.91%) per annum. These deposits have an average maturity T—ZF :1.91%) o EFFHR2FHEH
of 335 days (2010: 281 days). HA3BHE(ZZE—Z4:281H) -
Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits were HekREEFEEE RERFPRITHERNA
denominated in the following currencies: T EME RN
Group Company
bS] N
2010 2010
—Z-%F —T-%F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FET FHT
Hong Kong dollar BT 745,173 953,888 737,754 942,077
US dollar e 110,847 50,278 89,593 —
Renminbi AEH 116,458 102,837 - —
Japanese Yen Hit 105,318 53,860 — —
Korean Won HE - 46,473 - -
Other currencies HipE% 2,169 10,226 - —
1,079,965 1,217,562 827,347 942,077

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in
Renminbi are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The
conversion of these Renminbi denominated balances into
foreign currencies and the remittance of funds out of Mainland
China is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC Government.

AEBAANRE LB A RIREEE
T8 B T3 RUR R B A ER T o LA A
ARBEBEBEM 2 EHRBIINERFESIE
o B 1 3 78 52 R B KRS 4B 4 2 S EE A AR
AR RGIFAARR -
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

27. BZ&

Ordinary shares

Preference shares

LER BER
Ordinary Preference
Number share Number share
of shares capital of shares capital Total
RHHE BRRRA RBHE BERRA aE
000 HK$ 1000 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAT R FAT FAT
Authorised: EE
At 31st March 2010 and 2011 R_E-ZFR-_T——F
=A=1-H 40,000,000 400,000 30,000,000 300,000 700,000
Analysed as — ETMA T —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each GREAEC BT AR 40,000,000 400,000 — = 400,000
Preference shares of HK$0.01 each  SREE0.01 BT 2B LK - - 30,000,000 300,000 300,000
40,000,000 400,000 30,000,000 300,000 700,000
[ssued: BT
At 1st April 2009 RZEENEFRA-A 95,795 958 13,373,254 133,733 134,691
Conversion of preference shares RAEER 13,373,254 133,733 (13,373 254) (133,733) —
Conversion of convertible bonds FBRTHRRES 127,714 1277 — = 1,277
At 31st March 2010 and 2011 R_E-ZEL
“E——F=f=1+-H 13,596,763 135,968 — — 135,968

The preference shares are non-redeemable and are
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion ratio of one preference share into one ordinary
share. All the preference shares were converted into ordinary
shares on 28th February 2010.

BEBRATAIER - I E &R —BREERL
—BREBRZABUEP LB EAREE
B EBERER _T—FF_H
“tABRBSEERR -
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28. RESERVES 28. f#%E
Group rE
Equity Retained
portion of Investment Cumulative profits/
convertible  revaluation translation ~ (accumulated
Share  Contributed bonds reserve Treasury  adjustments losses)
premium suplus  TRRES REEH shares ZHEY  REREH/ Total
RtiE EARE  ZERDR ] ERR B (ZiER) ]
Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
i 7AT AT FAT 7AT AT AT Fér FET
Balances ! 15t Apr 209 HoZEAEMA-A2EH 1.9926% 8984 6,368 - M) (128 1793
Proftfor the year Emiad| - - - - - - 16,711 16,711
Available-for-sale financial assets; WA ESRAR :
Changes in fair value (note 21)  DAEEEAE21) - - - 1575 - - - 1575
Actuarialloss on refirement EBLRIERL
bengfit obligations BEER = = = = = = (653) (653)
Currency translation diferences of (5572 &M
foreign operations EiEE - - - - - 50509 - 50509
Total comprehensive income for ~~ EAZENELE
the year - - - 1,575 - 50,509 16,058 68,142
Conversion of convertible bonds ST #KER 2111 = (6,388) = = = = 18723
Receipt of treasry shares YnEER - = = = (12941) = = (12941)
Disposal of reasury shares HERER (8.284) = = = 12941 = = 4857
Balances at 31stMarch 2010and ~ H=F-FE=A=1-BR
at 15t Al 2010 S3-3EMA-BEH 2009462 B8 - 155 - e (B 1w
Proftfor the year Emigil - - - - - - 21,892 21,892
Avallable-for-sale financlal assets: A ESHEE !
Changes n fairvalue (note 21) A% ESEH:21) - - - 244 - - - 284
Reclassffcation adjustments At Emir e kaks
for gains included in the EXZEENAERE
consolidated income
Statement as a result of
the disposal - - - (676) - - - (676)
Cumulative ranslafion SEhEER:
differences:
Reclassficafion adjustments RUERARHER;
for exchange differences GRERRERZE
upon the alisposal of a EripE
jointly-controlled entity - - - - - 50,420 - 50,420
Currency translation BNEH SRR AR
differences of foreign
operations - - - - - (19,037) - (19,097)
Total comprehensive income for -~ ERZEREEE
the year - - - (432) - 31,383 21,892 52,843
Cancelation of share premiom R EEBRAHE:HEE
and elimination of
accumulated osses (a) 017,746 1,775,125 - - - - 242,621 -
Share repurchase BERA (b) - - - - (1,264) - - (1,264)
Special dvidend (note 13) RS 19) - () - - - - - (58)
Reclassifcation B8 8,284 - - - - - (8,284) -
Balances at 31st March 2011 RE-—F=A=f-AzER - 1,240,238 - 1143 (1,264) 21,499 117,059 1,378,675
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28. RESERVES (continued)

28. f#E#E)

Company N
Equity
portion of
convertible
Share Contributed bonds Treasury  Accumulated
premium suplus  THRERZ shares losses Total
i@ BdEs E&3H Efk 2itkE g
Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz AT FAT FAT AT FAT AT
Balances at 1t April 2009 (\:ESMEH—EU&% 199263 8,984 6,368 - (213105) 1,794,902
Loss for the year and total EMEBRERZEERLE
comprehensive loss for the
year - - - - (29516) (29516)
Conversion of convertible bonds S TR ER 5111 = (6,388) = = 18723
Balances at 31st March 2010 and
at 1t April 2010 L 2,017,746 8,984 - - (242,621) 1,784,109
Loss for the year and total EMEBRERZEERLE
comprehensive loss for the
ear - - - - (32,699) (32,693)
Cancellaion of share premium RO EEFHREHEER
and elimination of
accumulated losses (8) (2,017,746) 1,775,125 - - 22,621 -
Share repurchase BRRR (b) - - - (1,264) - (1,264
Special dividend (note 13) SaREM 1) - (543,871) - - - (543,871)
Balances at 315t March 2011 WN-3--F=f=t-Bz&k - 1,240,238 - (1,264) (32,699) 1,206,281
(a) During the year, share premium amounting to (a) F A 2017,746,0007% T Z f% 5
HK$2,017,746,000 was cancelled and transferred to HEETHAEBRERNAR ZER
the contributed surplus account of the Company. The BRE - BERRBHBCEREEREE
contributed surplus was then used to eliminate the 242,621,000 Tt 2 Rt BB 2
then entire balance of accumulated losses amounting EHEHR - EEZRAE RZZT—%
to HK$242,621,000. In the opinion of the directors, the FT+_A—BERETZBRERFIRE
cancellation of the share premium, which was approved EHEZFEROEE  BAAARA
by a special general meeting held on 1st December AIREHREREYE  UBEARH
2010, provided more flexibility to the Company to EE A RTFTERR - HEES K
make distribution out of contributed surplus to its 543,871,0008 70 2 FFRIIR B F AR
shareholders. A special dividend of HK$543,871,000 AR (M7 13) ©
was subsequently proposed to the shareholders of the
Company (note 13).
(b) During the year ended 31st March 2011, the Company (b) REBE=ZZT——F=A=+—H

repurchased a total of 18,360,000 ordinary shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange and these
shares, together with 2,000,000 shares repurchased by
the Company subsequent to the end of the reporting
period in April 2011, were subsequently cancelled by
the Company on 29th April 2011. Upon the cancellation
of these repurchased shares, the issued share capital
of the Company was reduced by the par value of
HK$184,000 (or HK$204,000, if including the 2,000,000
shares repurchased subsequent to the end of the
reporting period). The premium paid on the repurchase
of the shares of HK$1,080,000 (or HK$1,200,000, if
including the 2,000,000 shares repurchased subsequent
to the end of the reporting period) was charged to the
accumulated losses of the Company.

FEERN - ARARBIERS
18,360,000 f% R A B E @M% - %5
R ERARRRERARER =
Z——4F0g AR Z 2,000,000 &%k
MEER-_ZE——FMA-+AhAH
WARRAIGESE - 2 FHEERMDEH
% AR ZEBEITRARSEM
{8 184,000 7% (2% 204,000/ JT
fis) B2 45 FR ¥R B R 12 % =] 2 2,000,000
% B% 1 ) - B [@ 1,080,000 7 7t (3K
1,200,000 7T © M B EEBRIREZ
8% [0 Z 2,000,000 & J& 19 ) 2 B 17 B
Ytz EBaARazRTER
R o

O =
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31st March 2011 —E2——F=A=+—H

29. BORROWINGS 29. B8
Borrowings are analysed as follows: BEINAT :
Group
rEE
31st March 31st March 1st April
2010 2009
—T—TF ZZETNF
=A=+—H mA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
(Restated)
(& =51))
Bank borrowings (note (a)) IRITIBE (Mt (a)) 246,176 387,429 430,409
Finance lease obligations (note (b)) EhEMREAE(KaZ (b)) 27 46 6,887
Total borrowings BEEB%E 246,203 387,475 437,296
Less: Non-current portion i IERENER D (11,903) (36,105) (75,939)
Current portion mEE D 234,300 351,370 361,357
(a) Bank borrowings (a) SRITEE
Group
REE
31st March 31st March 1st April
2010 2009
—ZT—FF —ETNF
=A=+—8 mA—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT FET
(Restated)
(&=751)
Non-current: IERED
Bank loans — secured RITER — FEA 11,897 23,281 73,436
Bank loans — unsecured |ITER — &R — 12,797 =
Mortgage loans RIBER — AEA
— secured — — 2,457
11,897 36,078 75,893
Current: mE)
Discounted bills with AR MERERE
recourse — secured — FEH 1,274 23,321 58,040
Trust receipt loans ERBEER
— secured — M 73,078 99,400 88,401
Bank loans and overdrafts RITERRES
— secured — A 146,965 222,345 171,860
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — EIKA 9,517 5,071 35,237
Mortgage loans RIBER — BEA
— secured 1,066 1,214 978
Other loans — unsecured HEhER — SEEH 2,379 =
234,279 351,351 354,516
Total bank borrowings 1T E#E%E 246,176 387,429 430,409
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29. BORROWINGS (continued) 29. B8 (&)
RITEE(E)

RITEEZREAEDATIEE BB -

(a) Bank borrowings (continued) (a)

The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

Group

AEHE
2010
—TF4E
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Hong Kong dollar BIT 33,780 30,520
US dollar ETT 117,650 135,490
Renminbi AR 94,746 51,236
Japanese Yen Bt — 5,568
Korean Won B — 160,636
Other currencies Hib 5% — 3,979
246,176 387,429

The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of the

RERRZ BRANEGRFHOT

reporting period were as follows:

At 31st March 2011 At 31st March 2010
H-B--F=f=1-B RIR-BE=f=1-B
Hong Kong Us Japanese Korean | Hong Kong Us Japanese Korean
dollar dollar Renminbi Yen Won dollar dollar Renminbi Yen Won
B i AR¥ An k- T T AE% BT 38
Discounted bils with ~ #BHZE
fecouse 25 - 0.12% - - - - - 2% —  83%86%
Trust receiptloans — EFEREER - 3.2% - - - - 22%33% - 2.1% -
Bank loans FER 1.6%-6.4% 1% 6.1%62% - = 23%63% 20%  52%-58% - 62%67%
Mortgage loans REER 28% - - - - 28% - - - -

The carrying amounts of all bank borrowings

approximate to their fair values, as the impact of

discounting is not significant.

HRBR BT NEKX - BAARITE

EZREEEEQAAERE -
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29. BORROWINGS (continued)

(a) Bank borrowings (continued)

29. BE#®@)

(a) SMRITEEE)

Group
rEE
31st March 31st March 1st April
2010 2009
—E-TF —TENF
=A=+—8H MmA—H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
(Restated)
(& =E51)
Bank borrowings repayable:  #R1TfEEEH LA T HiH
BE :
On demand or within 1 BERSH A FUR
year 234,279 351,352 354,516
Between 1 and 2 years 15224 2,380 3,656 74,454
Between 2 and 5 years 2= 54E 9,517 32,421 842
After 5 years A 5 F — — 597
246,176 387,429 430,409

(b) Finance lease obligations

At 31st March 2011, the Group had obligations under

finance leases repayable as follows:

(b) BERERE

BEM

R-ZTE——F=A=+—8 ' "&EBERE

AEEZEEMT :

278 B X =2 T 9F dILINIT SONIATOH JI1931VHLS VISV HLHON

2011 2010
—E——F —ZE-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finance lease liabilities minimum RERSEAE — KA -
lease payments:
— Within 1 year — 1 FHUR 23 23
— Between 1 and 2 years —1ZE 2% 6 23
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2% BEE — 6
29 52
Future finance charges on RIEHEZ KRR EE A
finance leases (2) (6)
Present value of finance lease MEMRSAEZRE
obligations 27 46
The present value of finance lease BEMEEAEZIREWNT :
obligations is as follows:
— Within 1 year — 1A 21 19
— Between 1 and 2 years —1E 2%F 6 21
— Between 2 and 5 years —2E 5% — 6
27 46
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

30. BEZEMNREREMENRE

Group Company
*58 ARTH
31st March 31st March 1st April 31st March 31st March
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010
I BN -z 7: -—7355 EELEETAN -z-34
=ZR=1t-0 | MA—F el -A5=1+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEn FET FET FEn FAET
(Restated) (Restated)
(=5) (=31)
Trade and bills payables B G FERER
i 254,851 561,728 271,246 - —
Accrual for operating expenses FERHEERE T 57,563 30,483 48,227 1,461 1,150
Receipts in advance BIRHIE 36,559 52,337 18,067 - =
Other payables HivEf7E 16,340 50,786 23,943 - —
365,313 695,334 361,483 1,461 1,150
The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables, based on BIEXEQH B EMZERENERE
invoice date, is as follows: ZEEROMNTAT ¢
Group
rEH
31st March 31st March 1st April
2011 2010 2009
Sl = =F —zIhf
=HA=+—H =RA=+—8H MA—H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(#e&51) € 3-271))
90 days or less Q0 HE AT 248,812 555,923 259,308
91 to 180 days 91 HZ= 180 H 1,359 2,087 3,521
181 to 270 days 181 HZE270H 727 96 853
271 to 365 days 271 H&E 365 H 86 455 2,221
Over 365 days 38 365 H 3,867 3,167 5,343
254,851 561,728 271,246
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

31.

The carrying amounts of the trade and bills payables are

30. ESEMNREREMENRIR
BHRNFARENREZREEA TS

denominated in the following currencies: B REA
Group
rEE
31st March 31st March 1st April
2011 2010 2009
—EB——F —E—ZF —ETNF
=A=+—H —A=+—~H mA—AH
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(1&g =31) (#&=71)
Hong Kong dollar BT 10,990 12,800 3,064
US dollar ETT 118,205 379,038 209,017
Renminbi AR 10,637 9,254 13,263
Japanese Yen = 113,294 119,019 18,267
Korean Won ZE — 39,002 24,955
Others currencies Hh g 1,725 2,615 2,680
Total 4aEE 254,851 561,728 271,246
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. fTEE€®MIA
Group
REE
2011 2010
=2——F —EZ-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FEr
Forward foreign exchange contracts RERINES K (ATt (a))

(note (a)) 856 189
Interest rate swaps (note (b)) M= 88 (f12% (b)) 233 =
Options liability (note (c)) BB EHE () - 6,900

1,089 7,089
Less: Current portion it MENED D (1,089) (189)
Non-current portion FEMBNEB D — 6,900
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31.

DER

(conti

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

IVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

nued)

The total notional principal amount of the outstanding forward
foreign exchange contracts as at 31st March 2011 was
approximately HK$79,490,000 (2010: HK$37,154,000).

At 31st March 2011, the Group had an interest rate swap
agreement in place with a notional amount of HK$11,293,000
whereby it pays interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.25% to
3.45% and receive interest ranging from LIBOR plus 1.2% to
LIBOR plus 1.5% on the notional amount.

On 26th June 2008, the Group entered into a shareholders’
agreement (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”) as part of the
condition precedent to the completion of the acquisition of
33.74% of the total issued share capital of TKC. Pursuant to the
Shareholders’ Agreement, the Group has granted a call option
(the “SMG Call Option”) to SMT Chemical Co., Ltd. (“SMT”) and
TK Chemical Holdings Co. Ltd. (“TKCH”) (collectively “SMG”). At
the same time, the Group was granted a put option (the “NASS
Put Option”) by SMG to dispose of its TKC shares. Pursuant
to the SMG Call Option, SMG shall have the right but not the
obligation to purchase up to 50% of the TKC shares held by the
Group. Pursuant to the NASS Put Option, the Group shall have
the right but not obligation to dispose of its TKC shares. Details
of the SMG Call Option and the NASS Put Option are disclosed
in the Company’s circular dated 21st July 2008.

The fair value of the SMG Call Option was estimated at the
issuance date using the Black Scholes Pricing Model and the
change in fair value in this financial instrument is recognised
in the consolidated income statement. The SMG Call Option
became voided accompanying the disposal of TKC (note 12).

31.

PTTETMI R
it -
(@ R-B——F=A=+-8 KETZEH

(b)

INEE K2 BFE A S REL 79,490,000
BL(ZT—Z4 : 37,154,000/87T) °

R-ZT——F=A=+—H A5EAEFZ
711,293,000t 2 M X2 g - &
UL - B AR Z BEFENF2.25%
% 3.45% + MU Z 7l BiR7% & H 58 AR
RITREREIN1.2% ERBBTRERE
M1.5%% -

RZZEZNEXNAZ+ B XEEFZ
& BR 155 = ([ AR SR 1p =% 1) 1F 4% 52 B U 8 TKC
33.74% B BEITIRALBE 2 KRG Z— -
RIBERR G NEBE XL REHE
([SMG R Hi4 |) ¥ SMT Chemical Co.,
Ltd. ([SMTJ) & TK Chemical Holdings Co.
Ltd. ([TKCHI) (& TISMG]) o [l B - =
SEEREHRAEE(INASSRIEEHE]) T
SMG A i & HTKC R 15 » 1R & SMG R &
HE - SMGEREEREBEAEEES
ZTKCH& 5 & % 50% ° 1R #H NASS R 5
o AEEAREERELEETKCKRS -
SMG R % Hi 4 & NASS Rk HifE ~ sF B R
AfA—ZT \FLtA=-+—AZBERPHE

5= o

SMG R EA#E R NASSRIE 2 At B
REBTABERMAN = —ATRET | EE
BREE - MitEMITAEZ AR BEBREG
EERERTHER SMGREMEREZLE
TKC iR 2 (FizE 12)
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32. DEFERRED TAX 32, EELEBIIEA

EERAENRABERARERANERER
BOEEA CERRERERZRE2E
&5

Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences
under the liability method using the applicable tax rates which
are expected to apply at the time of reversal of the temporary
differences.

BERERIBEAE(BE)FEEHOT

The movements in net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as

follows:
2011 2010
—E——fF —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of year FH) 14,057 5,018
Recognised in the income statement RIBRRER 1,653 11,772
Disposal of a jointly-controlled entity o S kR I B B
(note 36) (K1 36) 9,805 —
Exchange realignment bE 5 A 1,029 (2,733)
At end of year FR 26,544 14,057
Representing: 1 :
Deferred tax assets FEREFRIEEE 27,089 28,550
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBE G (545) (14,493)
Total #zE 26,544 14,057
§ The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (to be FAN - EWETAKBEARBBEEE
:—:i recovered/settled after 12 months) during the year, without RANEBST  BERBEE (BE&)(H
> taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the R12@ BB YR &EE) 2T
;L: same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:
7
= Provision
2 Changes in of trade
8 fair value of receivables
o biological  Accelerated and
3 assets tax  inventories
5 EYEEZ  depreciation EZEWFIE  Tax losses Total
z DAERE MEREFE  RESEG BHEER g
" HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
= FET FET FET FET FET
m At beginning of year F4 - (16,560) 6,324 24,293 14,057
E Recognised in the income RERKER
iy statement (532) 4,348 (2,532) 369 1,653
i Disposal of a jointly-controlled & R EHIE
= entity (note 36) (H3236) — 9,805 — — 9,805
§ Exchange realignment B 5 % (13) 940 45 57 1,029
RS
i At end of year X (545) (1,467) 3,837 24,719 26,544
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32. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

As at 31st March 2011, the Group had unrecognised
deferred tax assets of approximately HK$15,094,000 (2010:
HK$13,452,000), primarily representing the tax effect of
cumulative tax losses (subject to agreement by relevant
tax authorities) which can be carried forward indefinitely.
The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$7,104,000 (2010: HK$1,750,000) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that

taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses

can be utilised.

Pursuant to the Mainland China enterprise income tax law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1st January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31st December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%
or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established

in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from

1st January 2008.

As at 31st March 2011 and 2010, there were no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liabilities for taxes that would

be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s

subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities.

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group operated a defined benefit pension plan in the
Republic of Korea through its jointly-controlled entity, TKC,
which was disposed of during the year. The defined benefit

pension was operated based on employees’ pensionable

remuneration and length of service.

The pension was the final salary defined plan. The plan was

valued by Towers Watson, qualified actuaries, using the

project unit credit method as at 31st March 2010.

32.

33.

EERIE (&)

R-ZE——&F=A=+—R0 A&£@EZk
T SRR 3E 7 T8 & EE 49 15,094,000%8 L. (=
T—Z4F : 13,452,00087L) 0 EBRH
RAHEEE(EFERANBRERE) 2
MG E  ZoBAERPESE - A&
| 77 pA HR B A b 2 A B TE BT #8 7,104,000
BIL(ZE —ZF 11,750,000 L) * 1§
R—ZERFERIE - KRR E R R
Bl HRZEEBEREE —BRERESGEE
BrHBAR - BTKAEE ERTEF
AR TEE1E - BBz S B 1R e
RIELEFRIBEEE ©

BB EMERETE - KR BAMK L
MINECERBINEEES IR 2R E AR
M10% BT - ZEHRER_ZZNF—
A—HRBERWERNR-_ZTZTLF+=A
=+ —BZRBELEZRF o fHF B A
BINE B BRI AR AREBRE
AR e AR 2 FEHI R R o BEANEE
MmE " BAMEAES%H10% - ELL » A&
EEBRENFEAMKZ M ER R
BH-ZETN\F—HA—HERELAZZF MK
B2 IR BEMIBIF

R_E——FR-_FE—ZTF=A=+—
B A&EEZHBRRRERZESEE
REHBFEN 2FE - WEREREAX
EEFEA R

o

RAKBENEE

AEBEEBERREHERBTKC(ERNF
R E)REREITERNENGTE - R
FEAR KA FIEH 81 TR 12 08 B AT WER 2 57 B
N BRF & o

BASTEARKH A TETE - 5rElMH
B ERIEER Towers Watson {# FATE5H 2
NERZEZR -_ZT—ZTF=A=+—H#ET
fhE -
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33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 33. ERBREREE)

Group
NEH
2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FET
Pension benefits BREEH
— Obligation in the statement of financial — BRI R ES
position 62,834
— Income statement charged — BRiIi 9,773
Cumulative actuarial gains recognised in FNEM 2 E R R
other comprehensive income (before tax) RErEE W (Ban)
as at beginning of year 13,311
Actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive AR EAth 2 K5 1ER
loss in the year (before tax) 2 IEE WS (AT (653)
Exchange realignment M 3, 58 B 2,755
Cumulative actuarial gains recognised in other FRNEM P EP SRR 2 Rt iEE R
comprehensive income (before tax) as at end (%A1
of year 15,413
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position NR-ZE—ZFFE=F=+—H ' REFBERR
as at 31st March 2010 are determined as follows: KRR CHEETHOT
Group
REH
2010
—ZT-TF
HK$'000
FEr
Present value of unfunded obligations RRHESBEEZRE 62,834
Liability in the statement of financial position REBRRERZBE 62,834
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33.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 33. EAREBAEFE®)

The movements in the defined benefit obligation over the year HE_ZT—ZTF=-—A=1T—HIEFEZR
ended 31st March 2010 are as follows: ERMEEEBINT :
2010
—E-FF
HK$'000
FET
At beginning of year F4) 48,926
Current service cost A RIEA A 5,773
Interest cost B A 4,000
Actuarial loss EEEE 653
Benefits paid BHEF (7,066)
Exchange realignment b 5, A 2 10,548
At end of year FR 62,834
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as RIEERER BT
follows:
2010
—E-FF
HK$'000
FET
Current service cost A RIS A 5,773
Interest cost Bk A 4,000
Total L] 9,773
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33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 33. EREBAEE®)

Pension benefits EBARESEF
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FrfE Az EERBERZRLT
2010
—ZE-TF
Discount rate BRIR &K 6.50%
Future salary increase AR g 5%
Mortality rate: FETE :
Pensioners at 25 25 BRERURIRE AL
Male Sk 0.116%
Female gl 0.042%
Pensioners at 30 30 BRFEBURIRE AT
Male 5% 0.098%
Female g 0.050%
Pensioners at 35 35 RAEIRKRE AL
Male S 0.118%
Female I 0.061%
Pensioners at 40 40 BRLERURIRE AL
Male S 0.194%
Female gl 0.084%
Pensioners at 45 45 BRREBURIRE AT
Male 5% 0.333%
z Female gl 0.131%
o
= Pensioners at 50 S0 REURIR S AL
> Male S 0.544%
~ Female I 0.201%
7
- Pensioners at 55 55 BRERURIRE AL
= Male B 0.878%
a8 Female pegis 0.290%
)
g Termination rate: PR
= At 25 R 255% 4.788%
= At 30 7 30 5% 2.973%
9 At 35 R 3575% 2.740%
= At 40 40 5% 2.748%
= At 45 R 455% 2.819%
= At 50 R 50 5% 3.090%
° At 55 55 5% 4.643%
T
;}Ig Retirement age RIREFIR 56
E\_)t
i
XA
at
pzi]
]
Zl

164



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 75 3 B &

31st March 2011 —E——F=A=+—H

33.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

Pension benefits (continued)

A two year summary (representing the Group’s defined benefit
obligations since the acquisition of TKC in June 2008) of the
present value of the defined benefit obligations, the fair value

of the plans assets, and the surplus in the plan is as follows:

33. RAKB\NEFE)
RAKEERE)

RERBNEEZRE EEEZARE
NMatBlBn e MEBE(HERAEEG =
ETN\FANARBZAERNEE)AT

2010 2009
—TFF —FTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT

Present value of defined benefit AERMEEZRE
obligations 62,834 48,926
Fair value of plan assets AEEEZARE — =
Surplus in the plan FTEIZ R 62,834 48,926

For the year ended 31st March 2010, the sensitivity of the
overall pension liability to changes in the weighted principal

assumptions is:

BE_Z-ZTF=-A=+HLFE =B
BEASREHMEE 2HRRED 2 U
BT

Impact on retirement

Discount rate

Salary growth rate

Rate of mortality

Change in assumption

BRE 5

AL IR Increase by 0.5%
EF0.5%
Decrease by 0.5%
T#0.5%
HeERE Increase by 0.5%
EFH05%
Decrease by 0.5%
T#0.5%

AP Increase by 1%

EFH1%

benefit on obligation

HERBENEE2ZE

Decrease by 5.13%
T8#5.13%
Increase by 5.52%
EFH5.52%

Increase by 5.42%
EF5.42%
Decrease by 5.08%
T#5.08%

Increase by 1.21%
EFA1.21%
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34.

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 34. HitvERBERE
2011 2010
=E2——F —E-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Employee benefits EERAH 438 382
Provision for reinstatement costs (note) 18R & RE & (H1:E) 3,366 3,266
Leasehold deposit BEWHEEZS — 45
3,804 3,693
Note: The movement in provision for reinstatement costs is as K - ERERBE 2SN -
follows:
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
At beginning of year F4) 3,266 1,110
Addition NE 450 2,156
Amount utilised during the year FHRNEFEASE (350) —
At end of year FR 3,366 3,266
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35.

—T——%=A=+—8H

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 35. BEMELZRE
Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flows from LGRS EMEECHEEREFREL
operating activities: K
2011 2010
—E-—fF —T—ZF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F&T
(Restated)
Operating profit A5 44,690 68,973
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% BB RERETE
equipment 37,081 64,839
Depreciation of an investment property  REYHEITE 77 76
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERH 5,407 20,751
Amortisation of leasehold land under KEHEET 2 EE LR
operating leases and land use rights o b {5 PR R 6H 352 378
Loss on disposal of property, plant and ~ HE&EW¥ - WERREZ
equipment E518 7,541 494
Loss on disposal of an available-for-sale HEREHESRERE Y
financial asset gi=| — =
Fair value gains on derivative financial MTEeRIAARERKE
instruments (1,184) (1,980)
Fair value gains on biological assets EMEEZ AR ERE (2,127) —
Impairment of intangible assets | EERE 170 —
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 W IERE 91 5,843
Impairment of other receivables H At R WG IB R (E — 49
Impairment of property, plant and W% - BERZERE
equipment — 419
Provision for remeasurement to fair value SE# &t E QA R 8 E KA
less costs to sell LB 12,200 =
Government grants released BN BT (232) —
Severance and retirement benefits, net &8 E KRKEA - HEE — 9,773
Gain on disposal of non-current assets ~ HERFIEHEIEREEE
held for sale 2 Wes — (35)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale LEHREESREE Y
financial assets Wz (876) —
Write-down of inventories to net FEMBZ A #IR)FE -
realisable value, net 8 596 12,950
Gain on compensation in form of NEFEREA EmEZ
treasury shares Yo zs — (12,941)
103,786 169,589
Increase in inventories and biological FEREMEEE N
assets (34,104) (4,183)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other & 5 EUFIB & H b fE Uk
receivables KIBR A, (38h0) 53,843 (168,013)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other B 5 &~ 5038 K E At FE{-F
payables I, CRd) (77,607) 295,218
Increase in derivative financial PTHESmIT AL N
instruments 2,729 —
Decrease/(increase) in other non-current H b IERENEER L
assets (#0) 6,075 (1,317)
Increase/(decrease) in other non-current  HAbIERE B EE M,
liabilities OmA) 11 (349)
Decrease in severance and retirement ERE MR BANR D
benefits (1,002) (7,066)
Receipt of government grants BT 47 B 1,898 —
Net cash flows from operations EEMELECHSREFHE 55,629 283,879
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36. DISPOSAL OF A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED

ENTITY

36. HEHAREZEHEE

2011
—g——%

HK$’000
FET
Net assets disposal of: HETFFEE -
Property, plant and equipment Y - BER&E 510,510
Intangible assets EEE 175,028
Available-for-sale financial assets AtHESEE 2
Other non-current assets H3ERBEE 2,698
Inventories FE 50,787
Trade and other receivables Z 5 R EH M EYGRIE 124,596
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREFMEEAE 100,573
Borrowings BE (197,040)
Trade and other payables B 5N E MRS IR (258,727)
Income tax liabilities Frisia®E (19,004)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEE & (9,805)
Retirement benefit obligation RINBANEE (57,324)
Derivative financial instrument PTEERTA (7,545)
Provision for remeasurement to fair value B EARBEREEKRSNZ
less costs to sell Eedi (12,200)
402,549
Reclassification adjustment for exchange FTAMGREEmER N EEE
differences included in the consolidated BHOERE
income statement 50,420
Transaction cost paid BENR S 43,450
496,419
Satisfied by: ATEAFRXZAT
Cash B 496,419
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36. DISPOSAL OF A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 36. HEHREEZEHER®)
ENTITY (continued)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HEHAZEHEBERRERESSHER
in respect of the disposal of a jointly-controlled entity is as BZFERADITLT :
follows:
2011
—E——fF
HK$’000
FHET
Cash consideration RERE 496,419
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERe MRS EEER (100,573)
Transaction cost paid BNR SR (43,450)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect HEXRIEHIEEFHEE S MREEE
of the disposal of a jointly-controlled entity HE ZFRA 352,396
37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 37. BIEER

For the years ended 31st March 2011 and 2010, the Company
provided a guarantee of all obligations payable to BK
Asiapac Pte. Ltd. (“BKAP”) with respect to its branded food
operation. As at 31st March 2011, the Group’s outstanding
balance payable to BKAP amounted to HK$893,000 (2010:

HK$1,409,000).

As at 31st March 2011, the Company had provided
guarantees of HK$486,700,000 (2010: HK$518,068,000) with
respect to banking facilities made available to its subsidiaries
and jointly-controlled entities. As at 31st March 2011, bank
borrowings of HK$154,408,000 were outstanding (2010:
HK$249,047,000). The Company’s directors and the Group’s
management anticipate that no material liabilities will arise

from such guarantees which arose in the ordinary course of

business.

HEZZT——FR-_FT—ZTF=A=1+—
H A"AFRERERERREEMRBK
Asiapac Pte. Ltd.([BKAPDiREE2HE
FER RZE——F=A=+—H ' &
& B & {9 BKAP 2 K {8 i # #4 /& 893,000
BIL(ZZF—FF : 1,409,00077T) °

R-ZZT——F=ZA=+—8  ARXFE
HHBRARRERZEGEEEREZR
77 Bt & 32 1 ¥E 1R 486,700,000 JT(=
T — T 4F 518,068,000/ L) c R = F
——F®=A=+—H ' WEREEZRT
& B A154,408,0008 (=& — & F -
249,047,000 7T) ° RARIZEERALE
ErEREERRTERZERCRE R
BBIR)MELERERE -
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38. BANKING FACILITIES 38. MITWME
As at 31st March 2011, the Group had banking facilities of RZZE——F=A=+—H ' A&EX
HK$857,899,000 (2010: HK$1,172,268,000) from several BEETHRTZERRESBREZRITR
banks for loans and trade financing. As at 31st March 2011, & /857,899,000 (= & — & F:
banking facilities of HK$409,471,000 were utilised by the 1,172,268,0008 ;t ) e R =T — — &
Group (2010: HK$642,810,000). These facilities were secured ZA=+—H ZERECEASED
by: Rl #7409,471,0007% (= & — T F -
642,810,000 7T) ° ZERENU TFIH A
YEH R

2010

—ZT-TF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Property, plant and equipment LE NG L] 46,222 470,625

Investment property EWE 1,661 1,658

Prepaid land lease payments TEfS L EFIA 10,146 7,057

Inventories FE 72,332 55,761

Time deposits EHiR e 96,416 84,381

Discounted bills receivables FEUSBLIA AR 1,274 23,321
In addition to the above, these facilities were secured by Br Bt E AN ZERE TS R AEK

(i) corporate guarantee of HK$486,700,000 (2010:

HK$518,068,000) provided by the Company;

(i) as at 31st March 2010 and 2011, certain of the jointly-
controlled entities’ bank loans are secured by unlimited
personal guarantees provided by the directors of the
jointly-controlled entities, pledge of properties and a
bank deposit of HK$10,000,000 owned by directors of

the jointly-controlled entities;

(iiiy government guarantee of HK$23,280,000 (2010:
HK$23,280,000) provided by the Government of the

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region;

#

() AAERMEZ A BIER 486,700,000
Bt (—Z —Z 4 : 518,068,000%8

JC)

iy RZZF— ji&:%——izﬂ
=+—HB BTHREHEE 2R
TEERHE H%ﬂﬁwé$k1z
4

EREAER - DEEE R
%J “%%Fﬁ%ﬁﬁmooooooo
TLERATIF FR TR AR

iy & B B B 7T B E B F RS
23,280,000/ (= & — T £ :
23,280,000/ 7T ) Z BT R

o
RS

o
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38. BANKING FACILITIES (continued)

(iv)

(v)

as at 31st March 2011, a guarantee of HK$14,276,000
(2010: HK$13,712,000) provided by an independent
guarantee company in favour of the bank to secure the
repayment obligations of the jointly-controlled entities
under a loan agreement. At the same time, a counter
guarantee provided by the jointly-controlled entities
to this guarantee company for the amount of the loan
drawn down from the loan agreement together with any
interest, penalty, compensation and other related fees
and expenses which may be payable by this guarantee
company contemplated under the credit guarantee

provided by this guarantee company to the bank; and

as at 31st March 2011, a corporate guarantee of
HK$43,685,000 (2010: HK$41,958,000) provided by
an independent third party to secure certain general
banking facilities granted to the jointly-controlled

entities.

39. COMMITMENTS

(a)

Operating lease commitments — As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties,
warehouses and shops under operating lease
arrangements. The leases for these properties are

negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years.

At 31st March 2011, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

falling due as follows:

38. WRITEE#)

(iv)

39. i

(a)

RZE——F=A=+—H" ' B
ERARBREERBZEURIT AR
A 0 1R 14,276,000 8T (ZF—
T4 13,712,000 870 ) Z 1R - LA
BHHAEZEHEERNERBRET
ZBREM R HKEEHEE
UL R A AR R AR - BRI
ERARERMIRITRME ZEHRER
BETREERBERRERZER
EREMAE - SR HEREM
HEABRARAY : &

I

T——F=_A=+—8" B
77 12 #t A 7] #& 1R 43,685,000
(ZZF — =T & : 41,958,000 %

) AR T HRAZESEE 2 A
F—RIRITRLE ©

ol oo W %
ST

REHERE — FREEA

AEBREBELZALEHERHEE
HETHRAEME REREH-
AENEZ BB —E2=F1F -

RZE——F=A=+—H XK
BiREZEITAHELEHES
AREAEZ ZEESEER TS
HAR 2 5

%A

2010

—ZE—TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year 15 LAAN 29,468 32,391
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F2FEFELF

(BEERMF) 20,411 23,608

After five years FE5F AR 124 —

50,003 55,999
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39. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Operating lease commitments — As lessor

The Group leases its investment property and certain of
its machinery under operating lease arrangements, with
leases negotiated for terms ranging from 6 months to 2

years.

At 31st March 2011, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating

leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

39. EiE#H)

(b)

REHERE —FRHEA

AEBREBELZALEHERHEER
HRBEMERETHS  RTHEB
NFAREAZEMFERSE -

RZZE—ZF=A=+—8H &5
EiREZREEP T2 SR RHE
RERE MARERzZEHES
BN TSR

e

Group
AEH
2010
—ZE-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Within one year 1FE AR 216 6,911
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F2FEEFESF
(REERME) 81 15
297 6,926

During the year, the Group did not recognise any
contingent rentals receivable (2010: HK$6,990,000).

Other commitments

The Group entered into an agreement (the “Development
Agreement”) with an independent third party to develop
a certain number of Burger King restaurants in Hong
Kong and Macau within a period of 10 years ending
on 31st March 2017. In the event where the Group has
defaulted certain terms and conditions set out in the
Development Agreement, which, inter alia, includes
the minimum number of Burger King restaurants in
operation, the independent third party has the right
to terminate the Development Agreement. As at 31st
March 2011, 15 Burger King restaurants were opened
and operating, representing a shortfall in the number of
Burger King restaurants as required in the Development
Agreement. As at the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Group has obtained a wavier relating to

this breach.

(c)

FR & B TR A E AR
& (=—Z—=4F : 6,990,000/87T) °

H by

ANEBMEBYTE=FI B (%
‘izl RESRRMERSET
21 B 2 Burger King& R A8 10
F ORZE—+F=ZA=F+—HBK
e MAKSEERERBZEETZ
aTHRRARGE  RE(EPBE)
Burger King BBz & &E8E -
BUE=ZREREKRIEERBE R
—E——&H=A=+—H ' +AH
Burger KingZEEREREE - A
BREBR R ME Z Burger King B2
FERL RBBZEZWBHEHRERE
B AEEEMREERFERGH
& o
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40.

Apart from those related party transactions as disclosed

elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the

following significant related party transactions:

Name of related party/nature of

transaction

Ajia Partners (HK) Limited (“APHK”)

— Rental expense charged
to the Group

— Administrative services fee

charged to the Group

North Asia Strategic Advisors
(“NASA")
— Service fees charged

to the Group

Notes
Hat
FEALRE
RH5ME

Ajia Partners (HK)
Limited ([ APHK ) (a)
— AAREEWKERZ
HEEH
— MAEEKRZ
THRIEE

North Asia Strategic
Advisors (TNASAL)  (b)
— A& EWER 2

AR 7% &

BEREEATZRS

BRUBREABRBEZLZTHEALRS
Hh REBAETIEIREEALRS :

2010

—E-EF

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
1,142 2,284
498 996
19,226 35,189

(@) During the period from 1st April 2010 to 30th September

2010, certain directors of the Company were also

directors of APHK. In the opinion of the directors of the

Company, both NAS and APHK are subject to common

significant influence during such period. The Group

entered into two administrative service agreements

with APHK, under which APHK for provision of general

administrative services by APHK during the periods
from 1st July 2009 to 30th June 2010 and from 1st
July 2010 to 30th June 2011, for a monthly service fee

of approximately HK$83,000. In addition, the Group

entered into a sub-tenancy agreement with, inter alia,

APHK for sub-leasing of office space from 1st April 2008

to 31st March 2011 at a monthly rental of approximately

HK$190,000.

(a)

RZZE—ZEFNA—HE=_ZT— %
FAA=1+HHE AR5 TE
ENMRBAPHKZEE - ARAEE
R A+ 4t 58 IR B B APHK A 7 [ 57
X EREAZLE o RAEEHAPHK
RIS M0 1T IR AR 75 1 5% - BB Ut
APHKIR ft —R1TBRTS - £ 5l 8
—EENFEA—HEBEZZT—F
FRNA=ZTBLEREZZE—TF+
A—BEE-_Z——%A=+H
1IE - B AR & 4 /&83,000% 7T °
Uboh - AR B (R R B ) APHK E]
YoM WOBERARZER - &
—EEN\FHA—HRBE_FT——
FZA=+—HBAIL r BAEEY
/190,000 /87T °
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

During the period from 1st April 2010 to 30th September
2010, certain directors of the Company were also
directors of NASA. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, both NAS and NASA are subject to
common significant influence during such period. The
Group entered into a service agreement with NASA,
under which the Group has agreed to pay NASA (i) an
annual service fee of 2% of the aggregate subscription
price less aggregate amount of salaries and other
remuneration paid to certain employees of the Group
for the provision of services in capital raising, research,
investor sourcing, investment sourcing, investment
analysis or due diligence and financial advisory service
by NASA;

of the amount by which net assets at the end of each

(i) an annual incentive fee equals to 20%

financial year exceed the greater of the highest level of
the net assets of the Group and the aggregate amount
of capital drawn down and injected into the Company
arranged by NASA, compounded annually at the rate of
5%; and (iii) a placing fee of 0.5% of the gross proceeds
of placement of preference shares or any other equity or

equity-linked securities of the Group arranged by NASA.
Balances with subsidiaries

The current portions of balances with subsidiaries are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable/payable

within a year.

The non-current portions of balances with subsidiaries
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and without pre-
determined repayment terms, except for amounts
due from subsidiaries of HK$128,378,000 (2010:
HK$131,790,000) that bear interest at HIBOR plus 1% to
2% (2010: HIBOR plus 1% to 2%) per annum.

40.

BEREEATZRS @)
(b) R_F-—FTFMWMA-RE=E_F-F

(c)

FNA=+HHHE ' XARIET
EENMANASAZES - AQAE
ERA L EREENASARE @
HEZERAEATE - AEEHR
NASAETI R 1% « Bt - A&E
EERNASA N ()VREFEE - &
AT REBERNASATIEHES -
A MEIREE  RERE K
BoMRBAE k& 5 MR
MAAEBLPETIIF2HE R
E BN IB AR 2 2% 5 (i) FELE
BE HERSVBRFERZEE
FEBHASEZEEFEREK
3 38 B NASA %2 5 i $2 BR 32 JE A AR
RAEIZERNBEUURSERE)Z

%%mm'ﬁﬁis%ﬁééﬁ:&
(i AL E & - Bl EE LIRS NASA

RARE R B AR E B AN S
RE BT 5 FTISHRIAMRTE 2 0.5% °

B N B 2 A5 B
HEMBARZER MBI B E

B T ERBE-—FRERS
BT

BB R Rz &2 IERBE D R
EIEA - At BERBEERY
M JFE s B8 A B 2 3018 128,378,000
BIL(ZE —FF : 131,790,000 %
TL) BB BB RITRIZER B FEFE M
1EZ2E(ZE—ZF : HBRT
FEEFEMIEE2E)ZHFE -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

41.

(d) Balance with a jointly-controlled entity

The balance with a jointly-controlled entity is unsecured,
non-interest-bearing and has no fixed terms of

repayment.

(e) Key management compensation

40. BEREAEALTZRF4)
(d) EHAREZEFHERZER

EAFEHER 2 ERSEER
TR BEBEEERS -

() FEEEAESHME

2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FiET FET

Salaries and allowances e KERL 6,269 9,024
Retirement benefits — defined RIRTEF

contribution scheme — REHEKETE 42 55

6,311 9,079

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Other than available-for-sale financial assets classified as
available-for-sale investments as disclosed in note 21 to
the financial statements and derivative financial instruments
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements, all
financial assets and liabilities of the Group and the Company
as at 31st March 2011 and 2010 were loans and receivables,

and financial liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

4. BEHED2EMTA

B B R sk MY e 21 PRI EE D SRR AT A
ERBEZAHHESREE  UARFBR
KU1 AR BE D B RIZAABIIRIRN

BaREseRAEZITESRT AN -

REERARRFENR B ——FR &
—TF=A=t—HZzeREEREESD
B B SRR MR IR S IR SR AN AR 2

TRAIME -
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42,

43.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 28(b), the Group did not have
any significant event subsequent to the end of the reporting

period.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements,
due to the adoption of new and revised HKFRSs during the
current year, the accounting treatment and presentation
of certain items and balances in the financial statements
have been revised to comply with the new requirements.
Accordingly, certain prior year adjustments have been
made, certain comparative amounts have been reclassified
and restated to conform to the current year’'s presentation
and accounting treatment, and a third statement of financial
position as at 1st April 2009 has been presented. In addition,
the comparative income statement has been re-presented as
if the operation discontinued during the current year had been

discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period (note 12).

42.

43.

FRIRPER TR

B BT 5 28(b) AT # 52 & 4
HiR 1B W (T B KEIA -

75 B 0 R R

LERE

MANT IS MA M E2 2B - HRFR
RG] RGBT BB M B IRE LR - 8
MBHRRANETRE REHZEARER
2INDREET  UNEHRE - Bt - 2
EHETHEFHAE  ETHREENCE
HARREY  AHARFEZZ2IEE
ARE - MBE=OHR_"TTNFHA—H
ZHBHRKRELZT o 1o - LBIBR
REKENRY|  WAFRLIELE 2%
BRI IE LRI (FHRE12) -



North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited
TEoRBERBRAA

Principal Place of Business

11th Floor, The Centrium, 60 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong
Tel : (852) 2218 2188

Fax : (852) 2169 0209

TEEXBE

BEAPIREF 0P RES11E

E5E : (852) 2218 2188

fB5 : (852) 2169 0209

www.nasholdings.com
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